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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTRODUCTION 

READING 21: FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTRODUCTION 

LESSON 1: FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTRODUCTION 

LOS 21a: Describe the roles of financial reporting and financial statement 
analysis. Vol 3, pp 6-11 

Role of financial statement reporting: To provide information about a company's 
financial performance, financial position, and changes in financial position. 

Role of financial statement analysis: To assess a company's past performance and 
evaluate its future prospects using financial reports along with other relevant company 
information. Assessments are performed prior to making an investing decision, offering 
any credit facilities, or making other economic decisions related to the company. 

A company's performance can be examined through profitability (ability to generate profits 
from core business activities) and cash flow (ability to generate cash receipts in excess 
of cash payments) measures. A forecast of the expected amount of future cash flows is 
important in determining the company's ability to meet its obligations. 

Liquidity refers to a company's ability to meet its short-term obligations. 
Solvency refers to a company 's ability to meet its long-term obligations. 

LOS 2lb: Describe the roles of the key financial statements (statement 
of financial position, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity, and statement of cash flows) in evaluating a company's 
performance and financial position. Vol 3, pp 11- 24 

Companies prepare financial statements to report their operating performance to investors 
and creditors. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income (or Income Statement plus Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income) 

The income statement is also known as the statement of operations or profit and loss 
statement. It provides operating information relating to a company's business activities 
over a period of time (the accounting period). The income statement presents revenues 
earned by a company and corresponding costs. The difference between a company's total 
revenue and total costs equals net income. 

I Net income =Revenue - Expenses I 

Income statements are useful in evaluating a company's profitability and therefore are an 
important source of information for financial statement analysis. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTROOUCTION 

Wewilllearnmore 
about baJance 
sheets, cash flow 
statements, and 
the statement of 
changes in owners' 
equity in later 
readings. 

Balance Sheet 

Balance sheets, also known as statements of financial position, present a company's 
assets, liabilities, and equity at a point in time. The interrelationships between these three 
components of the balance sheet is presented in the basic accounting equation: 

I Assets = Liabilities+ Owners' equity I 

Assets are the productive resources that a company owns. Liabilities are amounts that the 
company owes other entities. Owners' equity represents shareholders' residual claim on 
the company's assets after deducting liabilities. 

I Owners' equity = Assets - Liabilities I 

The information contained in balance sheets is used to assess a company's financial 
position and to evaluate its ability to meet short-term and long-term obligations. 

Cash Flow Statement 

A cash flow statement reports the various sources of cash receipts and cash payments. The 
statement classifies the sources and uses of cash into operating, investing, and financing 
activities. 

Operating activities refer to the day-to-day core business activities of a company. 
Investing activities relate to the acquisition or disposal of long-term assets. 
Financing activities relate to the injection or repayment of capital. 

Cash flow statements reflect a company's ability to generate cash from its core business 
activities. It is desirable that a company generates most of its cash from operating 
activities, as opposed to investing and financing activities. A company's sources and uses 
of cash provide valuable insight into its liquidity and solvency levels and its financial 
flexibility (ability to react and adapt to financial adversities and investment opportunities). 

Statement of Changes in Owners' Eqnity 

This statement reports any changes in owners' investment in the business. It is useful in 
understanding changes in the financial position of a company. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTRODUCTION 

LOS 21c: Describe the importance of financial statement notes and 
supplementary information-including disclosures of accounting policies, 
methods, and estimates-and management's commentary. Vol 3, pp 24-27 

Financial Notes and Supplementary Information 

Financial notes are an important part of financial statements because they provide detailed 
explanatory information about the following: 

Accounting policies, methods, and estimates 
Business acquisitions and disposals 
Commitments and contingencies 
Legal proceedings 
Subsequent events 
Related-party transactions 
Business and geographic segments 
Financial instruments and risks arising from them 

Footnotes contain important details about the accounting methods, estimates, and 
assumptions that have been used by the company in preparing its financial statements. 
For example, information about the choice of revenue recognition method used and 
assumptions made to calculate depreciation expense are typically found in the footnotes. 
The availability of such information facilitates comparisons between companies that 
prepare their financial statements in accordance with different accounting standards (IFRS 
vs. U.S. GAAP). Note that financial statement footnotes are also audited. 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

The management discussion and analysis section (required under U.S. GAAP) highlights 
important trends and events that affect a company's liquidity, capital resources, and 
operations. Management also discusses prospects for the upcoming year with respect to 
inflation, future goals, material events, and uncertainties. The section must also discuss 
critical accounting policies that require management to make subjective judgments 
and have a material impact on the financial statements. Although it contains important 
information, analysts should bear in mind that the MD&A section is not audited. 

IFRS is in the process of finalizing a framework to provide guidance relating to items that 
should be discussed in management commentary. These items include: 

The nature of the business 
Management objectives and strategies 
The company's significant resources, risks, and relationships 
Results of operations 
Critical performance measures 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTRODUCTION 

LOS 2ld: Describe the objective of audits of financial statements, the 
types of audit reports, and the importance of effective internal controls. 
Vol 3, pp 27-30 

The financial statements presented in a company's annual report must be audited. They 
must be examined by an independent accounting firm (or audit practitioner) which 
then states its opinion on the financial statements. Audits are required by contractual 
arrangement, law, or regulation. 

Objective of audits: Under International Standards for Auditing, objectives of an auditor are: 

I. To obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material ntisstatement, whether due to fraud or error, thereby 
enabling the auditor to express an opinion on whether the financial statements 
are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial 
reporting frame-work; and 

2. To report on the financial statements, and communicate as required by the ISAs, in 
accordance with the auditor's findings. 1 

Types of Audit Opinions 
An unqualified opinion states that the financial statements have been presented 
fairly in accordance with applicable accounting standards. 
A qualified opinion states that the financial statements have been presented fairly, 
but do contain exception(s) to the accounting standards. The audit report provides 
further details and explanations relating to the exception(s). 
An adverse opinion states that the financial statements have not been presented 
fairly and significantly deviate from acceptable accounting standards. 
A disclaimer of opinion is issued when the auditor, for whatever reason, is not able 
to issue an opinion on the financial statements. 

Internal controls: The internal control system of a company seeks to ensure the reliability 
of processes used by the company in preparing its financial statements. In the United States, 
management is responsible for the effectiveness of internal control, to evaluate the effectiveness 
of internal control, to support the evaluation, and to provide a report on internal control. 

LOS 21e: Identify and describe information sources that analysts use 
in financial statement analysis besides annual financial statements and 
supplementary information. Vol 3, pp 31-32 

Interim reports are prepared either sentiannually or quarterly. They contain the four 
financial statements and footnotes, but are not audited. 

Proxy statements are distributed to shareholders when there are matters that require 
a shareholder vote. They provide information about management and director 
compensation, company stock performance, and potential conflicts of interest 
between management, the board of directors, and shareholders. 

1 - See the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (lAASB) Handbook of International Quality Control, Auditing, 
Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services Pronouncements . 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTROOUCTION 

Press releases, in addition to a company's website and conference calls, provide 
current information about the company. 
External sources provide information about the economy, the industry that the 
company operates in, and the company's competitors. Such information is useful 
as it allows the analyst to place the company's performance in perspective. 
Examples of external sources include trade journals and government agencies. 

LOS 21f: Describe the steps in the financial statement analysis framework. 
Vol 3, pp 31-35 

A generic framework for financial statement analysis involves the following steps: 

1. Define the purpose and context of the analysis 
ln cases where the task is well-defined, the purpose is governed by institutional 
norms. However, there are also analytical tasks that require the analyst's discretion 
in defining the purpose. The definition of the purpose determines the approach, 
tools, data sources, and the format used to present results. ln this prelintinary stage, 
the analyst is also required to define the context of the analysis, which requires 
understanding the audience, the time frame, and the resources available for 
completion of the task. 

2. Collect data 
The analyst acquires the necessary information to answer the questions that were 
defined in the previous stage. For instance, a task with the purpose of analyzing 
the historical performance of a company could be carried out by understanding 
the financial statements alone. However, a more thorough analysis that requires 
understanding a company' s financial performance and position relative to the 
industry would require collecting industry data as well. 

3. Process data 
The financial information collected is converted into ratios, growth rates, common­
size financial statements, charts, and regressions. 

4. Analyze/interpret the processed data 
The data is interpreted and a recommendation is reached. 

5. Develop and communicate conclusions 
An appropriate format for the presentation of analysis is determined. The 
presentation format is sometimes determined by regulatory authorities or 
professional standards. 

6. Follow up 
Financial statement analysis does not end with the preparation of a 
recommendation report. When equity analysis is performed or a credit rating is 
assigned, periodic reviews are required to determine whether previously drawn 
conclusions remain valid. 

See Table 1-1. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS: AN INTRODUCTION 

Table 1-1: Financial Statement Analysis Framework' 

Phase 

I. Articulate the purpose and 
context of the analysis 

2. Collect data 

3. Process data 

4. Analyze/interpret the 
processed data 

5. Develop and communicate 
conclusions and 
recommendations (e.g., 
with an analysis report) 

6. Follow up 

Sources oflnformation 

The nature of the analyst's 
function, such as evaluating an 
equity or debt investment or 
issuing a credit rating 
Communication with client 
or supervisor on needs and 
concerns 
Institutional guidelines related 
to developing specific work 
product 

Financial statements, other 
financial data, questionnaires, 
and industry/economic data 
Discussions with management, 
suppliers, customers, and 
competitors 
Company site visits (e.g. , to 
production facilities or retail 
stores) 

Data from the previous phase 

Input data as well as processed 
data 

Analytical results and previous 
reports 
Institutional guidelines for 
published reports 

Information gathered by 
periodically repeating above 
steps as necessary to determine 
whether changes to holdings or 
recommendations are necessary 

Output 

Statement of the purpose or 
objective of analysis 
A list (written or unwritten) 
of specific questions to be 
answered by the analyst 
Nature and content of report to 
be provided 
Timetable and budgeted 
resources for completion 

Organized financial statements 
Financial data tables 
Completed questionnaires, if 
applicable 

Adjusted financial statements 
Common-size statements 
Ratios and graphs 
Forecasts 

Analytical results 

Analytical report answering 
questions posed in phase 1 
Recommendation regarding the 
purpose of the analysis, such as 
whether to make an investment 
or grant credit 

Updated reports and 
recommendations 

2 - Components of this framework have been adapted from van Greuning and Bratanovic (2003, p. 300) and from Bcnninga and 
Sarig (1 997, pp. 134-156). 
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READING 22: FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

LESSON 1: CLASSIFICATION OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT ELEMENTS AND ACCOUNTS 

LOS 22a: Describe how business activities are classified for financial 
reporting purposes. Vol 3, pp 42-43 

Business activities are classified into three categories for financial reporting purposes: 

Operating Activities 

FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

These are related to the day-to-day business activities of a company. Typical activities that 
fall into this category are: 

Sales of goods and services to customers. 
Costs associated with the provision of goods and services. 
Income tax expenses. 
Investments in working capital to support the firm's ordinary business. 

Investing Activities 
These are related to the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets. Examples of 
transactions that fall into this category include: 

Acquisition or disposal of fixed assets like property, plant, and equipment (PP&E). 
Purchase or sale of other corporations' equity and debt securities. 

Financing Activities 
These are related to raising and repaying capital. Examples of financing activities include: 

Issuance or repurchase of common or preferred stock. 
Issuance or redemption of debt. 
Dividend payments on common and preferred stock. 

The nature of a firm's operations dictates where certain transactions fall within these 
classifications. For example, interest received on an investment in a debt instrument by a 
music store is classified as an investing activity, but interest received by a bank is classified 
as an operating activity. (See Table 1-1.) The sale of an oven by an oven manufacturer is an 
operating activity, whereas the sale of an oven by a restaurant is an investing activity. 

Table 1-1: Typical Business Activities and Financial Statement Elements Affected1 

Type Business Activity Elements Affected 

Operating 
activities 

Investing 
activities 

Financing 
activities 

• Sale of goods and services to customers 
• Cost of providing the goods and services 
• Income tax expense 
• Holding short-term assets or incurring short-term 

liabilities directly related to operating activities 

• Purchase or sale of assets such as property, plant, and 
equipment 

• Purchase or sale of other entities ' equity and debt 
securities 

• Issuance or repurchase of the company's own 
preferred or common stock 

• Issuance or repayment of debt 
• Payment of distributions (i.e., dividends to preferred 

or common stock holders) 

I - Exhibit I, Volume 3, CFA Program Curriculum 201 7. 
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Expenses 
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Assets 
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Owners ' equity 



FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

Each of the items 
that make up the 
elementsofthe 
balance sheet 
(assets, liabilities, 
and owners' equity) 
is discussed in detail 
in Reading 25. 

LOS 22b: Explain the relationship of financial statement elements and accounts, 
and classify accounts into the financial statement elements. Vol 3, pp 43-46 

There are five financial statement elements: 

Assets 
Liabilities 
Owners' equity or shareholders' equity 
Revenues 
Expenses 

An increase or a decrease in any of these elements is recorded in a specific account. For 
example, accounts receivable is an account that falls under the financial element of assets. 

Financial statements present condensed information regarding financial statement elements 
and accounts. The actual accounts used in a company's accounting system are listed in a 
chart of accounts. 

Classification of Accounts into Financial Statement Elements 

Assets are a company's economic resources. They include: 

Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents. 
Accounts receivable, trade receivables. 
Prepaid expenses. 
Inventory. 

Noncurrent assets: 

Property, plant, and equipment. 
Investment property. 
Intangible assets (patents, trademarks, licenses, copyrights, and goodwill). 
Financial assets, trading securities, and investment securities. 
Investments accounted for by the equity method. 

Sometimes contra accounts are used to reduce the balance of certain assets. Common 
contra asset accounts include allowance for bad debts (offset against accounts receivable) 
and accumulated depreciation (offset against PP&E). 

Liabilities are creditors' claims on a company's economic resources. They include: 

Accounts payable and trade payables. 
Financial liabilities such as notes payable. 
Deferred tax liabilities. 
Long-term debt. 
Unearned revenue. 

Owners' equity represents owners' residual claim on a company's resources. It includes: 

Capital in the form of common and preferred stock. 
Additional paid-in capital. 
Retained earnings. 
Other comprehensive income. 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

Revenues represent the flow of economic resources into the company and include: 

Sales. 
Gains. 
Investment income. 

Expenses represent the flow of economic resources out of the company, and include: 

Cost of goods sold. 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses. 
Depreciation and amortization expenses. 
Interest expense. 
Tax expense. 
Losses. 

For presentation purposes, assets are categorized as current and noncurrent assets. 

Noncurrent assets are expected to benefit the company over an extended period of time 
(usually over one year). 

Current assets are expected to be used by the company or converted into cash in the short 
term (less than one year). Current assets include: 

Inventories: Unsold products on hand (also called inventory stock). 
Trade receivables: Amounts customers owe the company for products that have 
been sold. 
Cash on hand and at the bank. 

LESSON 2: ACCOUNTING EQUATIONS 

LOS 22c: Explain the accounting equation in its basic and expanded forms. 
Vol 3, pp 46-51 

The basic accounting equation is: 

I Assets= Liabilities+ Owners' equity I 
Owners' equity is the residual claim of the owners on a company's assets after all 
liabilities have been paid off. 

I Owners' equity = Assets - Liabilities I 
Owners' equity can be further divided into its two components: 

Owners' equity= Contributed capital+ Ending retained earnings 

Ending retained earnings are calculated as: 

Ending retained earnings= Beginning retained earnings+ Net income - Dividends declared 

The equation for ending retained earnings can also be stated as: 

Ending retained earnings = Beginning retained earnings+ Revenue - Expenses 

- Dividends declared 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

Therefore, the basic accounting equation can be expanded into the following forms: 

Assets= Liabilities+ Contributed capital+ Ending retained earnings 

and: 

Assets= Liabilities+ Contributed capital+ Beginning retained earnings 

+ Revenue - Expenses - Dividends declared 

Example2-1 

An analyst has the following information regarding XYZ Company: 

Net income 

Beginning retained earnings 

Dividends declared 

Calculate ending retained earnings for 2008. 

Solution 

(Amounts in millions) 

$225 

$1 ,250 

$75 

Ending retained earnings= Beginning retained earnings+ Net income 
- Dividends declared 

Ending retained earnings= $1,250 + $225 - $75 = $1,400 million 

Example2-2 

An analyst has the following information regarding ROB Company: 

(Amounts in millions) 

Revenue earned during the year 

Beginning retained earnings 

Expenses incurred during the year 

Dividends declared for the year 

Liabilities 

Contributed capital 

Calculate ROB's total assets at the end of 2008. 

Solution 

Step 1: 

$350 

$90 

$280 

$25 

$120 

$75 

Ending retained earnings = Beginning retained earnings + Revenues - Expenses 
- Dividends declared 

Ending retained earnings= $90 + $350 - $280 - $25 = $135 million 

Step 2: 

Assets = Liabilities + Contributed capital + Ending retained earnings 

Assets= $120 + $75 + $135 = $330 million 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

LESSON 3: THE ACCOUNTING PROCESS 

LOS 22d: Describe the process of recording business transactions using an 
accounting system based on the accounting equation. Vol 3, pp 51-65 

LOS 22f: Describe the relationships among the income statement, balance 
sheet, statement of cash flows, and statement of owners' equity. Vol 3, pp 65-68 

The process of recording business transactions is based on double-entry accounting 
(i.e .• every transaction affects at least two accounts). If an asset account increases, either 
a liability or an equity/capital account will also increase, or another asset account will 
decrease to keep the accounting equation in balance. 

Example 3-1 illustrates the process of recording business transactions in an accounting 
system. 

Example 3-1: Recording Transactions in an Accounting System 

Sunshine Inc. operates a shoe store. It purchases each pair of shoes for $100 and sells 
each pair for $150. Sunshine's activities for the month of June are listed as follows. 

No. Date Business Activity 

June 1 Sunshine Inc. started business by depositing $100,000 in its bank 
account. 

2 June 3 Purchased a shop for $55,000 in cash. 

3 June 7 Purchased stock of 25 pairs of shoes for $2,500 on credit from suppliers. 

4 June 10 Purchased 230 more pairs of shoes on credit for $23,000. 

June 13 Sold 50 pairs of shoes for $7,500. Received $3,000 in cash and the rest 
was treated as a receivable. 

6 June 15 Sold 20 pairs of shoes for $3,000 cash. 

7 June 18 Received $2,500 cash for shoes sold on June 13. 

June 23 Paid $2,000 cash for shoes bought on June 7. Paid $16,500 cash for 
shoes bought on June IO. The balance amount is payable after a month. 

9 June 30 Received $2,000 for shoes that were sold on credit on June 13. 

IO June 30 Paid utility bills amounting to $950. Wages amounting to $2,000 were 
also paid. 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

Analysis of Transactions 

An increase in 
expenses reduces 
net income, retained 
earnings, and 
owners' equity. 

@ 

I. Cash and owners' equity increase by $100,000. (Assets and owners' equity 
increase.) 

2. Premises asset account increases by $55,000 and cash decreases by $55,000. 
(Noncurrent assets increase and current assets decrease.) 

3. Inventory increases by $2,500 and accounts payable increase by $2,500. 
(Current assets and current liabilities increase.) 

4. Inventory and accounts payable increase by $23,000. (Current assets and current 
liabilities increase.) 

5. Cash increases by $3,000 and accounts receivable increase by $4,500. Inventory 
decreases by the cost of 50 units , $5,000. (Net current assets increase by 
$2,500.) 

Revenue increases by $7,500 and cost of goods sold (COGS) increases by 
$5,000. The excess of revenues over COGS contributes to net income and 
increases owners' equity through retained earnings. (Owners' equity increases 
by $2,500.) 

6. Cash increases by $3,000 while inventory decreases by $2,000. (Net assets 
increase by $1,000.) 

Sales revenue increases by $3,000 and COGS increases by $2,000. (Owners ' 
equity increases by $1 ,000.) 

7. Cash increases by $2,500, and accounts receivable fall by $2,500. (Total current 
assets stay at the same level.) 

8. Cash and accounts payable fall by $18,500. (Current assets and current liabilities 
decrease.) 

9. Cash increases by $2,000 and accounts receivable decrease by $2,000. (Total 
current assets stay at the same level.) 

10. Cash falls and expenses (utilities) increase by the same amount ($950). 
Cash falls and expenses (wages) increase by the same amount ($2,000). 
(Owners ' equity falls by $2,950.) 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

The following worksheet presents the effects of each transaction. 

Assets Liabilities Owners' Equity 

Date Cash Accounts Inventory Shop = Accounts Owners' Revenue Expenses 
Receivable Premises Payable Capital 

June 1 100,000 = 100,000 

June3 (55,000) 55,000 = 

June7 2,500 = 2,500 

June 10 23,000 = 23,000 

June 13 3,000 4,500 (5,000) = 7,500 5,000 

June 15 3,000 (2,000) = 3,000 2,000 

June 18 2,500 (2,500) = 

June 23 (2,000) = (2,000) 

(16,500) = (16,500) 

June 30 2,000 (2,000) = 

June30 (2,950) = 2,950 

Total 34,050 + 0 + 18,500 + 55,000 = 7,000 + 100,000 + 10,500 - 9,950 

A final income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, and statement of changes in owners' equity can 
now be prepared reflecting all transactions and adjustments. 

Sunshine Inc. 
Income Statement I Noti« that inoomo 

statements are 
For the month ended June 30, 2008 prepared for a 

$ 
period of time. 

10,500 
Sales revenue 

COGS (7,000) 

Gross Profit 3,500 

Expenses 

Wages 2,000 

Utility expenses 950 
---

Total Expenses 2,950 

Net Income 550 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

Balance sheets are 
prepared as of a 
particular point in 
time. 

Cash flow 
statements are 
also prepared fora 
period of time. 

Sunshine Inc. 
Balance Sheet 
As of June 30, 2008 

Assets 

Cash 

Accounts receivable 

Inventory 

Shop premises 

Total Assets 

Liabilities and Owners' Equity 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable 

Total liabilities 

Owners' Equity 
Contributed capital 

Retained earnings (net income of June 2008) 

Total Liabilities and Owners' Equity 

Sunshine Inc. 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the month ended Jone 30, 2008 

Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

Cash received from customers 

Cash paid to suppliers 

Cash paid for operating expenses 

Net Operating Cash Flow 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 

Purchase of shop premises 

Net Investing Cash Flow 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities 

Capital contributed by owners 

Net Financing Cash Flow 

Net Increase in Cash 

Cash balance at June 1, 2008 

Cash Balance at June 30, 2008 

$ 

34,050 

0 

18,500 

55,000 

107,550 

7,000 
---

7,000 

100,000 

550 
---
100,550 
---
107,550 

$ 

10,500 

(18,500) 

(2,950) 
----

(10,950) 

(55,000) 
----

(55,000) 

100,000 
----

100,000 

34,050 

0 ----
34,050 
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Sunshine Inc. 
Statement of Changes in Owners' Equity 
For the month ended June 30, 2008 

Contributed Capital 

$ 

Retained Earnings 

$ 

FINANCIAL REPORTING MECHANICS 

Total 

$ 

Balance at June 1, 2007 

Net income (loss) 

Balance at June 30, 2008 

100,000 0 100,000 

550 550 

100,000 550 100,550 

Financial statements are prepared from the data provided by the accounting system. 
Accounts that fall under revenues and expenses become a part of the income statement. 
Accounts that fall under assets, liabilities, and owners ' equity are used to construct the 
balance sheet. 

Now we will use the example of Sunshine Inc. to illustrate the relationships between 
different financial statements. 
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Balance Sheet Income Statement 

$ 
Assets $ 

Sales revenue 10,500 
Cash ,. 34,050 COGS (7 ,000) 
Accounts receivable 0 Gross Profit 3,500 
Inventory 18,500 

Shop 55 000 Expenses 
Total Assets 107,550 Wages 2,000 

Utility expenses ~ 
Liabilities and Owners' Equity 2 Total Expenses 2,950 

---
Liabilities Net Income 

r~ Accounts payable 7,000 

Total liabilities 7,000 

Owners' Equity Cash Flow Statement dJ Contributed capital 100,000 
Retained earnings (Net income of June 2008) ~ !-----+ 550 $ 

100,550 Cash Flow from Operating Activities 

Total Liabilities and Owners' Equity 107,550 Cash received from customers 10,500 
Cash paid to suppliers (18,500) 
Cash paid for expenses __Q,2lQl 

dJ 
Net Operating Cash Flow (10,950) 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 
Purchase of shop (55,000) 
Net Investing Cash Flow (55,000) 

Cash Flow from Financing Activities 
Capital contributed from owner 100,000 
Net Financing Cash Flow - f+l00,000 

Net Increase in Cash 34,050 
Cash balance at June 1, 2008 0 
Cash Balance at June 30, 2008 1 34,050 

Statement of Owners' Equity 0 
Contributed Capital Retained Earnings Total 

$ $ $ 
Balance at June 1, 2007 100,000 0 100,000 

Net income (loss) 550 55v 
Balance at June 30, 2008 100,000 550 100,550 

I. The income statement shows a net income of $550 for June 2008, which, in 
the absence of dividends, increases retained earnings by $550. This increase is 
reflected on the statement of shareholders ' equity and on the balance sheet under 
owners ' equity. 

2. The cash flow statement shows that cash increases by $34,050 over the period. The 
increase in cash is also seen on the balance sheet under current assets. 

3. The owners ' capital contribution of $100,000 is listed under cash flow from 
financing activities. The balance sheet shows this contribution under owners ' 
equity. 
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LESSON 4: ACCRUALS, VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS, ACCOUNTING 
SYSTEMS, AND USING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN SECURITY ANALYSIS 

LOS 22e: Describe the need for accruals and valuation adjustments in 
preparing financial statements. Vol 3, pp 69-71 

Accrual Entries 

Accrual accounting is based on the principle that revenues should be recognized when 
earned and expenses should be recognized when incurred, irrespective of when the actual 
exchange of cash occurs. The timing difference between cash movements and recognition 
of revenues or expenses explains the need for accrual entries. When cash is transferred 
in the period that the related revenue/expense is recognized, there is no need for accrual 
entries. There are four types of accrual entries: 

I. Unearned (or deferred) revenue arises when a company receives a cash payment 
before it provides a good or a service to the customer. Because the company still has 
to provide the good/service, unearned revenue is recognized as a liability. Unearned 
revenue is subsequently earned once the good is sold or the service is provided. 

Example 4-1: Unearned Revenue 

On September 30, Nicky receives $1,000 from a tenant as rent for October. 

Originating Entry 
September 30: Cash (asset) i $1,000 

Unearned rental income (liability) i $1,000 

I Assets i =Liabilities i + Owners' equity I 

Adjusting Entry 
October 31: Unearned rental income (liability) .J. $1,000 

Rent revenue (income/equity) i $1,000 

!Assets =Liabilities.J. +Owners' equity i i 

2. Unbilled or accrued revenue arises when a company provides a good or service 
before receiving the cash payment. Because the company is owed money, accrued 
revenue is recognized as an asset. 
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Insurance expense 
reduces net income, 
retained earnings, 
and owners' equity. 

Example 4-2: Accrued Revenue 

Jelena Inc. provides services worth $5,500 to another company during the month of 
May. The payment will be received a month later. 

Originating Entry 
May 31: Accounts receivable (asset) 1' $5,500 

Revenue (income) 1' $5,500 

I Assets 1' =Liabilities+ Owners' equity 1' I 

Adjusting Entry 
June 30 (when payment is received): Cash (asset) 1' $5,500 

Accounts receivable (asset) 1' $5,500 

I Assets 1' .J, = Liabilities+ Owners' equity I 

3. Prepaid expenses arise when a company makes a cash payment before recognizing 
the expense. Expenses that have been paid in advance are an asset of the company. 

Example 4-3: Prepaid Expenses 

Aztec Inc. purchased an insurance policy for $1,200 for the year 2008. It made the entire 
payment on January 1, 2008. 

Originating Entry 
January 1: Insurance prepaid (asset) 1' $1 ,200 

Cash (asset) .J, $1 ,200 

I Assets I .J, = Liabilities+Owners' equity I 

Every month, the company will recognize insurance expense of $100 and reduce the prepaid 
asset by the same amount. By the end of the year, the entire insurance prepaid asset will be 
written off and a total insurance expense of$1,200 will have been recognized. 

Adjusting Entry 
Every month: Insurance expense 1' $100 (owners ' equity .J,) 

Insurance prepaid (asset) .J, $ 100 

I Assets .J, = Liabilities+ Owners' equity .J, I 
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4. Accrued expenses arise when a company recognizes an expense in its books before 
actually making a payment for it. Because the company owes a payment, the 
accrued expense is treated as a liability. 

Example 4-4: Accrued Expenses 

Prudent Inc. owes its employees $2,250 for work performed during the month of March. 
Wages are actually paid in May. 

Originating Entry 
March: Wages expense 1' $2,500 (owners ' equity .J,) 

Wages payable (liability) I $2,500 

I Assets= Liabilities 1' + Owners' equity .J, I 
Adjusting Entry 
May: Wages payable (liability) .J, $2,500 

Cash (asset) .J, $2,500 

I Assets .J, = Liabilitied + Owners' equity I 

Exhibit 4-1: Accruals2 

Cash Movement prior to 
Accounting Recognition 

Unearned (deferred) Revenue 

Originating Entry 
Record cash receipt and establish a 

liabili ty 
Adjusting Entry 

Reduce the liab ility and recognize 
revenue 

Prepaid Expense 

Originating Entry 
Record cash payment and establish an 

asset 
Adjusting Entry 

Reduce the asset and recognize 
the expense 

2 -Exhibit 10, Volume 3, CFA Program Curriculum 2017. 
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Cash movement in 
the same period as 

accounting 
recogn ition 

j 
Settled transaction-

no accrual entry 
needed 

Cash Movement after 
Accounting Recognition 

Unbilled (accrued) Revenue 

Originating En try 
Record revenue and estab li sh an asset 

Adjusting [ntry 
When billing occurs, reduce unbil led 

revenue and increase accounts 
receivable. When cash is collected, 

e liminate the receivab le. 

Accrued Expenses 

Originating Entry 
Establish a liability and record an expense 

Adjusting Entry 
Reduce the liabil ity as cash is paid 
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Accountants use 
the tenns debit and 
credit to describe 
changes in accounts 
resulting from a 
transaction. For the 
purposes of the CFA 
exam, you do not 
need to be able to 
classify accounting 
entries in terms of 
debits and credits. 

@ 

Valuation Adjustments 

Most assets and liabilities are recorded on the balance sheet at their historical cost. 
However, accounting standards require certain items to be shown on the balance sheet at 
their current market values. The upward or downward adjustments to the values of these 
assets and liabilities are known as valuation adjustments. For example, if there is a decline 
in the value of an asset, the new decreased value is recorded on the balance sheet and the 
amount of the decrease in value is recognized as a loss either on the income statement or in 
other comprehensive income. 

LOS 22g: Describe the flow of information in an accounting system. Vol 3, pg 72 

In an accounting system, information flows through four stages: 

Journal entries: The amount and relevant accounts affected by transactions are 
chronologically recorded in journals. At the end of the accounting period, adjusting 
entries are made to journal entries to account for accruals that had not been 
recorded earlier. 
General ledger: The general ledger sorts all the entries posted in journals into 
accounts. For example, the general ledger contains an inventory account where all 
inventory-related journal entries are listed. 
Trial balance: An initial trial balance lists all the ending balances of general ledger 
accounts. Adjustments to record accruals and prepayments that had not been 
considered in constructing the initial trial balance are made in the adjusted trial 
balance. 
Financial statements: The account balances in the adjusted trial balance are used to 
construct financial statements. 

LOS 22h: Describe the use of the results of the accounting process in 
security analysis. Vol 3, pp 73-74 

Financial statements provide the basis for equity and credit analysis. However, analysts 
must make adjustments to reflect the effects of items not reported in the statements. 
Analysts must also evaluate management's assumptions regarding accruals and valuations. 
Information related to most of these assumptions can be found in the significant accounting 
policies footnote and in the management discussion and analysis (MD&A) section of the 
annual report. 

Since assumptions within the accounting process are, to an extent, in the hands of 
management, financial statements can be manipulated to misrepresent a company's true 
financial performance. Companies can recognize fictitious assets and liabilities on the 
financial statements in an attempt to cover aggressive accounting practices or even fraud. 
For example, if management wanted to inflate reported revenue, it would also recognize 
a fictitious asset (a receivable) to balance the accounting equation. On the other hand, if 
the company has received cash but management does not want to recognize the related 
revenue, it could create a fictitious liability to keep the accounting equation in balance. We 
will study incentives for accounting manipulation and keys to detecting such fraudulent 
practices in later readings. 
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READING 23: FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

LESSON 1: FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

LOS 23a: Describe the objective of financial statements and the importance 
of financial reporting standards in security analysis and valuation. 
Vol 3, pp 10~102 

The International Accounting Standards Board's (IASB 's) objective of general purpose 
financial reporting, as stated in its Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 
(Conceptual Framework 2010), is to "provide financial information about the reporting 
entity that is useful to existing and potential investors, lenders, and other creditors in 
making decisions about providing resources to the entity. Those decisions involve buying, 
selling, or holding equity and debt instruments, and providing or settling loans and other 
forms of credit."1 

The process of developing financial reporting standards is quite complicated. Some 
transactions do not necessarily have one correct treatment, so standards are set with 
the aim of achieving some degree of consistency in the treatment of these transactions. 
Therefore, the IASB and U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) have 
developed similar frameworks for financial reporting. 

Financial statements are not designed only to facilitate asset valuation; they provide 
information to a host of users (e.g. , creditors, employees, and customers). At the same 
time, they do provide important inputs for the asset-valuation process. For analysts, it is 
extremely important to understand how and when judgments and subjective estimates 
affect the financial statements. Such an understanding is important to evaluate the wisdom 
of business decisions, and to make comparisons between companies. 

LOS 23b: Describe roles and desirable attributes of financial reporting 
standard-setting bodies and regulatory authorities in establishing and 
enforcing reporting standards, and describe the role of the International 
Organization of Securities Commissions. Vol 3, pp 103-111 

The Role of Standard-Setting Bodies and Regulatory Authorities 

Standard-setting bodies, such as the IASB and FASB, are private sector organizations of 
accountants and auditors that develop financial reporting rules, regulations, and accounting 
standards. Regulatory authorities, like the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in 
the United States, and Financial Standards Authority (FSA) in the United Kingdom have 
legal authority to enforce financial reporting requirements, and can overrule private sector 
standard-setting bodies. Standard-setting bodies have no authority unless their standards 
are recognized by regulatory authorities. 

I - Conceptual Framework (2010) Chapter 8, 082. Under U.S. GAAP, the identical statement appears in Concept Statement 8, 
Chapter I, 082. 
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Standard-Setting Bodies 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

The IASB is the independent standard-setting body of the IFRS Foundation, which is 
an independent, not-for-profit private sector organization. The principal objectives of the 
IFRS Foundation are to develop and promote the use and adoption of a single set of high­
quality financial standards; to ensure the standards result in transparent, comparable, and 
decision-useful information while taking into account the needs of a range of sizes and 
types of entities in diverse economic settings; and to promote the convergence of national 
accounting standards and IFRS. 

The IFRS Interpretations Committee is responsible for reviewing accounting 
issues that arise in the application of IFRS and are not specifically addressed by 
IFRS. 
The IFRS Advisory Council provides advice to the IASB on agenda decisions and 
priorities among other items. 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 

The FASB issues new and revised standards with the aim of improving standards of 
financial reporting so that information provided to users is useful for decision-making. 
The FASB standards are contained in the FASB Accounting Standard Codification™ 
(Codification). The Codification is the source of all authoritative U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) for nongovernmental entities. U.S. GAAP is officially 
recognized as authoritative by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). However, 
the SEC retains the authority to establish standards. 

Desirable Attributes of an Accounting Standards Board 
The responsibilities of all parties involved in the standard-setting process should be 
clearly defined. 
All parties involved in the standard-setting process should observe high 
professional and ethical standards, including standards of confidentiality. 
The organization should have adequate authority, resources, and competencies. 
There should be clear and consistent processes to guide the organization and 
formation of standards. 
There should be a well-articulated framework with a clearly stated objective to 
guide the board. 
The board should seek and consider input from all stakeholders. However, it 
should operate independently and make decisions that are in line with the stated 
objective of the framework. 
The board should not succumb to pressure from external forces. 
Final decisions should be in public interest, and should lead to a set of high-quality 
standards that will be recognized and adopted by regulatory authorities. 
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Regulatory Authorities 

Regulatory authorities are governmental entities that have the legal authority to enforce 
the financial reporting requirements set forth by the standard-setting bodies, and to exert 
control over entities that participate in capital markets within their jurisdiction. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STAN DAROS 

IOSCO (International Organization of Securities Commission) is not a regulatory 
authority, but its members regulate a large portion of the world's financial capital markets. 
IOSCO sets out three core objectives of securities regulation: 2 

1. Protection of investors. 
2. Ensuring that markets are fair, efficient, and transparent. 
3. Reducing systematic risk. 

IOSCO's principles are grouped into nine categories, including principles for regulators, 
for enforcement, for issuers, and for auditors. With increasing globalization, the 
organization aims to assist its members in the development of internationally comparable 
financial reporting standards. Further, it assists in attaining uniform regulation and cross­
border cooperation in combating violations of securities and derivatives laws. Finally, 
it provides guidance regarding the use of Self-Regulatory Organizations (SROs) in 
overseeing their respective areas of expertise. 

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

Any company issuing securities in the United States, or otherwise involved in U.S. 
capital markets is subject to the rules of the SEC. The SEC requires companies to subntit 
numerous forms periodically. These filings, which are available on the SEC website 
(www.sec.gov), are a key source of information for analysis of listed firms. The forms 
most relevant for financial analysts include: 

All companies that issue new securities are required to file a Securities Offerings 
Registration Statement. Required information includes disclosures about the 
securities, the relationship of these new securities to the issuer's other capital 
securities, the information typically provided in annual filings, recent audited 
financial statements, and risk factors involved in the business. 
Forms 10-K, 20-F, and 40-F must be filed annually. In these forms, companies 
provide a comprehensive business overview and disclose important financial data 
(historical overview of performance, management discussion & analysis (MD&A) 
report, and audited financial statements). This information is also available in a 
company's annual report. However, annual reports are prepared for shareholders 
and are not required by the SEC. 
Forms 10-Q and 6-K: U.S. companies file form 10-Q quarterly while non-U.S. 
firms file form 6-K semiannually. These submissions require unaudited financial 
statements, MD&A reports, and disclosure of any nonrecurring events. 

2 - Objectives and Principles of Securities Regulation, IOSCO, June 2010. 
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Proxy Statement/ Form DEF-14A: The SEC requires that shareholders of a 
company be sent a proxy statement before any shareholder meeting. A proxy is 
an authorization from a shareholder granting another party the right to vote on her 
behalf. The following information is contained in a proxy statement: 

o Details of proposals that require shareholder vote. 
o Ownership stakes of senior management and principal owners. 
o Director biographies. 
o Executive compensation disclosures. 

The proxy statement that is filed with the SEC is known as Form DEF- I 4A. 

Form 8-K: This form must be filed for significant events that include the 
acquisition or disposal of corporate assets, changes in management or corporate 
governance, changes in securities and trading markets, and matters related to 
accountants and financial statements. 
Form 144: This form is filed to announce a possible sale of restricted securities or 
the sale of securities held by affiliates of the issuer. 
Forms 3, 4, 5, and 11-K: These forms are used to examine purchases and sales of 
securities by management, directors, employees, and other affiliates of the company. 

Capital Market Regulation in Europe: Each country in the European Union (EU) 
regulates its own capital market. However, certain regulations have been adopted at the 
EU level to achieve some consistency in securities regulation among the different member 
states. In 2002 the EU agreed that from January I, 2005 , listed companies would prepare 
their consolidated accounts in accordance with the IFRS. 

LOS 23c: Describe the status of global convergence of accounting standards 
and ongoing barriers to developing one universally accepted set of financial 
reporting standards. Vol 3, pp 112-115 

The IASB and FASB, along with other standard setters, are working to achieve 
convergence of financial reporting standards. 

In 2002, the IASB and FASB both acknowledged their commitment to develop 
high quality, compatible accounting standards that can be used for both domestic 
as well as cross-border financial reporting. 
In 2004, both the boards agreed to align their conceptual frameworks and to work 
together in developing any significant accounting standards in the future. In the 
short term they aimed to remove selected differences, while in the medium term 
they agreed to issue joint standards in areas where significant improvements were 
required. 
In 2009, both the boards affirmed their commitment to achieve convergence in 
selected major projects by June 2011. This date was later revised to late 2011. 

Convergence between U.S. GAAP and IFRS is underway. Time and again, the SEC has 
reiterated its commitment to global accounting standards and is looking into incorporating 
IFRS into the financial reporting system for U.S. issuers. Convergence between IFRS and 
other local GAAP (e.g., Japanese GAAP) is also underway. 
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However, the move toward developing one set of universally accepted financial reporting 
standards is impeded by two factors: 

Standard-setting bodies and regulators have different opinions regarding 
appropriate accounting treatments due to differences in institutional, regulatory, 
business, and cultural environments. 
Powerful lobbyists and business groups, whose reported financial performance 
would be affected adversely by changes in reporting standards, exert pressure 
against the adoption of unfavorable standards. 

LOS 23d: Describe the International Accounting Standards Board's 
conceptual framework, including the objective and qualitative 
characteristics of financial statements, required reporting elements, 
and constraints and assumptions in preparing financial statements. 
Vol 3, pp 116-128 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

The IASB uses the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 (Conceptual 
Framework 2010) to develop reporting standards. The framework assists standard setters 
in developing and reviewing standards, assists preparers of financial statements in applying 
standards, helps auditors in fanning an opinion on financial statements, and aids users 
in interpreting financial statement information. Table 1-1 summarizes the current status 
of IFRS adoption in selected countries, while Figure 1-1 summarizes the Conceptual 
Framework 2010. 

Table 1-1: International Adoption Status of IFRS in Selected Locations as of June 2010' 

Europe 

North America 

The EU requires companies listed in EU countries to adopt IFRS 
beginning with their 2005 financial statements. 
Switzerland requires that Swiss multinational companies listed 
on the main board of the Swiss Exchange must choose either U.S. 
GAAP or IFRS. 
Some countries (for example, Georgia, Macedonia, Moldova, 
Serbia) use IFRS as adopted locally. Georgia, for example, uses the 
IFRS 2007 edition. 
Some countries (for example, Czech Republic, Finland, Germany, 
Ireland, Lithuania, Netherlands, Norway, and Poland) pennit some 
foreign companies listing on local exchanges to use other specified 
and/or well-recognised standards. 

The U.S. SEC accepts IFRS for non-U.S. registrants and no longer 
requires a reconciliation to U.S. GAAP for filers using IFRS. 
The U.S. FASB is engaged in numerous projects with the IASB to 
achieve convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS. 
The U.S. SEC announced its intention to decide by 2011 whether to 
incorporate IFRS into financial reporting by U.S. issuers. 

(Table continued on next page . .. ) 

3 - Sources: Based on data from www.iasb.org, www.sec.gov, www.iasplus.com, and www.pwc.com 
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Table 1-1: (continued) 

Central and 
South America 

In Canada, listed companies are required to use IFRS beginning 
January 1, 2011. The year ending December 31, 2010 is the last 
year of reporting under current Canadian GAAP. 
In November 2008, Mexico announced plans to move to IFRS in 
2012. 
Most of the island nations off the southeast coast of North America 
require or permit the use of IFRS by listed companies. 

Central America, Costa Rica, Honduras, and Panama require the use 
of IFRS. EI Salvador, Guatemala, and Nicaragua permit the use of 
IFRS. 
Brazil requires that listed companies and financial institutions 
use IFRS, starting with periods ending in 2010. Brazilian GAAP 
continues to converge to IFRS. Ecuador requires listed companies, 
other than financial institutions, to use IFRS beginning in 2010. 
Chile requires major listed companies to use IFRS for 2009 
financial statements. Other companies are permitted to use IFRS. 
Venezuela permits listed companies to use IFRS. The expectation is 
that listed companies will be required to use IFRS by 2011. 
Peru and Uruguay require the use of IFRS as adopted locally. 
In Argentina, convergence of ARO GAAP to IFRS is in progress. 
Listed foreign companies are permitted to use their primary GAAP, 
including IFRS, but should also include a reconciliation to ARO 
GAAP. 
Bolivia is moving toward convergence with IFRS. 
In Colombia and Paraguay, the adoption of IFRS is in early stages 
of consideration. 

Asia and Middle • Listed companies in a number of countries-including India, 
East Indonesia, and Thailand- report under local GAAP, and plans exist 

to either converge with or transition to IFRS. 
Companies in China report under Chinese accounting standards 
(CAS). CAS are largely converged with IFRS and China's 
November 2009 proposed Roadmap targeted 2011 as the year for 
completion of convergence of IFRS and CAS. Financial institutions 
are required to prepare financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS in addition to their statements prepared using CAS. 
In Japan, some companies that meet certain criteria may use 
IFRS, otherwise companies report using Japanese GAAP. Japan 
has launched a joint project with the IASB to reduce differences 
between Japanese GAAP and IFRS. 
In Malaysia, domestic listed companies report using local GAAP 
and foreign companies listed on Malaysian exchanges are permitted 
to use IFRS. Malaysia plans to have full convergence with IFRS by 
January 2012. 
In Hong Kong, companies incorporated in Hong Kong normally 
report under Hong Kong FRS. These are largely converged with 
IFRS. 
Korea requires the use of IFRS beginning 2011. Early adoption was 
permitted from 2009. 
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Table 1-1: (continuetf) 

Oceana 

Africa 

©2017Wiley 

Listed companies are required to report under IFRS in a number of 
other countries, including Kyrgyz Republic, Lebanon, and Turkey. 
A number of countries, including Pakistan, Philippines, and 
Singapore, require use of IFRS as adopted locally. In Singapore, 
IFRS is permitted for use by companies that list on other exchanges 
that require IFRS or if permission is given by the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority. 
In a number of countries, IFRS is required for some types of 
entities and permitted for others. For example, Armenia requires 
IFRS for financial organizations and permits its use for others, 
Azerbaijan requires IFRS for banks and state-owned public interest 
entities, Israel requires IFRS for domestic listed companies except 
for banking institutions, Kazakhstan requires IFRS for domestic 
listed companies, large business entities and public-interest entities, 
Saudi Arabia requires IFRS for all banks regulated by the Saudi 
Arabian Monetary Agency (central bank), and Uzbekistan requires 
IFRS for all commercial banks and permits IFRS for others. 
Vietnam requires IFRS for state-owned banks and permits IFRS 
for commercial banks; all other listed companies report under 
Vietnamese accounting standards. Some countries, including 
Afghanistan and Qatar, permit the use of IFRS. 

Australia requires Australian reporting entities to use IFRS as 
adopted locally. Foreign companies listing on local exchanges are 
permitted to use IFRS or their primary GAAP. The Australian 
regulator may require additional information. 
New Zealand requires use of IFRS as adopted locally (NZ-IFRS). 

Many African countries, including Botswana, Ghana, Kenya, 
Malawi, Mauritius, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Tanzania, 
Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe, require IFRS for listed 
companies. 
Morocco requires the use of IFRS for consolidated financial 
statements of bank and financial institutions and permits its use for 
others. 
Mozambique requires the use of IFRS for financial and lending 
institutions and for certain large entities. Use of IFRS is permitted 
by other entities beginning in 2010. 
Egypt requires the use of local GAAP, which is partially converged 
withIFRS. 
The Nigerian Federal executive Council approved January 1, 2012 
as the effective date for convergence of accounting standards in 
Nigeria with IFRS. 
In some countries, financial statements are required to be prepared 
in accordance with the Organization for the Harmonization of 
Business Law in Africa accounting framework. These countries 
include Cameroon, Cote D' Ivoire, and Equatorial Guinea. 
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Figure 1-1: lFRS Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Reports4 

*Material is an aspect of relevance. 

Reporting Elements 

Qualitative Characteristics 

Objective 

To Provide Financial 
Information Useful in Making 

Decisions about Providing 
Resources to the Entity 

Relevance* 
Faithful Representation 

Performance 
o Income 
o Expenses 
o Capital Maintenance Adjustments 
o Past Cash Flows 

Constraint 

Comparability, 
Verifiability, 
Timeliness, 
Understandability 

Financial Position 
o Assets 
o Liabilities 
o Equity 

• Cost (cost/benefit considerations) 

Underlying Assumption 
• Accrual Basis 
• Going Concern 

4 - Exhibit 2, Vol 3, CFA Program Curriculum 201 7 
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Objective of Financial Statements 

Under the Conceptual Framework, the objective of general purpose financial reporting is to 
provide financial information that is useful in making decisions about providing resources 
to the entity to existing and potential providers of resources (e.g., investors, lenders, and 
creditors) to the entity. 

Qualitative Characteristics 

The Conceptual Framework identifies two fundamental qualitative characteristics that 
make financial information useful; relevance and faithful representation: 

Relevance: The information presented in the financial statements should be useful in 
making forecasts (have predictive value) and/or be useful to evaluate past decisions 
or forecasts (have confirmatory value). Further, the criterion of materiality states that 
information should be timely and sufficiently detailed with no material omissions or 
misstatements of information that could make a difference to users' decisions. 

Faithful Representation: This requires that the information presented is: 

Complete (i.e., all the information necessary to understand the phenomenon is 
included); 
Neutral (i.e., information presented is free from any bias); and 
Free from error (i.e. , there are no errors of commission or omission in the 
description of the economic phenomenon). Further, an appropriate process is 
adhered to , without error, in order to arrive at the reported information. 

The Conceptual Framework also identifies four supplementary qualitative characteristics 
that increase the usefulness of relevant and faithfully represented financial information. 
These are: 

Comparability : The presentation of financial statements should be consistent over 
time and across firms to facilitate comparisons. 
Verifiability: Different knowledgeable and independent observers should be 
able to verify that the information presented faithfully represents the economic 
phenomena that it is supposed to represent. 
Timeliness: Information should be available to users in a timely manner. 
Understandability: Users with basic business and accounting knowledge, who are 
willing to make reasonable efforts to study the information presented, should be 
able to easily understand the information presented. 

Constraints on Financial Statements 

While it would be ideal for financial statements to exhibit all the desirable characteristics 
listed earlier, there are several constraints to achieving this goal: 

There may be a tradeoff between certain desirable characteristics. For example, 
companies must estimate bad debts (amount of credit sales that the company will 
not be able to collect) when presenting financial information so that financial 
statements can be released in a timely manner. However, the fact estimated 
expenses must be included reduces the verifiability of the statements. 
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There is a cost of providing useful financial information. The benefits from 
information should exceed the costs of providing it. 
Intangible aspects (e.g., company reputation, brand name, customer loyalty, and 
corporate culture) cannot be quantified and reflected in financial statements. 
Unfortunately, nonquantifiable information is omitted from financial statements. 

Reporting Elements 

The elements of financial statements that are related to the measurement of financial 
position are: 

Assets: Resources owned and controlled by a company from which it expects to 
realize future benefits. 
Liabilities: Obligations of a company that are expected to result in future outflow 
of resources. 
Equity: The residual claim of owners on assets of the company after subtracting all 
liabilities. 

Elements related to the measurement of financial performance are: 

Income: Increases in economic benefits in the form of inflows or enhancement 
of assets or reductions in liabilities that result in increases in equity (other than 
increases resulting from contributions by owners). Income includes revenues 
and gains. Revenue refers to income generated through ordinary activities of the 
business (e.g., sale of products). Gains may result from ordinary activities or other 
activities (e.g. , sale of surplus machinery). 
Expenses: Decreases in economic benefits in the form of outflows or depletion 
of assets or increases in liabilities that result in reductions in equity (other than 
reductions due to distributions to owners). Expenses include normal expenditures 
that occur in day-to-day business activities (e.g., wages) and losses. 

Underlying Assumptions in Financial Statements 

Two important assumptions that determine how financial statement elements are 
recognized and measured are: 

Accrual basis accounting requires that transactions should be recorded on the 
financial statements (other than on the cash flow statement) when they actually 
occur, irrespective of when the related exchange of cash occurs. 
Going concern refers to the assumption that the company will continue operating 
for the foreseeable future. If this is not the case, fair representation would require 
all assets to be written down to their liquidation values. The value of a company's 
year-end stock of inventory would be higher if it were allowed to sell it over 
a normal period of time, compared to its value if the company were forced to 
liquidate it immediately. 
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Recognition and Measurement of Financial Statement Elements 

An element should be recognized on the financial statements if the future benefit from the 
item (flowing into or out of the firm) is probable, and if its value/cost can be estimated with 
reliability. The monetary value of the item recognized on the financial statements depends 
on the measurement base used. The following bases of measurement are typically used: 

Historical cost: For an asset, historical cost refers to the amount that it was 
originally purchased for. For liabilities, it refers to the amount of proceeds that 
were received initially in exchange for the obligation. 
Amortized cost: Historical cost adjusted for amortization, depreciation, or 
depletion and/or impairment. 
Current cost: For an asset, current cost refers to the amount that the asset can be 
purchased for today. For liabilities, it refers to the total undiscounted amount of 
cash that would be required to settle the obligation today. 
Realizable (settlement) value: In reference to assets, realizable value refers to the 
amount that the asset can be sold for in an ordinary disposal today. For liabilities, it 
refers to the undiscounted amount of cash expected to be paid to settle the liability 
in the normal course of business. 
Present value: For assets, present value refers to the discounted value of future 
net cash flows expected from the asset. For liabilities, it refers to the present 
discounted value of future net cash outflows that are expected to be required to 
settle the liability. 
Fair value: This is mentioned in the Conceptual Framework, but not specifically 
defined. It refers to the amount that the asset can be exchanged for, or a liability 
can be settled for, in an arm's length transaction. Fair value may be based on 
market value or present value. 

LOS 23e: Describe general requirements for financial statements under 
IFRS. Vol 3, pp 123-127 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) No. I , Presentation of Financial Statements, 
specifies which financial statements are mandatory and how they must be presented. (See 
Table 1-2.) 

Required Financial Statements 
Statement of financial position (balance sheet). 
Statement of comprehensive income (in a single statement or in two separate 
statements, i.e. , the income statement+ statement of comprehensive income). 
Statement of changes in equity. 
Statement of cash flows. 
Significant accounting policies and explanatory notes to facilitate the 
understanding of financial statements. 
In certain cases, a statement of financial position from earliest comparative period. 
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General Features of Financial Statements 
Fair presentation: This requires faithful representation of transactions, in 
compliance with the definitions and recognition criteria for reporting elements 
(assets, liabilities, equity, income, and expenses) set out in the Conceptual 
Framework. 
Going concern: Financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis 
unless management has plans to liquidate the company. 
Accrual basis: All financial statements, except the cash flow statement, should be 
prepared on an accrual basis. 
Materiality and aggregation: Financial statements should be free from omissions 
and misrepresentations that could influence decisions taken by users. Similar items 
should be grouped and presented as a material class. Dissimilar items, unless 
immaterial, should be presented separately. 
No offsetting: Assets and liabilities and income and expenses should not be used to 
offset each other, unless a standard requires or allows it. 
Frequency of reporting: Financial statements must be prepared at least annually. 
Comparative information: Comparative amounts should be presented for prior 
periods unless a specific standard permits otherwise. 
Consistency: Items should be presented and classified in the same manner in every 
period. 

Structure and Content Requirements 
Classified statement of financial position: Current and noncurrent assets and 
current and noncurrent liabilities should be shown separately on the balance sheet. 
Minimum information on the face of financial statements: Certain items must be 
explicitly disclosed on the face of the financial statements. For example, property, 
plant & equipment (PP&E) must be disclosed as a separate line item on the face of 
the balance sheet. 
Minimum information in the notes (or on the face of financial statements): 
Disclosures relating to certain items must be in the notes to the financial statements 
(e.g., measurement bases used). (See Table 1-3.) 
Comparative information: Comparative amounts should be presented for prior 
periods unless a specific standard permits otherwise. 
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Table 1-2: IAS No. 1: Minimum Required Line Items in Financial Statements5 

On the face of 
the Slllllment of 
Financial Position 

On the face of 
the Slllllment of 
Comprehensive 
Income, presented 
either in a single 
statement or in two 
statements (Income 
statement + Statement • 
of comprehensive 
income) 

On the face of the 
Statement of Changes 
in Equity 

Plant, property. and equipment 
Investment property 
Intangible assets 
Financial assets (not listed in other line items) 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 
Biological assets 
Inventories 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Total of assets classified as held for sale 
Trade and other payables 
Provisions 
Financial liabilities (not listed in other line items) 
Liabilities and assets for current tax 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for 
sale 
Noncontrolling interests, presented within equity 
Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the 
parent 

Revenue 
Specified gains and losses for financial assets 
Finance costs 
Share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method 
Pretax gain or loss recognized on the disposal of assets or 
settlement of liabilities attributable to discontinued operations 
Tax expense 
Profit or loss 
Each component of other comprehensive income 
Amount of profit or loss and amount of comprehensive 
income attributable to noncontrolling interest (minority 
interest) 
Amount of profit or loss and amount of comprehensive 
income attributable to the parent 

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to 
noncontrolling interests, and to owners of the parent 
For each component of equity, the effects of changes in 
accounting policies and corrections of errors 
For each component of equity, a reconciliation between the 
beginning and ending carrying amounts, separately disclosing 
changes resulting from profit or loss, each item of other 
comprehensive income, and transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners 

5 - Exhibit 4, Vol 3, CPA Program Curriculum 201 7 
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Table 1-3: Summary of IFRS Required Disclosures in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements• 

Disclosure of 
accounting 
po licks 

Measurement bases used in preparing financial statements 
The other accounting policies used that are relevant to an 
understanding of the financial statements 
Judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements 

Estimation Key assumptions about the future and other key sources of 
uncertainty estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing 

material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next year 

Other disclosures • Information about capital and about certain financial instruments 
classified as equity 
Dividends not recognized as a distribution during the period, 
including dividends declared before the financial statements were 
issued and any cumulative preference dividends 
Description of the entity, including its domicile, legal form, 
country of incorporation, and registered office or business address 
Nature of operations and its principal activities 
Name of parent and ultimate parent 

LOS 23f: Compare key concepts of financial reporting standards under 
IFRS and U.S. GAAP reporting systems. Vol 3, pg 128 

Most of the differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP are discussed in the readings 
that follow. A brief summary of the differences regarding financial statement elements 
(definition, recognition, and measurement) are: 

FASB, in addition to the financial performance elements recognized under the 
IASB Framework (revenues and expenses), also identifies gains, losses, and 
comprehensive income. 
Reporting elements relating to financial position are defined differently. Under 
FASB, assets are the "future economic benefits" rather than "resources" from 
which future economic benefits are expected to flow under IASB. 
Under FASB, the word "probable" is not discussed in its revenue recognition 
criteria, while under IASB it is required that it is probable that a future economic 
benefit flow to/from the entity. FASB also has a separate recognition criterion of 
relevance. 
Regarding measurement of financial elements, both frameworks are broadly 
consistent. However, FASB does not allow upward revaluation of assets except for 
certain categories of financial instruments that must be reported at fair value. 

6 - Exhibit 5, Vol 3, CFA Program Curriculum 201 7 
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Companies around the world follow different frameworks in preparing their financial 
statements. Until recently, companies were required to report reconciliation statements 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

and disclosures to allow construction of financial statements as they would have been 
under alternative reporting standards. For example, the SEC used to (but no longer does) 
require reconciliation for foreign private issuers that do not prepare financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Now that reconciliation disclosures are not required, analysts 
must be aware of areas where accounting standards have not yet converged. 

LOS 23g: Identify characteristics of a coherent financial reporting 
framework and the barriers to creating such a framework. Vol 3, pp 129-130 

Characteristics of an Effective Financial Reporting Framework 
Transparency: A transparent reporting framework should reflect the underlying 
economics of the business. Full disclosure and fair representation create 
transparency. 
Comprehensiveness: A comprehensive reporting framework is one that is based 
on universal principles that provide guidance for recording all kinds of financial 
transactions-those already in existence and others that emerge with time. 
Consistency: Financial transactions of a similar nature should be measured and 
reported in a similar manner, irrespective of industry type, geography, and time 
period. However, there is also a need for flexibility to allow companies discretion 
to be able to report results in accordance with their underlying economic activity. 

Barriers to Creating a Single Coherent Framework 
Valuation: When choosing a measurement base, it is important to remember 
the tradeoff between reliability and relevance. Historical cost is a more reliable 
measure of value, but fair value is more relevant over time. 
Standard-setting approach: Reporting standards can be based on one of the 
following approaches: 

o A principles-based approach provides a broad financial reporting framework 
with limited guidance on how to report specific transactions. It requires the 
use of subjective judgment in financial reporting. 

o A rules-based approach provides strict rules for classifying elements and 
transactions. 

o An objectives-oriented approach is a combination of a principles-based and 
rules-based approach. This approach includes a framework of principles and 
appropriate levels of implementation guidance. 

IFRS has traditionally followed a principals-based approach, while U.S. GAAP 
has followed a rules-based approach. The common conceptual framework is likely 
to lean towards more of an objectives-oriented approach. 
Measurement: Reporting of financial statement elements can be based on the asset/ 
liability approach (where the elements are properly valued at a point in time) or the 
revenue/expense approach (where changes in the elements are properly valued over 
a period of time). The former gives preference to proper valuation of the balance 
sheet, while the latter focuses on the income statement. The use of one of these 
approaches will result in more reliable information on one statement and less on the 
other. In recent years, standard-setters have preferred the asset/liability approach. 
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

LOS 23h: Describe implications for financial analysis of differing financial 
reporting systems and the importance of monitoring developments in 
financial reporting standards. Vol 3, pp 131-134 

LOS 23i: Analyze company disclosures of significant accounting policies. 
Vol 3, pp 134-137 

It is important for analysts to be aware of developments in financial reporting standards and 
to assess their implications for security analysis and valuation. They need to understand 
how changes and developments affect financial reports from a user's perspective. 

New products and transactions in capital markets: Certain economic events have 
led to the development of new products and new transactions. For example, online 
stores have led to the advent of e-commerce and related transactions that did not 
exist earlier. 

Analysts should evaluate companies' financial reports to understand new 
transactions or products being used and implemented. Business journals, 
magazines, and capital markets can provide information on new transactions and 
financial instruments being used by various companies in an industry. Further 
information can always be obtained from company management regarding any 
products that they may have used or transactions that they might have undertaken 
during the year. As products or transactions become more common in the industry, 
it becomes imperative to understand their implications, usefulness, and impact on 
cash flows. 
Actions of standard-setting bodies, such as IASB and FASB, must be monitored 
because changes in regulations and financial reporting standards affect reported 
financial performance. Investment decision-making can be improved by keeping 
track of enacted and proposed changes. 
Company disclosures are a good source of information regarding the effects of 
financial reporting standards on a company's performance. Under IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP, companies are required to disclose accounting policies and estimates in 
the footnotes to the financial statements. Public companies also discuss accounting 
policies and estimates that require significant material judgment in the MD&A 
section. 

Companies must also disclose information relating to changes in accounting 
policies. IFRS requires discussion about pending implementation of new standards 
and any known or estimable information relevant to assessing the impact of 
those standards. Clear indications regarding the expected impact of changes in 
standards provide the most useful information and are very helpful to analysts. 
Vague statements like "management is still evaluating the impact of the standard" 
might be red flags that analysts should be wary of. Quantified disclosures (when 
companies are able to quantify the expected impact of standards that have changed 
but are not yet effective as of the reporting date) are extremely useful to analysts. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

READING 24: UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENI'S 

LESSON 1: INCOME STATEMENT: COMPONENTS AND FORMAT 

LOS 24a: Describe the components of the income statement and alternative 
presentation formats of that statement. Vol 3, pp 149-153 

Under IFRS, the income statement may be presented as: 

A section of a single statement of comprehensive income, or 
A separate statement (showing all revenues and expenses) followed by a statement 
of comprehensive income (described later) that begins with net income. 

Under U.S. GAAP, the income statement may be presented as: 

A section of a single statement of comprehensive income. 
A separate statement followed by a statement of comprehensive income that begins 
with net income. 
A separate statement with the components of other comprehensive income 
presented in the statement of changes in shareholders ' equity. 

Exhibits 1-1and1-2 show the income statements of Van Dort Inc. (a European company) 
and Johnson Inc. (an American company). 

Exhibit 1-1: VAN DORT INCORPORATED 
Income Statement 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2008 

2007 2008 
€ € 

Net revenue 55,000 59,250 
Cost of goods sold -39,000 -41,250 
Selling expenses -6,500 -7,150 
General and administrative expenses -2,250 -3,350 
Research and development expenses -1,050 -1,100 
Other revenue (expense) -675 -650 
Trading operating income 5,525 5,750 

Other operating income (expense) -105 250 

[TI Operating income 5,420 6,000 

Interest revenue 60 85 
Interest expense -350 -275 
Cost of net debt -290 --=m 
Other financial revenue expense -450 -750 
Income before tax 4,680 5,060 
Income tax -2,125 -1 ,950 
Income from fully consolidated companies 2,555 ----uw 
Share of profits from associates 20 -50 
Net income from continuing operations 2,575 3,060 
Net income from discontinued operations 235 0 

5 Net income 2,810 ~ 

4 Attributable to the group 2,529 2,754 
Attributable to minority interests 281 306 
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Following net 
income, the income 
statement may also 
present earnings 
per share, the 
amount of earnings 
per common share 
of a company. 
Earnings per share 
will be discussed in 
detail later in this 
reading, and the 
per-share display 
has been omitted 
from these exhibits 
to focus on the core 
income statement. 
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Exhibit 1-2: JOHNSON INCORPORATED 
Income Statement 

For the Year Ended December 31 , 2008 

-+----- Net revenue 
Cost of sales 

- Gross profit 

Marketing, administrative, and research expenses 
Loss (gain) on sale of equipment 
Impairment expense 
Loss (gain) on sale of old vehicles 
Amortization of intangibles 

- Operating income 

Net interest expense 
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 

Provision for income taxes 
Earnings from continuing operations 

Earnings and gain from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 

- Net earnings 

- Noncontrolling interest 
Net earnings attributable to Johnson Incorporated 

2008 2007 

$ $ 
15,000 13,500 
11 ,050 10,075 
3,950 3,425 

975 695 
250 0 
175 105 
225 275 

25 55 
2,300 2,295 

450 430 
1,850 1,865 

240 135 
1,610 1,730 

0 55 
1,610 1,785 

16 18 
1,594 1,767 

ITJ - Revenue: Usually reported on the first line of the income statement, revenues are amounts 
charged (and expected to be received) for goods and services in the ordinary activities 
of a business. Net revenue is total revenue adjusted for product returns and amounts that 
are unlike! y to be collected. Other common! y used terms for revenue include sales and 
turnover. 

Expenses reflect outflows, depletions of assets, and incurrences of liabilities in the course 
of the activities of a business. 

[I] - Gross profit or gross margin is the difference between revenues and cost of goods that 
were sold. When an income statement explicitly calculates gross profit, it uses a multi-step 
format as opposed to a single-step format. Van Dort uses a single-step format, while 
Johnson uses a multi-step format. 

- Operating income is calculated after subtracting all direct and indirect (period) costs from 

Operating income is 
sometimes referred 
to as EBIT (earnings 
before income and 
taxes). However, they 
are not always equal. 

revenues. It represents the profit earned by a company from its ordinary business activities 
before accounting for taxes and, in the case of nonfinancial companies, before deducting 
interest expense. Operating profits are useful in evaluating the profitability of individual 
businesses as they are not affected by financing decisions of the firm. Exhibits 1-1 and 1-2 
contain income statements of nonfinancial companies. For financial firms, interest income 
and expense are part of ordinary business activities, so they are included in operating profits. 
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Net income is the "bottom line" of the income statement. It includes profits earned 
from ordinary business activities as well as gains and losses (increases and decreases in 
economic benefits) from nonoperating activities. 

Net income = Revenue- Expenses in the ordinary activities of the business 
+Other income - Other expenses+ Gains - Losses 

If a company owns the majority of the shares of a subsidiary, it must present consolidated --- 0 
financial statements. Consolidation requires the parent to combine all the revenues and 
expenses of the subsidiary with its own and present the combined results on its income 
statement. If the subsidiary is not wholly owned, the share of noncontrolling interests in 
net income is deducted from total income, as it represents the proportionate share in the 
subsidiary's net income that belongs to minority shareholders. 

Some subtotals are required by IFRS (especially nonrecurring items), while others are not 
explicitly required. Examples of items that are required to be separately stated on the face 
of the income statement are revenues, finance cost, and taxes. 

Under IFRS, revenue from rendering of services is recognized when: 

1. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
2. It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to 

the entity; 
3. The stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date can be 

measured reliably; and 
4. The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can 

be measured reliably. 

IFRS permits the grouping of expenses by nature or by function. An example of grouping 
by nature would be combining depreciation of factory equipment with depreciation of 
transport vehicles and stating a single aggregate amount for depreciation on the income 
statement. An example of grouping by function would be combining direct product costs 
(raw material costs and freight charges) under cost of goods sold. 

Income statement presentation formats: Van Oort's and Johnson's income statements 
also highlight the following differences that we might run into when analyzing financial 
statements of various companies: 

Van Dort presents the latest year in the extreme right column, while Johnson 
presents the most recent year on the extreme left. 
Van Dort presents expense items (e.g., cost of goods sold and interest expense) 
with negative signs to show that they are being deducted. In contrast, Johnson does 
not present its expenses in parentheses or with negative signs. It assumes that users 
know that expense items are subtracted from revenues. 
Van Dort deducts cost of goods sold from sales, whereas Johnson deducts cost 
of sales. Such differences in terminology are common across sets of financial 
statements. 
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financial statement 
reporting and 
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the most recem 
year is given in the 
rightmost column or 
in the leftmost. The 
convention used in 
exam questions can 
be different from 
what some of you 
are used to. Making 
an arrow indicating 
the movement 
from the oldest to 
the most recent 
accounting period 
will help you avoid 
careless mistakes in 
answering questions 
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accounting elements 
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LESSON 2: REVENUE AND EXPENSE RECOGNITION 

LOS 24b: Describe general principles of revenue recognition and accrual 
accounting, specific revenue recognition applications (including accounting 
for long-term contracts, installment sales, barter transactions, gross and net 
reporting of revenue), and implications of revenue recognition principles 
for financial analysis. Vol 3, pp 153--169 

LOS 24c: Calculate revenue given information tbat might influence tbe 
choice of revenue recognition method. Vol 3, pp 153--169 

In this lesson, we will primarily discuss revenue recognition under IFRS and U.S. GAAP 
prior to the application of the converged standards issued in May 2014. In May 2014, the 
IASB and FASB each issued a nearly identical new standards for revenue recognition aimed 
at achieving convergence, consistency, and transparency in revenue recognition globally. We 
will describe these converged standards in the last part of this lesson. 

The IASB Conceptual Framework defines income as "increases in economic benefits during 
the accounting period in the form of inflows or enhancements of assets, or decreases in 
liabilities that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to contributions from 
equity participants."1 Income includes revenues and gains. Revenues arise from ordinary, core 
business activities, whereas gains arise from noncore or peripheral activities. For example, for 
a software development company the sale of software to customers is considered revenue, but 
the profit on the sale of some old office furniture is classified as a gain. 

The most important principle of revenue recognition is accrual accounting, which requires 
that revenues and costs are recognized independently of the timing of related cash flows. 
For example, under accrual accounting, rent expense is recognized in the month that a 
company uses the premises for its operations, not when the actual cash payment for rent is 
made. Accrual accounting allows firms to manipulate net income by recognizing revenue 
earlier or later, or by accelerating or deferring recognition of expenses. 

Under IFRS, revenue is recognized for a sale of goods when:2 

I. Significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer. 
2. The entity retains no managerial involvement or effective control over the goods 

sold. 
3. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
4. It is probable that the economic benefits from the transaction will flow to the entity. 
5. Costs incurred or to be incurred for the transaction can be measured reliably. 

IFRS specify similar criteria for recognizing revenue for the rendering of service. Revenue 
can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are met3 

I. The amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
2. It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to 

the entity. 

l - IASB, International Framework for the Preparation arul Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraph 70. 
2 · IASB, !AS No. 18, Revenue, paragraph 14. 
3 - !AS No. 18, Revenue, paragraph 20. 
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3. The stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date can be 
measured reliably. 

4. The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can 
be measured reliably. 

IFRS also specifies the criteria for recognizing interest, royalties, and dividends. These may 
be recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction 
will flow to the entity and that the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 

Under U.S. GAAP, revenue is recognized on the income statement when it is "realized or 
realizable and eamed."4 The SEC provides specific guidelines to determine when these two 
conditions are met:5 

1. There is evidence of an arrangement between the buyer and seller. 
2. The product has been delivered or the service has been rendered. 
3. The price is determined or determinable. 
4. The seller is reasonably sure of collecting money. 

Revenue Recognition in Special Cases 

The principles of revenue recognition listed earlier cater to most cases. However, there 
are some special circumstances in which revenue may be recognized prior to the sale of a 
good/service or even after the sale. 

Long-Term Contracts 

Long-term contracts are contracts that extend over more than one accounting period, such 
as construction projects. In long-term contracts, questions arise as to how revenues and 
expenses should be allocated to each accounting period. The treatment of these items 
depends on how reliably the outcome of the project can be measured. 

Under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP, if the outcome of the contract can be measured 
reliably, the percentage of completion revenue recognition method is used. Under this 
method, revenues, costs, and profits are allocated to each accounting period in proportion 
to the percentage of the contract completed during the given period. The percentage that 
is recognized during a period is calculated by dividing the total cost incurred during the 
period by the estimated total cost of the project. 

If the outcome cannot be measured reliably, the completed contract method is used under 
U.S. GAAP. Under this method, no revenues or costs are recognized on the income 
statement until the project is substantially finished. In the meantime, billings and costs 
are accumulated on the balance sheet (under a construction-in-progress asset), rather than 
expensed on the income statement. 

Under IFRS, when the outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognized on 
the income statement to the extent of costs incurred during the period. No profits are 
recognized until all costs have been recovered. 

Example 2-1 illustrates the differences between the percentage of completion method and 
the completed contract method. 

4 - See Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, paragraph 83(b). 
5 - See SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 101. 
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Example 2-1: Revenue Recognition for Long-Term Contracts 

Paxel Construction Company has a $30 million contract to construct a building. It 
estimates that it will take three years to complete the project. The estimated cost of the 
project is $21 million. Paxel incurs costs amounting to $10.5 million in Year I, $7.35 
million in Year 2, and $3.15 million in Year 3. Determine the amount of revenue and 
profit that the company will recognize each year under IFRS and U.S. GAAP if: 

I. The outcome of the contract can be reliably measured. 
2. The outcome of the contract cannot be reliably measured. 

Solution 

Under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP, if the outcome of the contract can be measured 
reliably, the percentage of completion revenue recognition method is used. 

Percentage of Completion Method 

First we calculate the percentage of total costs incurred in each year. 

Cost incurred 
Total cost 
Percentage of total cost incurred 

Year 1 

$10.50 
$21.00 

50% 

Year 2 

$7.35 
$21.00 

35% 

Year3 

$3.15 
$21.00 

15% 

Then we multiply the percentage of total costs incurred each year by the total revenue earned 
over the term of the project to determine the amount of revenue recognized each year. 

Percentage of total cost incurred 

Total revenue 

Revenue recognized 

Year 1 

50% 

$30 

$15 

Year2 

35% 

$30 

$10.5 

Year3 

15% 

$30 

$4.5 

Net income equals revenues recognized minus costs recognized: 

Revenue 
Costs 
Net income 

Year 1 

$15 
$10.5 

$4.5 

Year2 

$10.5 
$7.35 
$3.15 

Year3 

$4.5 
$3.15 
$1.35 

Total 

$30 
$21 

$9 

Under IFRS, if the outcome of the contract cannot be measured reliably and it is 
probable that costs will be recovered, revenue may only be recognized to the extent of 
contract costs incurred. 

Year 1: The company will recognize construction costs amounting to $10.5 million as 
well as revenue of $10.5 million and hence $0 income. 
Year 2: The company will recognize construction costs amounting to $7.35 million as 
well as revenue of $7.35 million and hence $0 income. 
Year 3: The company will recognize construction costs amounting to $3.15 million. 
Further, since the contract is complete, the company will also recognize the remaining 
revenue of $12.15 million, and therefore report $9 million in net income. 
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Year 1 Year2 Year3 

Revenue $10.5 $7.35 $12.15 
Costs $10.5 $7.35 $3.15 

Net income $0.0 $0.00 $9.00 

Completed Contract Method 

Under this method, no revenues or costs are recognized until the contract is completed. 
Therefore, for the first two years, Paxel will not recognize any revenues and costs. The 
entire amount of revenues, costs, and net income will be recognized in Year 3 on the 
income statement. On the balance sheet, for Years 1 and 2, Paxel would report all incurred 
costs under a "Construction-in-progress" head, which would be eliminated in Year 3. 

Revenue 
Costs 
Net income 

Year 1 

$0 
$0 

$() 

Year2 Year3 

$30 
$21 

---w-

The percentage of completion method is a more aggressive (less conservative) approach to 
revenue recognition. It is also more subjective, as it depends on management estimates and 
judgment relating to the reliability of estimates. However, the percentage of completion 
method matches revenues with costs over time and provides smoother, less volatile 
earnings. Remember, cash flows are exactly the same under both methods. 

important: Under IFRS and U.S. GAAP, if a loss is expected on the contract, the loss 
must be recognized immediately, regardless of the revenue recognition method used. 

Installment Sales 

An installment sale occurs when a company finances a customer's purchase of its products 
and customers make payments (installments) to the company over an extended period. 

Under IFRS, installment sales are separated into the selling price (discounted present 
value of installment payments) and an interest component. Revenue attributable to the sale 
(selling) price is recognized at the date of sale, while the interest component is recognized 
over time.6 However, the standards provide that revenue should be recognized in light of 
local laws regarding the sale of goods. For transactions that require deferral of revenue and 
profit recognition (like sales of real estate on an installment basis), revenue recognition 
depends on specific aspects of the transaction. 

Under U.S. GAAP, a sale of real estate is reported at the time of sale using the normal 
revenue recognition conditions if the seller:7 

Has completed the significant activities in the earnings process, and 
Is either assured of collecting the selling price or able to estimate amounts that will 
not be collected. 

When these two conditions are not fully met, some of the profit must be deferred and one 
of the following two methods may be used. 

6 - lAS No. 18 IE, Illustrative Examples, paragraph 8. 
7 - FASS ASC Section 360-20-55 [Property, Plant, and Equipment- Real Estate Sales-Implementation Guidance and lllustrations]. 
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Installment sales 
and cost recovery 
treaunentofrevenue 
recognition are 
rare for financial 
reporting purposes, 
especially for assets 
other than real 

Installment method: This method is used when collectability of revenues cannot be reasonably 
estimated. Under this method, profits are recognized as cash is received. The percentage of 
profit recognized in each period equals the proportion of total cash received in the period. 

I Profit for the period= (Cash collected in the period/Selling price)xTotal profit I 
Cost-recovery method: This method is used when collectability of revenues is highly 
uncertain. Under this method, profits are recognized only once total cash collections 
(including principal and interest on any financing provided to the buyer) exceed total 
costs. The revenue recognition method under international standards is similar to the cost 
recovery method, but the term "cost recovery method" is not used. 

Example 2-2: The Installment Sales and Cost Recovery Methods of Revenue 
Recognition 

Bingo Inc. sold property worth $500,000 and allowed the buyer to make the payment in 
installments. The cost of the property sold is $300,000. The first installment of $250,000 
has been received in Year I , while the rest of the payment is expected to be received in 
Year 2. Calculate the amount of profit that will be recognized each year using the: 

I. Installment sales method. 
2. Cost-recovery method. 

Solution 

Installment Sales Method 

Profit for the period= (Cash collected in the period/Selling price)xTotal profit 

Profit (Year I)= (250,000/500,000) x 200,000 = $100,000. 

Profit (Year 2) = (250,000/500,000) x 200,000 = $100,000. 

Cost-Recovery Method 

Under the cost-recovery method, the company will not recognize any profits in Year I 
because total cash received from the buyer ($250,000) does not exceed the cost of the 
property ($300,000). If the second installment of $250,000 is received in Year 2, Bingo 
will recognize a profit of $200,000 in Year 2. 
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Barter Transactions 

In barter transactions, goods are exchanged between two parties and there is no exchange 
of cash. One form of barter transaction is a round-trip transaction, in which a good is 
sold by one party in exchange for the purchase of an identical good. The issue with these 
transactions is whether revenue should be recognized. 

Under IFRS, revenue from barter transactions can be reported on the income 
statement based on the fair value of revenues from similar nonbarter transactions 
with unrelated parties. 
Under U.S. GAAP, revenue from barter transactions can be reported on the income 
statement at fair value only if the company has a history of making or receiving 
cash payments for such goods and services and hence can use its historical 
experience to determine fair value. Otherwise, revenue should be reported at the 
carrying amount of the asset surrendered. 

Gross versus Net Reporting 

Under gross revenue reporting, sales and cost of sales are reported separately, whereas 
under net reporting only the difference between sales and cost of sales is reported on 
the income statement. Under U.S. GAAP, only if the following conditions are met can a 
company recognize revenue based on gross reporting: 

The company is the primary obligor under the contract. 
The company bears inventory and credit risk. 
The company can choose its suppliers. 
The company has reasonable latitude to establish price. 

Example 2-3: Gross versus Net Reporting of Revenues 

A travel agent purchases discounted tickets and sells them to customers. The agent pays 
only for the tickets that she manages to sell to customers. She purchases a ticket for 
$1,000 and sells it for $1, I 00. Assume that there are no other revenues and expenses 
involved. Demonstrate the reporting of revenues under gross and net reporting. 

Solution 

Revenues 

Cost of sales 

Gross margin 

Gross Reporting 

$1 ,100 

-$1 ,000 

$100 

The travel agent should report revenue on a net basis because: 

Net Reporting 

$100 

$0 

$100 

She pays only for tickets that she is able to sell to customers. Therefore, she does 
not bear any inventory risk. 
The airline, not the travel agent, is the primary obligator under the contract. 
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Implications for Financial Analysis 

Companies are required to disclose their revenue recognition policies in the footnotes to 
their financial statements. The impact of a chosen policy on financial analysis depends 
on how conservative and objective the revenue recognition policy is. A conservative 
policy would recognize revenue later rather than sooner, and an objective policy would 
not leave too many estimates to management discretion. While it is difficult to attach a 
monetary value to differences in revenue recognition policies, analysts should be able to 
assess qualitative differences between sets of financial statements and evaluate how these 
differences affect important financial ratios. 

LOS 24d: Describe key aspects of the converged accounting standards 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and Financial 
Accounting Standards Board in May 2014. Vol 3, pp 166-169 

Revenue Recognition Accounting Standards Issued in May 2014 

By now, it should be clear to you that the different revenue recognition practices around the 
globe can make revenue comparisons across companies in different parts of the world quite 
problematic. Fortunately, in May 2014, the IASB and FASB issued a set of converged 
standards that look to make such comparisons easier. Under IFRS, these converged 
standards are effective for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018, while under 
U.S. GAAP, they are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. 
Further, IFRS pemtits early adoption of the standards, while U.S. GAAP only allows 
application as early as the original effective date (December 15, 2016). 

Prior to the issuance of the converged standards, there were substantial differences 
between IFRS and U.S. GAAP when it came to revenue recognition (as we saw under 
the previous LOS). Generally speaking, IFRS offered limited guidance on the subject, 
while U.S. GAAP contained extensive guidance with several requirements. The converged 
standards provide a principles-based approach to revenue recognition that can be applied to 
different types of revenue-generating activities. 

We now describe key aspects of the converged standards. 

Core Principle 

The core principle of the converged standards is that revenue should be recognized in 
order to "depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in an exchange for those 
goods or services." In order to attain this core principle, the standards describe five steps in 
recognizing revenue: 

I. Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 
2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 
3. Detemtine the transaction price. 
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
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A contract is an agreement and commitment, with commercial substance, between the 
contacting parties. It establishes each party's obligations and rights , including payment 
terms. In addition, a contract exists only if collectability is probable. While IFRS and 
U.S. GAAP use the same word (probable), they apply a different threshold for probable 
collectability. Under IFRS, probable means more likely than not, whereas under U.S. 
GAAP, it means likely to occur. This subtle difference can result in economically similar 
contracts being treated differently under the two standards. 

Performance obligations represent promises to transfer distinct good(s) or service(s). A 
good or service is distinct if (I) the customer can benefit from it on its own or in combination 
with readily available resources and (2) the promise to transfer it can be separated from other 
promises in the contract. Each identified performance obligation is accounted for separately. 

The transaction price is the amount that the seller estimates it will receive in exchange for 
transferring the good(s) or service(s) identified in the contract to the buyer. The transaction 
price is then allocated to each identified performance obligation. The amount recognized 
reflects expectations about collectability and (if applicable) an allocation to multiple 
obligations within the same contract. Revenue is recognized when the obligation-satisfying 
transfer is made. 

Acconnting Treatment 
When revenue is recognized, a contract asset is presented on the balance sheet. 
If all performance obligations have been satisfied but payment has not been 
received, a receivable appears on the seller's balance sheet. 
If payment is received in advance of transferring good(s) or service(s), the seller 
presents a contract liability. 

For a simple contract with only one deliverable at a single point in time, completing the 
five steps is straightforward. Examples of more complex contracts include: 

Contracts where performance obligations are met over time. 
Multiperiod contracts where terms are modified. 
Contracts where the performance obligation includes various components of 
goods and services, or when the compensation is variable (e.g. , bonuses for timely 
completion). 

The examples that follow illustrate how such complex contracts are dealt with under the 
converged standards. As you go through these cases, notice how the end result/treatment 
does not deviate substantially from that under the old revenue recognition standards; 
instead it is just the conceptual approach and, in some cases, the terminology that differs. 

Example2-4 

A construction company, ABC Inc., enters into a contract with XYZ Inc. to construct 
a commercial building. The two parties identify several goods and services that must 
be provided, including pre-construction engineering, construction of the building's 
individual components, plumbing, electrical works, and interior finishing. 

Question: When it comes to "identifying the performance obligation;' can ABC treat each 
specific item as a separate performance obligation to which revenue can be allocated? 
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Solution 

The converged standards state that in order to determine whether a good or service is 
distinct for purposes of identifying performance obligations, (I) the customer should 
be able to benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other 
readily available resources, and (2) the seller's promise to transfer the good or service 
to the customer must be separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. 
In this case, the second criterion is not met because the seller has been contracted to 
construct the building, not the separate goods and services. Therefore, when it comes 
to recognizing revenue, ABC cannot treat each good or service as a distinct source 
of revenue. Construction of the building is the single performance obligation in this 
contract. 

Example 2-5 

ABC's building construction contract with XYZ specifies consideration of $2 million. 
ABC expects to incur costs amounting to $1 ,700,000 to satisfy the terms of the contract. 
During Year 1, ABC incurs $1,190,000 in costs. 

Question: Given that costs incurred accurately reflect the completion status of the 
contract, how much revenue should ABC recognize for Year I? 

Solution 

The converged standards state that when performance obligations will be satisfied 
over multiple accounting periods, revenue must be recognized over time based 
on progress made toward satisfying the obligation. Since ABC has incurred 70% 
(= 1, 190,000/1 , 700,000) of total expected contract costs, it will recognize $1 ,400,000 
(70% of $2 million) in revenue in Year I. 

Note that this is the same amount of revenue that would be recognized using the 
percentage-of-completion method. However, the converged standards do not make 
specific use of that term. They simply require that revenue be recognized based on 
relative completion of the performance obligation. 

Example2-6 

Now assume that ABC's building construction contract with XYZ is worth $2 million 
plus a bonus payment of $300,000 if the project is completed within two years. ABC has 
limited experience with similar types of contracts, and many factors outside its control 
(e.g., weather, regulatory reforms, availability of materials) could delay completion. 
ABC expects to incur $1,700,000 worth of costs to complete the building. It incurs 
$1,190,000 in costs Year I. 

Question: Given that costs incurred provide an appropriate measure of progress toward 
contract completion, how much revenue should ABC recognize in Year 1? 
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Solution 

This example illustrates the treatment of variable consideration under the converged 
standards. Variable consideration may be recognized as revenue only if the company 
can conclude that it will not have to reverse the cumulative revenue in the future. In 
this example, ABC is unable to reach this conclusion due to(!) its limited experience, 
and (2) the various factors outside its control that could delay the project. Therefore, it 
cannot recognize any of the bonus as revenue in Year 1. 

Example2-7 

Continuing from Example 2-6, now assume that at the beginning of Year 2 the two 
parties to the contract agree to change the building floor plan and modify the contract. 
As a result, the contract will now be worth $2.2 million, and the $300,000 bonus will 
now be paid out as long as the project is completed in another 1.5 years (2.5 years from 
initiation). The changes will result in an increase in ABC's costs amounting to $150,000, 
but now, with an additional six months to earn the bonus, ABC believes that it does meet 
the criteria for being able to recognize the bonus as revenue. 

Question: How should ABC account for the changes in the contract? 

Solution 

First of all, you should note that previous standards did not provide a general framework 
for accounting for contract modifications, while the converged standards do provide 
guidance on whether a change in a contract is a new contract or just a modification of 
an existing contract. In order to be considered a new contract, the change would need 
to involve goods and services that are distinct from the goods and services already 
transferred. 

In this example, the changes do not meet the criteria for a new contract, so we are 
dealing with a modification of the contract. This requires the company to reflect the 
impact on a cumulative catch-up basis, where it must update the transaction price and 
measure of progress. 

ABC's expected total revenue from the project is now $2.5 million ($2 million 
original amount+ $200,000 new consideration+ $300,000 completion bonus). 

Its completion status is now at 64.32% ($1 ,190,000 costs incurred/total expected 
costs of $1,700,000 + $150,000). 

Based on the updated completion status and expected total revenue, ABC must 
recognize a total amount of $1,608,108 (calculated as 64.32% of $2.5 million) in 
revenue. 

ABC has already recognized $1,400,000 worth of revenue (from Example 2-5), so 
it must now recognize an additional $208,108 of revenue as a cumulative catch-up 
adjustment on the date of the contract modification. 

©2017Wiley 



UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

IFRS does not 
specifically refer 
to a "matching 
principle," but rather 
toa "matching 
concept," or to a 
process resulting in 
"matching of costs 
with revenues." 

The converged standards also lay down specific accounting treatments for certain related 
costs. For example, incremental costs of obtaining a contract and certain costs incurred to 
fulfill a contract must be capitalized (i.e. , reported as an asset on the balance sheet rather 
than as an expense on the income statement). All other factors remaining the same, if a 
company had expensed these incremental costs in the years prior to adopting the converged 
standards, its profitability will initially improve under the converged standards. 

Further, the converged standards lay down rather extensive disclosure requirements: 

Companies are required to disclose information about contracts with customers 
classified into different categories of contracts. Categories might be based on the 
type of product, the geographic region, the type of customer or sales channel, the 
type of contract pricing terms, the contract duration, or the timing of transfers. 
Companies are also required to disclose balances of any contract-related assets 
and liabilities and significant changes in those balances, remaining performance 
obligations and transaction prices allocated to those obligations, and any 
significant judgments and changes in judgments related to revenue recognition. 
Significant judgments are those used in determining timing and amounts of 
revenue to be recognized. 

The converged standards will affect some industries more than others. The impact will be 
felt more by industries where bundled sales are common, such as telecommunications and 
software. 

LOS 24e: Describe general principles of expense recognition, specific 
expense recognition applications, and implications of expense recognition 
choices for financial analysis. Vol 3, pp 170-180 

The IASB framework defines expenses as "decreases in economic benefits during the 
accounting period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of 
liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those relating to distributions to 
equity participants."8 

Expenses also include losses, which may or may not result from the ordinary activities 
of the business. The most important principle of expense recognition is the matching 
principle, which requires that expenses be matched with associated revenues when 
recognizing them on the income statement. If goods bought in the current year remain 
unsold at the end of the year, their cost is not included in the cost of goods sold for the 
current year to calculate current period profits. 

Instead, the cost of these goods will be subtracted from next period's revenues once 
they are sold. Certain expenses (e.g., administrative costs) cannot be directly linked to 
the generation of revenues. These expenses are called period costs and are allocated 
systematically with the passage of time. 

8 - lASB, Framework fo r the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraph 70. 
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Example 2-8: Matching of Inventory Costs with Revenues 

In its first year of business (2008), Brainiac Inc. made the following purchases: 

Units Purchased Cost per Unit Total Cost 

First Quarter 2,500 $20 $50,000 

Second Quarter 3,550 $22 $78,100 

Third Quarter 4,200 $25 $105,000 

Fourth Quarter 3,500 $26 $91,000 

TOTAL 13,750 $324,100 

Brainiac sold 9,100 units during 2008 at a price of $30 per unit. Ending inventory 
consists of 4,650 units from the most recent purchases. Calculate total revenue and the 
cost of goods sold during the year. 

Solution 

Total revenue= 9,100 x $30 per unit= $273,000 

The cost of the 9,100 units sold during 2008 will be expensed (included in COGS and 
matched against 2008 revenues). The cost of the remaining 4,650 units will remain in 
inventory. 

Calculation of cost of goods sold: 

First Quarter 

Second Quarter 

Third Quarter 

TOTAL 

Units Purchased 

2,500 

3,550 

3,050 

9,100 

Calculation of ending inventory: 

Third Quarter 

Fourth Quarter 

TOTAL 

Units 

1,150 

3,500 

4,650 

Cost per Unit 

$20 

$22 

$25 

Cost per Unit 

$25 

$26 

Total Cost 

$50,000 

$78,100 

$76,250 

$204,350 

Total Cost 

$28,750 

$91,000 

$119,750 

To confirm that all costs ($324, I 00) are accounted for, we add the cost of inventory 
apportioned to COGS and the cost allocated to ending inventory. 

$204,350 + $119,750 = $324,100 
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The various 
inventory cost flow 
assumptions are 
demonstrated in 
Reading 28. 

All three methods 
are allowed under 
U.S. GAAP. IFRS 
allows FIFO and 
weighted-average 
cost methods, but 
does not pennit use 
of LIFO. 

In 2008, cost of goods sold will be matched against revenues as follows: 

Total revenue 
Cost of goods sold 

Gross profit 

$273,000 

$(204,350) 

$68,650 

Ending inventory ($119,750) will be matched against revenues in 2009 when these units 
are sold. 

Inventory Methods 

If a company can specifically identify which units of inventory have been sold over 
the year and which ones remain in stock, it can use the specific identification method 
for valuing its inventory. Automobiles, for example, can be valued using this method. 
However, if sales are composed of identical units that are sold in high volumes (e.g. , 
pencils), the separate identification method becomes difficult to administer. In such 
situations, the following methods of inventory valuation can be used: 

First-in, first-out (FIFO): This method assumes that items purchased first are sold first. 
Therefore, ending inventory is composed of the most recent purchases. FIFO is an 
appropriate method for valuing inventory that has a limited shelf life. For example, older 
food products will be sold first to ensure that available stock is fresh. 

Last-in, first-out (LIFO): This method assumes that items purchased most recently are sold 
first. Therefore, ending inventory is composed of the earliest purchases. The LIFO method 
is suitable when the physical flow of the item is such that the latest item must be sold first, 
for example, stacks of lumber in a lumberyard. This method is popular in the United States 
because of its income tax benefits. 

Weighted-average cost: Under this method, total inventory costs are allocated evenly 
across all units. Inventory valuation and analysis are covered in detail in Reading 28. 

Inventory Costing Methods 

Method 

FIFO 

LIFO 

Weighted­
average cost 

Description 

Costs of the earliest items 
purchased are included in cost 
of goods sold first. 

Costs of the most recent 
purchases are included in cost 
of goods sold first. 

Distributes total costs over total 
units available for sale. 

Cost of Goods Sold Ending Inventory 

Earliest purchases Most recent purchases 

Most recent purchases Earliest purchases 

Average cost Average cost 

© 2017Wiley 



UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Issues in Expense Recognition 

Doubtful Accounts 

When sales are made on credit, there is a possibility that some customers will not be able 
to meet their payment obligations. Companies can choose to wait for actual customer 
defaults to recognize these losses (direct write-off method). However, the matching 
principle requires companies to estimate bad debts at the time of revenue recognition. 
These estimated uncollectable amounts are expensed on the income statement for the period 
during which the related sales were made (they are not directly adjusted to revenues). 

Warranties 

When companies provide warranties for their products, there is a possibility that they 
might have to pay for repairing or replacing defective products in the future. Rather than 
recognizing these expenses only when they are actually incurred (when warranty claims 
are made), the matching principle requires companies to estimate future warranty-related 
expenses and recognize these amounts on the income statement in the period of sale, and to 
update this amount to bring in line with actual expenses incurred over the life of the warranty. 

Depreciation 

Companies incur significant costs to acquire long-lived assets that provide economic 
benefits over an extended period of time. Under IFRS, long-lived assets may be valued 
using either the cost model or the revaluation model. In contrast, U.S. GAAP permits only 
the use of the cost model. 

Under the cost model, the asset is reported at a cost less than any accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is the process of allocating the cost of long-lived assets across 
the accounting periods for which they provide economic benefits. The allocation of costs to 
several periods matches these costs with associated revenues. With regard to depreciation, 
IFRS requires the following: 

Each component of an asset should be depreciated separately. 
Estimates of residual value and useful life should be reviewed annually. 

The choice of depreciation method depends on how a company expects to utilize the 
benefits from a long-lived asset over time. 

Under the straight-line method, the cost of the asset less its estimated residual value is 
spread even! y over the estimated useful life of the asset. This method requires estimates 
of residual value and useful life. Residual value is the amount that the company expects to 
receive upon sale of the asset at the end of its useful life. 

Under accelerated methods of recording depreciation, a greater proportion of the asset's 
cost is allocated to the initial years of its use and a lower proportion of the cost is allocated 
to later years. Accelerated methods are used when the asset is expected to be utilized more 
heavily in the years immediately following its purchase. 

Accelerated methods of depreciation result in higher depreciation expense and lower net 
income in the early years of an asset's life. In later years, accelerated methods recognize 
less depreciation expense in every accounting period, resulting in higher net income. 
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Amortization 

Amortization refers to the allocation of the cost of an intangible asset over its useful life. 

Intangible assets with identifiable useful lives are amortized evenly over their lives 
in the same way as long-term assets are depreciated using the straight-line method. 
However, there are no estimates for residual value involved in the calculation. 

Intangible assets with indefinite lives (e.g., goodwill) are not amortized; instead 
they are tested annually for impairment. An asset is impaired when its current 
value is lower than its book value. If an asset is deemed impaired, an impairment 
charge (expense) is made on the income statement to bring its value down to its 
true current value. 

Demonstration of Depreciation Methods 

A variety of methods can be used to calculate depreciation expense. While annual 
depreciation expense might vary from method to method, total depreciation expense over 
the life of the asset will be the same under all methods. 

Straight-line depreciation: An equal amount of depreciation expense is charged every year 
during the asset's useful life. Annual depreciation expense is calculated as: 

lccost-Residual value)/Useful life I 
Declining balance depreciation: This is an accelerated method of depreciation, which 
applies a constant rate of depreciation to a declining book value. To compute depreciation 
expense, we must determine the straight-line rate, which equals 100% divided by the 
number of years that the asset is expected to remain in use. For example, if the asset 's useful 
life is five years, the straight-line rate would be 20% (100/5). Next, we must determine the 
acceleration factor, which is multiplied by the straight-line rate. The product of the two is 
then applied to the net book value of the asset to determine depreciation expense. 

The double-declining balance (DDB) method uses an acceleration factor of 200 (it 
depreciates the asset at a rate that is two times the straight-line rate). Depreciation expense 
under the DDB method is calculated as: 

1(2/Useful life)x(Cost-Accumulated depreciation) I 

Unlike straight-line depreciation, the declining balance method does not explicitly take 
into account the residual value of the asset in determining depreciation expense each year. 
Under the declining balance method, the asset is depreciated only until its net book value 
equals its residual value. 

Example 2-9 demonstrates the depreciation of long-term assets under the straight-line and 
double-declining balance methods. 
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Example 2-9: Depreciation Methods 

A company purchases a new generator for its factory. The following data is available: 
Cost of the generator $38,000 
Estimated useful life 5 years 
Residual value $3,000 

Calculate the annual depreciation expense under the straight-line method and the double-
declining balance method. 

Solution 

I. Straight-line depreciation; (38,000 - 3,000)/5; $7,000 

2. Double-declining balance depreciation 

IDDB Depreciation ; (2/Useful life)x(Cost - Accumulated depreciation) I 

Every year, a 40% (2/5) depreciation rate is applied to the declining book value to 
determine depreciation expense. 

Net book value = 
Historical cost - Accumulated depreciation 

Net book value at the end of Year 1 

DDB Depreciation Schedule 
; $38,000 - $15,200; $22,800 

Depreciation Accumulated Net Book 
Year Calculation Expense Depreciation Value 

$ $ $ $ 

38,000 

1 38,000 x 40% 15,200 15,200 ~22,800 

2 22,800 x 40% ~9,120 "·'wl 13,680 

3 13,680 x 40% 5,472 29,792 8,208 

4 8,208 x 40% 3,283 33,075 4,925 

5 4,925 - 3,000 1,925 35,000 3,000 

Total $35,000 
Accumulated depreciation equals total 
depreciation expense charged against the 

I Depreciation expense for Year 2 I asset to date. 

; (2/5) x ($38,000 - $15,200) ; $9,120 
Accumulated depreciation at the end of 
Year 2; $15,200 + $9,120; $24,320 
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Annual depreciation expense is sensitive to two estimates- residual value and useful life. 
An increase in the value of these two estimates would decrease yearly depreciation expense 
and increase reported net income. Let's tweak the information provided in Example 2-5 to 
illustrate this. If the residual value of the generator is increased to $6,000 (from $3 ,000) and 
the useful life is increased to 8 years (from 5 years), annual depreciation expense under the 
straight-line method would equal $4,000 [(38,000 - 6,000)/8]. The increase in residual value 
and useful life estimates leads to a reduction in depreciation expense (from $7,000 to $4,000). 

Implications for Financial Analysis 

A company's estimates for doubtful accounts and warranties and its estimates of useful 
lives and salvage values of long-lived assets directly affect net income. The subjective 
nature of these estimates allows management to manipulate reported financial statements. 
Therefore, when analyzing financial statements, analysts must carefully scrutinize the 
validity of used estimates. For example, if a company reports lower warranty expense in the 
current year compared to the previous year, an analyst should consider whether this is due 
to better and more reliable products, or because management had recognized an artificially 
high warranty expense in the previous period to inflate net income in the current period. 

Accounting estimates should also be compared to those of other companies that operate in 
the same industry to check their validity and evaluate management integrity. If a company 
has a lower provision for doubtful accounts compared to a peer company, an analyst 
should assess whether this is because of stricter credit policies or because the company has 
a more aggressive accounting approach. As with revenue recognition, relative conservatism 
in expense recognition has a direct impact on reported financial ratios. 

Accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements 
and the management discussion and analysis (MD&A) section of the annual report. 

LESSON 3: NON-RECURRING ITEMS, NON-OPERATING ITEMS 

LOS 24f: Describe the financial reporting treatment and analysis of 
non-recurring items (including discontinued operations, extraordinary 
items, unusual or infrequent items) and changes in accounting standards. 
Vol 3, pp 179-185 

In order to forecast a company's future earnings, analysts must project the company's 
revenues and expenses into the future. The most popular way of doing this is to use prior 
years' income and expense items as base figures , and to separate revenues and expenses 
that are likely to continue in the future from those that are not as likely to occur in the 
future (non-recurring items). Two examples of non-recurring items are discontinued 
operations and extraordinary items. 

Discontinued Operations 

Under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP, the income statement must separately report an 
operation as a "discontinued operation" when the company disposes of, or decides to 
dispose of, one of its component operations, and the component is operationally and 
physically separable from the rest of the firm. 

Discontinued operations are reported net of tax as a separate line item after income 
from continuing operations (this treatment is permitted under IFRS and U.S. GAAP). 
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As the disposed operation will not earn revenue for the company going forward, it 
will not be taken into account when formulating expectations regarding the future 
peiformance of the company. 

Extraordinary Items 

IFRS does not allow any items to be classified as extraordinary. U.S. GAAP defines 
extraordinary items as being both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. A 
significant degree of judgment is involved in classifying an item as extraordinary. For 
example, losses caused by Hurricane Katrina in the Unites States were not classified as 
extraordinary items because natural disasters could reasonably be expected to reoccur. 

Extraordinary items are reported net of tax and as a separate line item after income 
from continuing operations (below discontinued operations). 
Analysts can eliminate extraordinary items from expectations about a company's 
future financial performance unless there is an indication that these extraordinary 
items may reoccur. 
For fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2015, U.S. GAAP will no longer 
include the concept of extraordinary items. Under the new guidance, items will 
simply be classified as unusual, infrequent, or unusual and infrequent. 

The likelihood of certain other items continuing in the future is not as clear and requires 
analysts to make judgments regarding their impact on future profits. Two examples of such 
items are unusual or infrequent items and changes in accounting standards. 

Unusual or Infrequent Items 

These items are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence. Examples of such 
items include restructuring charges and gains and losses arising from selling an asset for 
more or less than its carrying value. 

These items are listed as separate line items on the income statement but are 
included in income from continuing operations and hence reported before-tax. 
Analysts should not ignore all unusual items. When forecasting future profits, 
analysts should assess whether each of them is likely to reoccur. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 
A change in accounting policy could be required by standard setters or be decided 
on by management to provide a better reflection of the company's performance. 
An example of change in accounting policy is moving away from LIFO to the 
FIFO method of inventory valuation. Changes in accounting policies are applied 
retrospectively, unless it is impractical to do so. This means that financial data for 
all periods shown in the financial report must be presented as if the new principle 
were in use through the entire period. This retrospective change facilitates 
comparisons across reporting periods. Further, a description of and justification for 
the change are provided in the footnotes to the financial statements. 
A change in an accounting estimate (e.g., a change in the residual value of an 
asset), is applied prospectively and affects financial statements for only the 
current and future periods. No adjustments are made to prior statements and the 
adjustment is not shown on the face of the income statement. Significant changes 
in accounting estimates should be disclosed in the footnotes . 
A correction of prior-period errors is made by restating all prior-period financial 
statements presented in the financial report. In addition, disclosure about the error is 
required in the footnotes. Analysts should carefully assess these disclosures, as they 
may point to weaknesses in the company's accounting system or financial controls. 
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LOS 24g: Distinguish between the operating and non-operating components 
of the income statement. Vol 3, pp 184-185 

IFRS does not define operating activities. Therefore, companies that choose to report 
operating income or the results of operating activities need to ensure that such activities 
would normally be regarded as operating. 

On the other hand, U.S. GAAP defines operating activities as those that generally involve 
producing and delivering goods and providing services, and include all transactions and 

other events that are not defined as investing or financing activities.9 

For example, a cloth manufacturer might receive dividend and interest income from 
investments in securities issued by other entities. These sources of income do not relate 
to the core business operations of the manufacturer and will be listed under non-operating 
components of net income. Interest payments on loans taken by the manufacturer are 
also non-operating items because interest expense is incurred due to a financing decision. 
Analysts typically use a firm's earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) as a measure of its 
operating income. For financial services companies, however, interest expense and income 
are related to their core businesses and constitute operating components of their business. 

LESSON 4: EARNINGS PER SHARE, ANALYSIS OF THE INCOME 
STATEMENT, AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

LOS 24h: Describe how earnings per share is calculated and calculate and 
interpret a company's earnings per share (both basic and diluted earnings 
per share) for both simple and complex capital structures. Vol 3, pp 185-195 

LOS 24i: Distinguish between dilutive and antidilutive securities, and 
describe the implications of each for the earnings per share calculation. 
Vol 3, pp 185-195 

Earnings per share is one of the most important profitability measures for publicly listed 
firms. Earnings refer to the share of net income of a company that is owned by common 
shareholders only. 

A firm can have a simple capital structure or a complex capital structure. A company has 
a simple capital structure when it does not have any financial instruments outstanding that 
can be converted into common stock. Firms with simple capital structures are required to 
report basic earnings per share (EPS) only. 

Income available to common shareholders 
Basic EPS = ----------------­

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

Net income- Preferred dividends 
Basic EPS = ----------------­

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

Preferred dividends are subtracted from net income to calculate earnings available to 
common shareholders. This is because preferred dividends are not included in expenses on 
the income statement in the calculation of net income. 

9 - FASS ASC Master Glossary. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

The weighted average number of shares outstanding refers to the number of shares that 
were outstanding over the year (adjusted for stock splits and stock dividends), weighted 
according to the proportion of the year that they were outstanding. 

Example 4-1: Basic EPS 

The information provided here pertains to Liu Pie. for the year ended December 31, 
2008. Calculate basic EPS for the company. 

Net income for 2008 
Preferred dividends for the year 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

Solution 

Basic EPS = ($2,625,000-$420,000)/600,000 

= $3.68 

$2,625,000 
$420,000 

600,000 

Stock repurchases result in a decrease in the number of shares outstanding. Therefore, 
reacquired shares are excluded from the computation of weighted average number 
of shares from the date of repurchase. For example, if a company had 1,000 shares 
outstanding at the start of the year and repurchased 100 shares in July, the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding would be calculated as: 

Weighted average number of shares= (1,000 x 12112)- (100 x 6/12) = 950 

In contrast, stock splits and stock dividends (stock bonuses) result in an increase in the 
number of shares outstanding. 

In a stock split, existing shares in a company are "split" into more shares. A 2-for-l 
stock split will increase the number of shares held by a holder of 1,000 shares by 
1,000 shares to 2,000 shares. After a 3-for-2 stock split, the owner of 1,000 shares 
will see her shareholding increase by 500 shares to 1,500 shares. 
A stock dividend is a dividend paid as additional shares of stock rather than cash. 
These additional shares are granted to each shareholder in proportion to her current 
holding. After a 25% stock dividend, the holder of 1,000 shares will get 250 (25%) 
more shares to take her total shareholding to 1,250 shares. 

Important: If a company declares a stock split or a stock dividend, the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding should be calculated based on the assumption that the 
additional (newly granted) shares have been outstanding since the date that the original 
shares were outstanding. Example 4-2 will clarify this important point. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Shares issued during 
lheyearenterthe 
computation from 
the date of issuance. 

The stock split and 
stock dividend are 
applied to all shares 
outstanding prior to 
the split or dividend 
announcement. They 
are not applied to 
any shares issued or 
repurchased after the 
announcement. The 
stock split applies 
only to the I million 
shares outstanding at 
January I. The stock 
dividend applies 
to the I million 
shares outstanding 
since January I, the 
additional shares 
issued on those I 
million shares in 
the stock split, and 
the 500,000 shares 
that were issued on 
June30. 

The if-converted 
method is used 
to calculate 
diluted EPS when 
the company 
has convertible 
securities 
outstanding. 

Example 4-2: Basic EPS Calculation 

LEM Company has reported net income of $1,850,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2008. The company declared preferred dividends of $150,000. The 
following information regarding shares outstanding is available: 

Shares outstanding at January l , 2008 1,000,000 J 
2-for-1 stock split on April 1, 2008 
Shares issued on June 30, 2008 500,000 
10% stock dividend on September 1, 2008 
Shares repurchased on October 1, 2008 150,000 
Shares outstanding on December 31, 2008 2,600,000 

Calculate 2008 basic EPS for LEM. 

Solution 

Shares outstanding on January 1 1,000,000 

2-for-l stock split 1,000,000 

2,000,000 VERY 

10% stock dividend 200,000 IMPORTANT 

Shares outstanding since January 1 (for 12 months) 2,200,000 When weighting 
the shares, assume 
that the new shares 

Shares issued on June 30 500,000 issued from the 
stock split or stock 

10% stock dividend 50,000 dividend were 

Shares outstanding since June 30 (for 6 months) 550,000 outstanding NOT 
since date of split 
or stock dividend 
declaration, but from 

Shares repurchased on October 1 the date from which 

Not outstanding for 3 months 150,000 
the original shares 
were outstanding. 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

= (2,200,000x 12/12)+ (550,000x6/12)-(150,000x3/12) = 2,437,500 

Basic EPS = 
(Net income-Preferred dividends) 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

Basic EPS = ($1,850,000-$150,000)/2,437,500 = $0.70 

A complex capital structure is one that contains certain financial instruments that can 
be converted into common stock (e.g., convertible bonds, convertible preferred stock, 
warrants, and options). These financial instruments are potentially dilutive, so companies 
with complex capital structures are required to report basic and diluted EPS. A dilutive 
security is one whose conversion into shares of common stock would result in a reduction 
in EPS. EPS calculated after taking into account all dilutive financial instruments in the 
capital structure is known as diluted EPS. Financial instruments that can be converted 
into common stock, but whose conversion does not reduce EPS below basic EPS, are 
antidilutive. Antidilutive financial instruments are not considered in the calculation of 
diluted EPS. Accounting standards require companies to disclose diluted EPS because this 
information is important for existing common shareholders. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Diluted EPS When a Company Has Convertible Preferred Stock Outstanding 

If convertible preferred shares were converted into common shares: 

We would add back dividends paid to convertible preferred shareholders to our 
numerator (earnings available to common shareholders). This is because the 
company would not be required to pay any preferred dividends on convertible 
preferred shares if these shares were converted into ordinary shares. 
We would increase the number of shares outstanding by the number of common 
shares that would be issued to convertible preferred shareholders upon conversion. 

Diluted EPS = Net income- Preferred dividends+ Convertible preferred dividends 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding+ 
New common shares issued upon conversion 

Example 4-3: Diluted EPS 

Xingia Inc. earns profits of $2,500,000 for the year ended December 31 , 2008. Xingia 
has 1,000,000 weighted average shares outstanding during the year and pays taxes at the 
rate of 40%. Xingia also has 1,000 convertible preferred shares outstanding, which pay a 
dividend of $50 per share every year. Each convertible preferred share can be converted 
into 100 common shares. Calculate Xingia's basic and diluted EPS for 2008. 

Solution 

Basic EPS = ($2,500,000 - $50,000)/1 ,000,000 = $2.45 

Each preferred share can be converted into 100 shares of common stock. Therefore: 

Number of common shares issued upon conversion= 100 x 1,000 = 100,000 

Diluted EPS = ($2,500,000 - $50,000 + $50,000)/(1,000,000 + 100,000) = $2.27 

Since basic EPS equals $2.45 and EPS assuming that convertible preferred shares are 
converted is lower ($2.27), the convertible preferred shares are dilutive. If EPS after 
conversion were greater than basic EPS, these shares would be antidilutive and would 
not be included in the calculation of diluted EPS. 

A quick way to determine whether convertible preferred shares are dilutive is by calculating: 

Convertible preferred dividends 

New shares issued upon conversion 

If this per share figure is lower than basic EPS, the convertible preferred shares are 
dilutive, and should be included in the calculation of diluted EPS. If this figure is greater 
than basic EPS, the convertible preferred shares are antidilutive and should be ignored in 
the calculation of diluted EPS. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

The preference 
shares in this 
example cannot 
be converted into 
ordinary shares, 
so they are not 
considered in the 
calculation of 
diluted EPS. 

Diluted EPS When a Company Has Convertible Debt Outstanding 

If convertible bonds were converted into ordinary shares: 

We would add interest payments that were made to bondholders back to the 
numerator. This is because the company would not be required to make any interest 
payments to holders of convertible bonds if these bonds were converted to ordinary 
shares. However, the increase in earnings available to common shareholders is not 
the entire amount of interest savings from inversion. Recall that interest expense is 
deducted from operating profits before the calculation of net income before tax, so 
interest expense results in a tax shield for the company. Interest savings adjusted 
for the tax shield benefits that have already been realized will be added to the 
numerator. 

The number of shares outstanding will increase by the number of common shares 
that would be issued to convertible debt holders upon conversion. 

Diluted EPS _ Net income - Preferred dividends+ Convertible debt interest x (l -1) 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding + 
New common shares issued upon conversion 

Example 4-4: Diluted EPS 

Xingia Inc. earns profits of $2,500,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008. Xingia 
has a weighted average of 1,000,000 shares outstanding during the year and pays 
taxes at the rate of 40%. Xingia has 1,000 preferred shares outstanding, which offer a 
dividend of $50 per share every year. Xingia also has $75,000 par of 10% convertible 
bonds outstanding, which are convertible into 7 ,000 shares of common stock. Calculate 
Xingia's basic and diluted EPS for 2008. 

Solution 

Basic EPS ; ($2,500,000 - $50,000)/1,000,000 shares; $2.45 

To deterntine diluted EPS, we must first calculate the after-tax interest on convertible debt. 

After-tax interest on convertible debt; $7,500 (1 - 0.40); $4,500 

The convertible bonds can be converted into 7,000 shares of common stock. 

Diluted EPS ; ($2,500,000 - $50,000 + $4,500)/(1 ,000,000 + 7 ,000); $2.43 

Since basic EPS is $2.45 and EPS assunting that convertible bonds are converted is 
lower ($2.43), the company's outstanding convertible bonds are dilutive, and diluted EPS 
for 2008 equals $2.43. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

A quick way to determine whether convertible bonds are dilutive is by calculating: 

Convertible bond interest (1-1) 

New shares issued upon conversion 

If this per share figure is lower than basic EPS, the convertible bonds are dilutive and should 
be included in the calculation of diluted EPS. If this figure is greater than basic EPS, the 
convertible bonds are antidilutive and should be ignored in the calculation of diluted EPS. 

Diluted EPS When a Company Has Stock Options, Warrants, or Their Equivalents 
Outstanding 

In the calculation of diluted EPS, stock options and warrants are accounted for using the 
treasury stock method (required under U.S. GAAP). The treasury stock method assumes 
that all the funds received by the company from the exercise of options and warrants are 
used by the company to repurchase shares at the average market price for the period. The 
resulting net increase in number of shares outstanding equals the increase in shares from 
the exercise of options and warrants minus the number of shares repurchased. 

Stock options and warrants are assumed to be exercised if the strike or exercise price is lower 
than the average market price during the year. The proceeds to the company from the exercise 
of the options equal the exercise price multiplied by the number of options. These proceeds 
are used to repurchase shares at the average market price. In calculating diluted EPS: 

No adjustment must be made to the numerator because the exercise of options or 
warrants has no impact on income available to common shareholders. 
The number of shares outstanding increases by the number of shares issued upon 
exercise of options minus the number of shares repurchased with the proceeds of 
option exercise. A shortcut for calculating the net increase in the number of shares 
is: 

Market price- Exercise price Number of shares created 
Market price x from the exercise of options 

Diluted EPS = ___________ N_e_t m_· _co_m_e __________ _ 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding+ New shares issued at 
option exercise - Shares repurchased from proceeds of option exercise 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Example 4-5: Diluted EPS 

Xingia Inc. earns profits of $2,500,000 for the year ended December 31 , 2008. Xingia has 
1,000,000 shares outstanding during the year and pays taxes at the rate of 40%. Xingia 
paid preference dividends amounting to $50,000 in 2008. The average market price of 
Xingia's stock over the year was $50. Xingia has 10,000 stock options outstanding, which 
have an exercise price of $30. Calculate Xingia's diluted EPS for 2008. 

Solution 

Since the average market price exceeds the exercise price of the options, they should be 
assumed to have been exercised. 

Number of common shares issued to option holders ; 10,000 

Cash proceeds from exercise of options; $300,000 (10,000 shares x $30) 

Number of shares that can be purchased at average market price with these funds 
; $300,000/$50 ; 6,000 

Net increase in common shares outstanding from the exercise of options 
; 10,000 - 6,000 ; 4,000 

Diluted EPS; $2,500,000 - $50,000/(1,000,000 + 10,000 - 6,000); $2.44 

Diluted EPS ($2.44) is lower than basic EPS ($2.45). Therefore, the options are dilutive 
and should be considered in the calculation of diluted EPS. 

When options/warrants are exercised (average market price is greater than exercise price) 
they result in an increase in the number of shares outstanding. Because their exercise has 
an impact on only the denominator of the EPS formula, options and warrants are always 
dilutive if exercised. 

Now let's calculate diluted EPS for Xingia assuming that all three types of potentially 
dilutive financial instruments are present in its capital structure. 

Important: In determining which potentially dilutive financial instruments should be 
included in the diluted EPS calculation, each of the financial instruments must be evaluated 
individually and independently to determine whether they are dilutive. If there are any 
antidilutive financial instruments, they must be ignored in the diluted EPS calculation. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Example 4-6: Diluted EPS 

Xingia Inc. earns profits of $2,500,000 for the year ended December 31, 2008. Xingia 
has 1,000,000 weighted average shares outstanding during the year and pays taxes at the 
rate of 40%. The average market price of Xingia's stock over the year was $50. Xingia 
has 1,000 convertible preferred shares outstanding, with each share convertible into 100 
shares of common stock. It pays a dividend of $50 per share on these shares. Xingia also 
has $75,000 par of 10% convertible bonds outstanding, which are convertible into 7,000 
shares of common stock. Further, it has 10,000 stock options outstanding, which have an 
exercise price of $30. Calculate Xingia's basic and diluted EPS for 2008. 

Solution 

Basic EPS = ($2,500,000-$50,000)/1,000,000 shares= $2.45 

DilutedEPS 

In Examples 4-3, 4-4, and 4-5, we have already detennined that all three potentially 
dilutive financial instruments are, in fact, dilutive. Xingia's diluted 2008 EPS is 
calculated as: 

[Net income -
Prefi rred ] Convertible [ Convertible ] 
d" -~ d + preferred + debt x (1 -t) 

Diluted EPS = 
ivi en s dividends interest 

Weighted Shares from Shares from Shares conversion of conversion of 
average + convertible + 

convertible 
+ issuable from 

shares preferred shares debt 
stock options 

Diluted EPS = 2,500,000-50,000+50,000+ 7,500(1-0.4) 
1,000,000+ 100,000+ 7,000+4,000 

$2.25 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Example 4-7: Antidilutive Financial Instruments 

Acme Inc. reported a net income of $2,500,000 over the year. During the year its 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding was 1,000,000. Acme also had 
25,000 convertible preferred shares outstanding on which it paid a dividend of $7 per 
share. Each of these shares are convertible into 2 shares of common stock. Calculate 
basic EPS and diluted EPS for Acme for the year. 

Solution 

Basic EPS = [(2,500,000 - 175,000)/1,000,000] = $2.33 

Diluted EPS 

If the convertible preferred shares were converted into common shares, EPS would equal: 

($2,500,000-$175,000+$175,000)/(l,OOO,OOO+ 50,000) = $2.38 

EPS assuming the convertible preferred shares are converted into common stock ($2.38) 
is greater than basic EPS ($2.33). The convertible preferred shares are antidilutive, 
and should not be included in the calculation of diluted EPS. The firm 's diluted EPS is 
therefore the same as its basic EPS of $2.33. 

One final note: If dilutive financial instruments were issued during the year, the denominator 
of the diluted EPS formula would increase by the number of shares issued upon conversion/ 
exercise multiplied by the proportion of the year for which they were outstanding. For 
example, if dilutive convertible preferred shares that can be converted into 10,000 shares 
of common stock were issued after 9 months of the accounting year had passed, the 
denominator of the diluted EPS formula would be increased by 10,000 x (3112) = 2,500. 

Note: Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the presentation of EPS (basic EPS and diluted 
EPS) on the face of the income statement. 

LESSON 5: ANALYSIS OF THE INCOME STATEMENT AND COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

LOS 24j: Convert income statements to common-size income statements. 
Vol 3, pp 195-199 

LOS 24k: Evaluate a company's financial performance using common-size 
income statements and financial ratios based on the income statement. 
Vol 3, pp 195-199 

Analysis of the Income Statement 

Common-size income statements present each line item on the income statement as a 
percentage of sales. The standardization of each item removes the effect of company size 
and facilitates financial statement analysis, as the data can be used to conduct time-series 
(across time periods) and cross-sectional (across companies) analysis. 

While common-size income statements present most items as a percentage of sales, it is 
more appropriate to present income taxes as a percentage of pre-tax income. This ratio is 
known as the company's effective tax rate. In cross-sectional analysis, effective tax rates 
are compared across companies and sources of any differences are analyzed in detail. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Exhibit 5-1 presents common-size income statement of Liuson Company. Notice that the 
provision for income taxes has been expressed as a percentage of income before tax. 

Exhibit 5-1: Common-Size Income Statement 

Liuson Company 
Common-Size Income Statement 
For the year ended 2006 and 2007 

Total revenue 
Cost of goods sold 

Gross profit 

Operating expenses 

General expenses 
Depreciation 

Operating income 

Interest income 
Interest expense 

Other losses 

Income before income taxes 
Provision for income taxes 
Net income 

2006 

$ 

400,000 

(320,000) 

80,000 

(28,000) 

(8,000) 

44,000 

3,000 

(400) 

(1,800) 

44,800 

(16,000) 

28,800 

2006 2007 

% $ 

100.00 500,000 

80.00 (380,000) 

20.00 120,000 

7.00 (29,000) 

2.00 (12,000) 

11.00 79,000 

0.75 2,000 

0.10 (1 ,800) 

0.45 (4,200) 

11.20 75,000 

35.71 (21 ,000) 

7.20 54,000 

The things that stand out in Liuson's common-size statements are that: 

2007 

% 

100.00 

76.00 

24.00 

5.80 

2.40 

15.8 

0.40 

0.36 

0.84 

15.00 

28.00 

10.80 

Cost of goods sold has decreased from 80% to 76% of sales, so the gross margin 
has increased. 
General expenses decreased from 7% to 6% of sales. 
The net profit margin has increased significantly from 7% to 11 %. 

This implies that management is effectively controlling costs in order to boost profitability. 
Common-size income statements are discussed in detail in Reading 27. 

Income Statement Ratios 

Items listed on the income statement are used to calculate ratios to evaluate a company's 
profitability. Gross profit margin and net profit margin are the two most commonly used 
indicators of profitability. 

Net profit margin= Net income/Revenue 
Gross profit margin = Gross profit/Revenue 

Any subtotal on the income statement can also be expressed as a margin ratio by dividing 
it by total revenue. For example, operating margin is calculated as operating income 
(EBIT) divided by sales, and pre-tax margin is calculated as earnings before tax (EBT) 
divided by total revenue. 
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UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Comprehensive 
income =Net 
income plus other 
comprehensive 
income 

Also note that the 
"available-for-sale" 
classification no 
longer appears in 
lFRS as of 2010, 
although the 
relevant standard 
(lFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments) is not 
effective until 2018. 
However, although 
the available-for­
sale category will 
not exist, IFRS will 
still pennit certain 
equity invesunents 
to be measured at 
fair value with any 
unrealized holding 
gains or losses 
recognized in other 
comprehensive 
income if they 
are classified as 
financial assets 
measured at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive 
income. 

LOS 241: Describe, calculate, and interpret comprehensive income. 
Vol 3, pp 199-202 

LOS 24m: Describe other comprehensive income, and identify the major 
types of items included in it. Vol 3, pp 199-202 

Most revenues, gains, expenses, and losses are reported on the income statement to 
determine a company's net income. However, there are certain income and expense items 
that are excluded from the income statement; instead these items are reported directly 
in shareholders' equity (U.S. GAAP only), or in a separate statement of comprehensive 
income (IFRS and U.S. GAAP) as a part of other comprehensive income. 

IFRS defines total comprehensive income as "the change in equity during a period 
resulting from transactions and other events, other than those changes resulting from 
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners." 10 

Under U.S. GAAP, comprehensive income is defined as "the change in equity (net 
assets) of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and 
circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period 
except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners." 11 

Comprehensive income includes both net income and other revenues and expenses that are 
excluded from the net income calculation (other comprehensive income). Both net income 
and other comprehensive income have an impact on retained earnings. 

Beginning shareholders' equity+ Net income+ 
Ending shareholders' equity = Other comprehensive income - Dividends declared 

Suppose a company's beginning shareholders ' equity was $100 million. Its net income 
for the period was $10 million, and it declared $1 million as dividends. There was no 
repurchase or issuance of common stock during the year and the company's year-end 
shareholders ' equity stood at $130 million. The company's other comprehensive income 
will be calculated as: 

Other comprehensive income= $130m - lOOm - !Om+ Im= $21 million 

Items Classified as Other Comprehensive Income 

Four types of items are classified as other comprehensive income under both IFRS and 
U.S. GAAP: 

1. Foreign currency translation adjustments. 
2. Certain costs relating to the company's defined benefit post-retirement plans. 
3. Unrealized gains or losses on derivatives contracts, accounted for as hedges. 
4. Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities. 

Under IFRS, certain changes in the value of long-lived assets that are measured using the 
revaluation model (as opposed to the cost model) at fair value are also included in other 
comprehensive income. 

10 - !AS I, Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraph 7. 
11 - FASS ASC Section 220-10-05 [Comprehensive Income-Overall- Overview and Background]. 
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Example 5-1: Calculating Comprehensive Income 

Company XYZ - Selected Financial Statement Data 

Net income 
Dividends received from available-for-sale securities 
Untealized gain from foreign currency translation adjustment 
Dividends paid 
Reacquisition of common stock 
Untealized loss on derivatives (those considered as hedges) 
Untealized gain on available-for-sale securities 
Realized loss on sale of machinery 

$1,000 
60 
20 

(100) 
(300) 

(20) 
15 

(50) 

UNDERSTANDING INCOME STATEMENTS 

Comprehensive income equals net income plus other comprehensive income 

Net income 
Untealized gain from foreign currency adjustment 
Untealized loss on derivatives considered as hedges 
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 
Comprehensive Income 

Important points: 

$1,000 
20 Other 

(20) 
1

r---+--. comprehensive 
15 _J income = $15 

$1,015 

We do not include dividends from available-for-sale securities and the realized 
loss on machinery in other comprehensive income because they are already 
included in net income. 

We do not include reacquisition of common stock and dividends paid in 
the calculation because they are transactions that relate to owners. Other 
comprehensive income does not include the effect of investments by owners and 
distributions to owners. These transactions are accounted for in the statement of 
changes in shareholders' equity. 

When comparing the financial performances of companies, it is very important for analysts 
to examine significant differences in overall comprehensive income (as opposed to simply 
focusing on net income). 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

READING 25: UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

LESSON 1: BALANCE SHEET: COMPONENTS AND FORMAT 

The balance sheet (also called the statement of financial position or statement of financial 
condition) provides users with information regarding a company's assets , liabilities, and 
equity at a specific point in time. It also provides insights into the future earnings capacity 
of the company as well as indications regarding expected cash flows. 

LOS 25a: Describe the elements of the balance sheet: assets, liabilities, and 
equity. Vol 3, pp 212-213 

Assets 

Assets are resources under a company's control as a result of past transactions that are 
expected to generate future economic benefits for the company. 

Liabilities 

Liabilities are a company's obligations from previous transactions that are expected to 
result in outflows of economic benefits in the future. 

Assets and liabilities may arise from business transactions (e.g., the purchase of a piece of 
equipment) or as a result of accrual accounting. Differences between the timing of revenue 
and expense recognition (based on accrual accounting) and the timing of related cash flows 
give rise to current assets and liabilities. 

Assets and liabilities should only be recognized on the financial statements if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits associated with them will flow to or from the firm, and 
that the item's cost or value can be measured with reliability. 

Equity 

Equity represents the residual claim of shareholders on a company's assets after deducting all 
liabilities. Other terms commonly used for shareholders ' equity include stockholders ' equity, 
net assets, and owners ' equity. Equity can be created as a result of operating activities (business 
transactions that yield operating profits) and financing activities (issuance of common stock). 

LOS 25b: Describe the uses and limitations of the balance sheet in financial 
analysis. Vol 3, pg 213 

The balance sheet provides useful information regarding a company's financial position 
to both investors and lenders. However, balance sheet information should be interpreted 
carefully. Analysts should be careful not to view equity reported on the balance sheet as either 
the market or intrinsic value of a company's net assets because of the following reasons: 

Under current accounting standards, measurement bases of different assets and 
liabilities may vary considerably. For example, some assets and liabilities may be 
measured at historical cost, while others may be measured at current value. These 
differences can have a significant impact on reported figures. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

For a company, 
liquidity refers to the 
company's ability 
to meet short-term 
cash requirements. 
For an individual 
asset, liquidity refers 
to how quickly 
the asset can be 
converted to cash at 
a price close to its 
fair market value. 

The value of items reported on the balance sheet reflects their value at the end of 
the reporting period, which may not necessarily remain "current" at a later date. 
The balance sheet does not include qualitative factors (e.g., reputation, 
management skills, etc.) that have an important impact on the company's future 
cash-generating ability and therefore, its overall value. 

Latter sections of this reading and other subsequent readings will comprehensively 
illustrate the use of balance sheets in evaluating the financial strength of a company. 

LOS 25c: Describe alternative formats of balance sheet presentation. 
Vol 3, pp 213--214 

Balance sheets may be presented in any of the following formats: 

Report format: Assets, liabilities, and equity are presented in a single column. This 
format is the most commonly used balance sheet presentation fonnat. 
Account format: Assets are presented on the left-hand side of the balance sheet, 
with liabilities and equity on the right-hand side. 
Classified balance sheet: Different types of assets and liabilities are grouped 
into subcategories to give a more effective overview of the company's financial 
position. Classifications typically group assets and liabilities into their current and 
non-current portions. 
Liquidity-based presentation:IFRS allows the preparation of a balance sheet using 
a liquidity-based presentation fonnat (rather than a current/non-current fonnat), if 
such a format provides more reliable and relevant information. In a liquidity-based 
presentation, all assets and liabilities are broadly presented in order of liquidity. 
This format is typically used by banks. 

We will use the balance sheet of Nexen Company (Exhibit 1-1) to describe current and 
non-current assets and liabilities that are typically found on balance sheets. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Exhibit 1-1: Sample Balance Sheet 

Nexen Company 
Balance Sheet 

2008 2007 
$ $ 

ASSETS 

I Current Assets 22,000 18,500 
Cash and cash equivalents • 6 ,000 4,500 Nexen uses the 
Marketable securities • 5,000 6,000 title Balance Sheet. 

Trade receivables • 4,000 2,000 
Other companies 
use "Statement of 

Inventories • 6 ,000 5,500 Financial Position." 

Other current assets • 1,000 500 

I Noncurrent Assets 81,000 57,500 
Property, plant, and equipment • 50,000 40,000 
Goodwill . 10,000 8,000 
Other intangible assets 6,000 2,000 
Non-current investments (subsidiaries) 15,000 7,500 

TOTAL ASSETS 103,000 76,000 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

I Current Liabilities 24,500 14,000 
Trade and other payables • 7 ,000 3,000 
Current borrowings • 6,000 2,000 
Current portion of non-current borrowings • 3,000 2,000 
Current taxes payable • 4,000 4,000 

Accrued liabilities • 2,500 1,500 
Unearned revenue I 2,000 1,500 

I Non-current Liabilities 37,000 25,000 
Non-current borrowings 25,000 15,000 
Deferred taxes 10,000 8,000 
Noncurrent provisions 2,000 2,000 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 61,500 39,000 

I EQUITY 41,500 37,000 
Common stock 25 ,000 25,000 

Preferred shares • 5,000 5,000 
Reserves 2 ,000 0 

Retained earnings • 12,500 9,000 
Shares repurchased (Treasury stock) • (3,000) (2,000) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 103,000 76,000 
SIIAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

We shall study 
working capital 
management in 
greater detail in 
Reading 39. 

LESSON 2: ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: CURRENT VERSUS NON-CURRENT 

LOS 25d: Distinguish between current and non-current assets and current 
and non-current liabilities. Vol 3, pp 215-217 

IFRS and U.S. GAAP Balance Sheet Presentation 

Both IFRS and U.S. GAAP require that assets and liabilities be grouped separately into 
their current and non-current portions, which makes it easier for analysts to examine the 
company's liquidity position as of the balance sheet date. However, it is not required that 
current assets be presented before non-current assets, or that current liabilities be presented 
before non-current liabilities (even though this is the case in Nexen's balance sheet). 
Further, under IFRS, the current/non-current classifications are not required if a liquidity­
based presentation provides more relevant and reliable information . 

• +-- Current assets: These are liquid assets that are likely to be converted into cash or realized 
within one year or one operating cycle, whichever is longer. The operating cycle is the 
average time taken by a company to convert the funds used to purchase inventory or raw 
materials into cash proceeds from sales to customers. Current assets may be listed in order 
of liquidity, with cash being the first item listed . 

• +-- Non-current assets (also known as long-term or long-life assets): These are less 
liquid assets and are not expected to be converted into cash within one year or within one 
operating cycle. They represent the infrastructure that the firm uses in its operations and 
other investments made from a strategic or long-term perspective . 

• +-- Current liabilities: These are obligations that are likely to be settled within one year or 
one operating cycle, whichever is longer. Specifically, a liability may be classified as a 
current liability if: 

It is expected to be settled in the entity's normal operating cycle; 
It is primarily held for the purpose of trading; 
It is due to be settled within one year after the balance sheet date; or 
The entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least one year after the balance sheet date. 1 

IFRS allow some liabilities such as trade payables and accruals for employees to be 
classified as current liabilities even though they might not be settled within one year . 

• +-- Non-current liabilities: These liabilities are not expected to be settled within a year or 
within one operating cycle. Non-current liabilities are a source of long-term finance for a 
company. 

Working capital: The difference between current assets and current liabilities is known 
as working capital. Working capital is necessary for the smooth functioning of a firm's 
daily operations. Low working capital levels suggest that the company might be unable to 
meet its short-term obligations. Excessively high levels of working capital indicate that the 
company is not utilizing its resources efficiently. 

1 - !AS I, Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraph 69. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALJ\NCESHEETS 

LOS 25e: Describe different types of assets and liabilities and the 
measnrement bases of each. Vol 3, pp 217-241 

Individual assets and liabilities are reported on the balance sheet using different 
measurement bases. The challenge for analysts lies in understanding how the reported 
values of assets and liabilities relate to economic reality and to each other. As stated 
previously, balance sheet values should not be assumed to be accurate measures of the 
value of a company. For example, land is usually presented at its historical cost. If prices 
have increased significantly since the date of acquisition, the total value of assets is 
understated on the balance sheet. The balance sheet provides important information about 
the value of certain assets and information about expected future cash flows, but does not 
always accurately represent the value of the company as a whole. 

Current Assets 

These are assets that can be liquidated or consumed by the company within one year, or one ----+ II 
operating cycle, whichever is greater. Accounting standards require that certain specific line 
items must be shown on a balance sheet if they are material (e.g., cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables, inventories, and financial assets [with short maturities]). 

Cash and cash equivalents --+ • 

Cash equivalents are highly liquid securities that usually mature in less than 90 days. Since 
they are so close to maturity, there is minimal risk of any change in their value due to 
changes in interest rates. Since cash equivalents are financial assets, they may be measured 
at amortized cost or fair value. 

Amortized cost equals historical cost adjusted for amortization and impairment. 
Fair value under IFRS equals the amount at which the asset can be exchanged 
in an arm's length transaction between willing and informed parties. Under U.S. 
GAAP, fair value is based on exit price-the price received to sell an asset. 

The amortized cost and fair values of cash equivalents are usually very similar. 

Marketable securities 

These are also financial assets and include investments in debt and equity securities that 
are traded on public markets. Their balance sheet values are based on market price. 

Trade receivables 

Also considered financial assets, trade receivables represent amounts owed to the company by 
customers to whom sales have been made. These amounts are usually reported at net realizable 
value (an estimate affair value based on the company's expectations regarding collectability). 

The relation between accounts receivable and sales is important. A significant 
increase in accounts receivable relative to sales may imply that the company is 
having problems collecting cash from customers. 
An increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts (the company' s estimate of 
uncollectable amounts) results in a lower value reported under trade receivables 
(assets), and bad debts (expense) being reported on the income statement. 
The more diversified the customer base, the lower the credit risk of accounts 
receivable. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

II +---- Inventories 

Inventory valuation 
methods, write­
downs, and analysis 
are covered in depth 
in Reading 28. 

These are physical stocks held by the company in the form of finished goods, work-in­
progress, or raw materials. Measurement of inventory differs under IFRS and U.S. GAAP. 

Under IFRS, inventory is reported at the lower of cost and net realizable value 
(NRV). 
Under U.S. GAAP, inventory is reported at the lower of cost and market. 

NRV is calculated as selling price minus selling costs, while cost is determined by the 
cost flow assumption (LIFO, FIFO, or average cost) that is used. Market value (under U.S. 
GAAP) equals the current replacement cost of inventory, which must lie between NRV 
minus the normal profit margin and NRV. 

Inventory costs should include direct materials, direct labor, and overheads. However, the 
following amounts should not be included when calculating inventory cost: 

Abnormal amounts of wasted materials, labor, and overheads. 
Storage costs incurred after the production process is complete. 
Administrative overheads. 
Selling costs. 

In limited cases, standard cost or the retail method can be used for valuing inventory. 
Standard cost should take into account normal levels of materials, labor, and actual 
capacity. The retail method reduces selling price by gross profit margin to determine the 
cost of inventory. 

Once inventory is sold, its cost is reported as an expense in the income statement under 
"cost of goods sold." 

II +- Other current assets 

Items that are not material enough to be reported as a separate line item on the balance 
sheet are aggregated into a single amount and reported as "other current assets." These 
may include the following: 

Prepaid expenses are normal operating expenses that have been paid in advance, so they 
are recognized as assets on the balance sheet. Over time, they are expensed on the income 
statement and the value of the asset is reduced. For example, suppose that at the beginning 
of the year a company makes a payment of $60,000 as advance payment for a year's 
rent. This results in reduction in cash of $60,000 and a corresponding increase in prepaid 
expenses (asset). At the end of the first quarter, three months rent of $15,000 will be 
expensed and the prepaid rent asset will be decreased by $15 ,000. By the end of the year, 
the entire $60,000 would have been charged as an expense on the income statement and 
the balance of the prepaid rent asset account will be zero. 

Deferred tax assets (OTA) usually arise when a company's taxes payable exceed its income 
tax expense. They represent a kind of prepayment of taxes and therefore, count as assets. 
OTA will be discussed in more detail in Reading 30. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Current Liabilities 

These are a company's obligations that are expected to be settled within one year or one 
operating cycle, whichever is greater. Current liabilities that are typically found on the 
balance sheet include the following: 

Trade payables (accounts payable) 
These are amounts owed by the business to its suppliers for purchases on credit. Analysts 
are usually interested in examining the trend in the levels of trade payables relative to 
purchases to gain insight into the company's relationships with its suppliers. 

Notes payables (cnrrent borrowings) 
These financial liabilities are borrowings from creditors that are documented by a loan 
agreement. Depending on the agreed repayment date, notes payable may also be included 
in non-current liabilities. 

Cnrrent portion of long-term liabilities 
These represent portions of long-term debt obligations that are expected to be paid within a 
year of the balance sheet date or within one operating cycle, whichever is greater. 

Income taxes payable 
These are taxes (based on taxable income) have not actually been paid yet. 

Accrued liabilities 
These are expenses that have been recognized on the income statement but have still not 
been paid for as of the balance sheet date. 

-· 
-· 
-· 
• 
-· -· 

Unearned revenue (deferred revenue or deferred income) - • 
This arises when a company receives cash in advance for goods and services that are still 
to be delivered. The company is obligated to either provide the goods or services or to 
return the cash received. 

Non-Current Assets - • 

Non-current assets typically include the following: 

Property, plant, and equipment (PP&E) 
These are long-term assets that have physical substance. Examples of tangible assets 
treated as PP&E include land, plant, machinery, equipment, and any natural resources 
owned by the company. 

Under IFRS, PP&E may be valued using either the cost model or the revaluation model. 
However, companies need to ensure that the chosen method is applied to all the assets within 
a particular class of assets. U.S. GAAP only allows the cost model for reporting PP&E. 

Investment property 
IFRS defines investment property as property that is owned (or leased under a finance 
lease) for rental income and/or capital appreciation. Under IFRS, investment property 
may be valued using the cost model or the fair value model. The chosen model must be 
applied to all investment properties held by the company. Further, a company may only 
use the fair value model if it is able to determine the fair value of the investment property 
on a continuing basis with reliability. U.S. GAAP does not include a specific definition for 
investment property. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

We will study the 
accounting standards 
related to intangible 
assets in detail in 
Reading 29. 

Intangible assets 
These are identifiable, non-monetary assets that lack physical substance. Under IFRS, 
intangible assets may be reported using either the cost model or the revaluation model. 
However, the revaluation model can only be selected if there is an active market for the 
asset. U.S. GAAP only allows the cost model. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized systematically over their 
lives and may also be impaired depending on circumstances. Impairment principles 
for these assets are the same as those that apply to PP&E. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for 
impairment at least annually. 

Financial statement disclosures provide important information (e.g., useful lives, 
amortization rates and methods) regarding a company's intangible assets. 

Identifiable intangible assets can be acquired singly and are usually related to rights and 
privileges that accrue to the their owners over a finite period. Under IFRS, identifiable 
intangible assets may only be recognized if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. A company may develop 
intangible assets internally, but such assets can only be recognized under certain circumstances. 
Under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP, costs related to the following are usually expensed: 

Start-up and training costs. 
Administrative and overhead costs. 
Advertising and promotion costs. 
Relocation and reorganization costs. 

Acquired intangible assets may be reported as separately identifiable intangibles (rather 
than goodwill) if: 

They arise from contractual rights (e.g., licensing agreements), or other legal rights 
(e.g., patents); or 
Can be separated and sold (e.g., customer lists) . 

• +- Goodwill (an example of an asset that is not separately identifiable) is the excess of the 
amount paid to acquire a business over the fair value of its net assets. The purchase price 
may exceed the fair value of the target company's identifiable (tangible and intangible) net 
assets because of the following reasons: 

Note that goodwill 
ison1ycreated 
(recognized) in a 
purchase acquisition. 
Internally generated 
goodwill is 
expensed. 

Certain items of value (e.g., reputation, brand) are not recognized in a company's 
financial statements. 
The target company may have incurred research and development expenditures 
that may have not been recognized on its financial statements but do hold value for 
the acquirer. 
The acquisition may improve the acquirer's position against a competitor or there 
may be possible synergies. 

Analysts must understand the difference between accounting and economic goodwill. 
Accounting goodwill is based on accounting standards and is only reported for acquisitions 
when the purchase price exceeds the fair value of the acquired company's net assets. 
Economic goodwill, which is not reflected on the balance sheet, is based on a company's 
performance and its future prospects. Analysts are more concerned with economic 
goodwill as it contributes to the value of the firm and should be reflected in its stock price. 
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Under U.S. GAAP and IFRS, accounting goodwill resulting from acquisitions is 
capitalized. Further, under both sets of standards, goodwill is not amortized, but is tested 
for impairment armually. An impairment charge reduces net income and decreases the 
carrying value of goodwill to its actual value. Impairment of goodwill is a non-cash 
expense and therefore does not affect cash flows. 

UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Goodwill can significantly affect the comparability of financial statements of companies. 
When performing ratio analysis, income statement values should be adjusted by removing 
impairment expense (so that operating trends can be identified), and balance sheet values 
should be adjusted by excluding goodwill when computing financial ratios. Analysts 
should evaluate future acquisitions of a company in light of the price paid relative to net 
assets and earnings prospects of the acquired company (economic goodwill). 

Companies are required to disclose information that assists users in evaluating the nature 
and financial impact of business combinations. Information such as the purchase price 
paid relative to the fair value of a company's net assets and earnings prospects of the 
acquired company help analysts to develop expectations about the company's performance 
following an acquisition. 

Financial assets 
Under IFRS, a financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset 
for one entity, and a financial liability or equity instrument for another entity.2 Financial 
assets include investments in securities (e.g., stocks and bonds) and receivables, while 
financial liabilities include bonds payable and notes payable. A derivative is a complex 
financial instrument that derives its value from some underlying factor (e.g., interest rate, 
exchange rate, underlying asset price) and requires little or no initial investment. As we shall 
learn later, derivatives may be used for hedging purposes or for speculation. 

Mark-to-market is a process of adjusting the values of trading assets and liabilities to 
reflect their current market values. These adjustments are usually made on a daily basis. 
Assets that are classified as held for trading and available for sale are subject to mark­
to-market adjustments. Exhibit 2-1 breaks down various marketable and non-marketable 

financial instruments according to the measurement base used to value them. 

Exhibit 2-1: Measurement Bases of Various Financial Assets3 

Measured at Fair Value Measured at Cost or Amortized Cost 

Financial Assets Financial Assets 
Financial assets held for trading Unlisted instruments. 
(stocks and bonds). Held-to-maturity investments. 
Available-for-sale financial assets Loans and receivables. 
(stocks and bonds). 
Derivatives. 
Non-derivative instruments with face 
value exposures hedged by derivatives. 

2 - lAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, paragraph 11. 
3 - Exhibit 10, Volume 3, CFA Program Curriculum 2017. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Marketable investment securities can be classified under the following categories: 

Available-for-sale securities: These are debt or equity securities that are neither expected to 
be traded in the near term, nor held till maturity. They may be sold to address the liquidity 
needs of the company. These securities are reported at fair market value on the balance 
sheet. While dividend income, interest income, and realized gains and losses on AFS 
securities are reported on the income statement, unrealized gains and losses are reported in 
other comprehensive income as a part of shareholders ' equity. 

The "available-for-sale" classification no longer appears in IFRS as of20!0, even though 
"IFRS 9: Financial Instruments" will be effective from 2013. However, even though the 
available-for-sale category will not exist, IFRS will still pemtit certain equity investments 
to be measured at fair value with any unrealized gains and losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income. This classification will be known as financial assets measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Held-to-maturity securities: These are debt securities that are purchased with the intent of 
holding them till maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost (Amortized 
cost; Face value - Unamortized discount+ Unamortized premium). For these securities, 
unrealized gains or losses from changes in market value are ignored and not recognized on the 
financial statements. Only interest income and realized gains and losses (gains and losses when 
these securities are sold) are recognized on the income statement. See Exhibit 2-2. 

Trading securities: These are debt and equity securities (e.g. , stocks and bonds) that are 
acquired with the intent of earning trading profits over the near term. These securities are 
measured at fair market value on the balance sheet. Dividend income, interest income, realized 
gains and losses, and unrealized gains and losses are all reported on the income statement. 

Exhibit 2-2: Accounting for Gains and Losses on Marketable Securities 

Held-to-Maturity Available-for-Sale Trading 
Securities Securities Securities 

Balance Sheet Reported at cost or Reported at fair value. Reported at fair 
amortized cost. value. 

Unrealized gains or 
losses due to changes 
in market value are 
reported in other 
comprehensive income. 

Items recognized Interest income. Dividend income. Dividend income. 
on the income 
statement Realized gains and Interest income. Interest income. 

losses. 
Realized gains and Realized gains and 
losses. losses. 

Unrealized gains 
and losses due to 
changes in market 
value. 
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Example 2-1 will help us understand the accounting of gains and losses on marketable 
securities under each of the different classifications. 

Example 2-1: Marketable Securities 

UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Panorama Inc. invests $5,000,000 in a 10% semiannual coupon fixed-income security. 
After six months, Panorama receives the first coupon payment of $250,000. Additionally, 
interest rates have declined over the period, and the value of the securities has increased 
by $1,000,000. lllustrate how ownership of this bond will affect Panorama's financial 
statements under each of the three classifications of marketable securities. 

Solution 

Balance Sheet 

Assets 
Cash 
Cost of securities 
Uruealized gains (losses) 

Liabilities 

Equity 
Paid-in-capital 
Retained earnings 
Other comprehensive income 

Income Statement 
Interest income 
Uruealized gains (losses) 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Trading 
$ 

250,000 
5,000,000 
1,000,000 
6,250,000 

5,000,000 
1,250,000 

6,250,000 

250,000 
1,000,000 

1,250,000 

Available for 
Sale 

$ 

250,000 
5,000,000 
1,000,000 
6,250,000 

5,000,000 

L~'~ ,000,000 
,250,000 

250,000 

250,000 

Held to 
Maturity 

$ 

250,000 
5,000,000 

5,250,000 

5,000,000 

L~'~ ,250,000 

250,000 

250,000 

Non-current liabilities include the long-term financial liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. 

Long-term financial liabilities 
These may either be measured at fair value or amortized cost. Exhibit 2-3 lists some 
financial liabilities along with their measurement basis. 

©2017Wiley 



UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Exhibit 2-3: Measurement Basis of Various Financial Liabilities 

Measured at Fair Value Measured at Cost or Amortized Cost 

Financial Liabilities Financial Liabilities 
Derivatives. All other liabilities (bonds payable and 
Financial liabilities held for trading. notes payable). 
Non-derivative instruments with face value 
exposures hedged by derivatives. 

We shall study the accounting of financing liabilities in greater detail in Reading 31. 

Deferred tax liabilities 
These usually arise when a company's income tax expense exceeds taxes payable. The 
company pays less taxes based on its tax return than it should pay according to its financial 
statements. These unpaid taxes will be paid in future periods and are therefore a liability 
for the company. Deferred tax liabilities have current and non-current portions. These 
items will be discussed in more detail in Reading 30. 

LESSON 3: EQUITY 

LOS 25f: Describe the components of shareholders' equity. Vol 3, pp 241-244 

• +-U.S. GAAP and IFRS define equity as the owners' residual claim on the assets of an entity 
after deducting all liabilities. Various components of the owners ' equity are described 
below. 

The first five 
comJXlnents 
represent equity 
attributable to 
owners of the parent 
company, while the 
sixth comp:rnent 
represents equity 
attributable to non­
controlling interests. 

·-
·-
·-

Capital contributed by owners (common stock or issued capital): Owners 
contribute capital to an entity by investing in common shares. Common shares 
have par (stated) values that are required to be listed separately in owners ' 
equity. Required disclosures also include the number of authorized, issued, and 
outstanding shares for each class of stock issued by the company. Authorized 
shares are the maximum number of shares that can be sold under the company's 
Articles of Incorporation. Issued shares are the total number of shares that have 
been sold to shareholders. Outstanding shares equal the number of shares that were 
issued less the number of shares repurchased (treasury stock). 
Preferred shares: Preferred shareholders receive dividends (at a specified 
percentage of par value) and have priority over ordinary shareholders in the event 
of liquidation. Preferred shares may either be classified as equity or financial 
liabilities depending on their characteristics. For example, perpetual, non­
redeemable preferred shares are classified as equity, while preferred shares with 
mandatory redemption are classified as financial liabilities. 
Treasury shares: These are shares that have been bought back by the company. 
Share repurchases result in a reduction in owners' equity and in the number of 
shares outstanding. These shares do not receive dividends and do not have voting 
rights. While Treasury shares may be reissued at a later date, no gain or loss is 
recognized when they are reissued. 
Retained earnings: These are the cumulative earnings (net income) of the firm 
over the years that have not been distributed to shareholders as dividends. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Accumulated other comprehensive income: This represents cumulative other 
comprehensive income. 
Non-controlling interest (minority interest): This is the minority shareholders' pro 
rata share of the net assets of a subsidiary that is not wholly owned by the company. 

Statement of Changes in Owners' Equity 

This statement presents the effects of all transactions that increase or decrease a company's 
equity over the period. Under IFRS, the following information should be included in the 
statement of changes in equity: 

Total comprehensive income for the period; 
The effects of any accounting changes that have been retrospectively applied to 
previous periods. 
Capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners; and 
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each component of equity at the 
beginning and end of the year.4 

Under U.S. GAAP, companies are required to provide an analysis of changes in each 
component of stockholders'equity that is shown in the balance sheet. 5 

Exhibit 3-1 provides an example of a typical statement of changes in stockholders' equity. 

Exhibit 3-1: Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 

Abel Company 
Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity 

Accumulated 
Retained Other 

Common Earnings Comprehensive Total 
Stock$ $ Income$ $ 

Beginning balance 30,000 22,000 -3,000 49,000 

Components of comprehensive income 

Net income 4,000 4,000 

Unrealized loss on AFS Securities -100 -100 

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge -150 -150 

Minimum pension liability adjustment -75 -75 

Translation adjustment 90 90 

Comprehensive income 3,765 

Issuance of common stock 3,000 3,000 

Repurchases of common stock -8,000 -8,000 

Dividends -2,500 -2,500 

Ending balance 25,000 23,500 -3,235 45,265 

4 - lAS I , Presentation of Financial Statements, paragraph 80. 
5 - FASS ASC 505- IO-S99 [Equity-Overall-SEC materials] indicates that a company can present the analysis of changes in stock­
holders' equity in the notes or in a separate statement 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Uses and Analysis of Balance Sheets 

Analysts can gain information regarding a company's liquidity, solvency, and the economic 
resources controlled by the company by examining its balance sheet. 

Liquidity refers to a company's ability to meet its short-term financial obligations. 
Solvency refers to a company's ability to meet its long-term financial obligations. 

Two of the techniques that may be used to analyze a company's balance sheet are 
common-size analysis and ratio analysis. 

LESSON 4: ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE SHEET 

LOS 25g: Convert balance sheets to common-size balance sheets and 
interpret common-size balance sheets. Vol 3, pp 246-254 

LOS 25h: Calculate and interpret liquidity and solvency ratios. Vol 3, pg 254 

Common-Size Balance Sheets 

A vertical common-size balance sheet expresses each balance sheet item as a percentage of 
total assets. This allows an analyst to perform historical analysis (time-series analysis) and 
cross-sectional analysis across firms within the same industry. 

Exhibit 4-1 illustrates the construction of a common-size balance sheet. 

Exhibit 4-1: The Construction of a Common-Size Balance Sheet 

ASSETS 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-term marketable securities 

Accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Total current assets 
Property, plant, and equipment, net 
Intangible assets 
Goodwill 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable 

Total current liabilities 
Long-term bonds payable 

Total liabilities 
Total shareholders' equity 

Total liabilities and shareholders' eqnity 

Company A 
('000) 

400 

200 
500 

100 
1,200 

2,050 
500 

3,750 

800 
800 

IO 

810 
2,940 

3,750 

CompanyB 
('000) 

3,000 
1,300 

1,000 

300 
5,600 

2,650 

1,000 

9,250 

600 
600 

8,500 

9,100 

ISO 

9,250 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Exhibit 4-1: (continued) 

Company A CompanyB 

ASSETS 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Short-term marketable securities 

Accounts receivable 

Inventory 

Total current assets 

Property, plant, and equipment, net 

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 

Total Assets 

LlABILITlES AND SllAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable 

Total current liabilities 

Long-term bonds payable 

Total liabilities 

Total shareholders' equity 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

The following important points should be noted: 

(%) 

10.7% 

5.3% 

13.3% 

2.7% 

32.0% 

54.7% 

13.3% 

0.0% 

100.0% 

21.3% 

21.3% 

0.3% 

21.6% 

78.4% 

100.0% 

(%) 

32.4% 

14.1% 

10.8% 

3.2% 

60.5% 

28.6% 

0.0% 

10.8% 

100.0% 

6.5% 

6.5% 

91.9% 

98.4% 

1.6% 

100.0% 

Company A has 16% of its assets in cash and short-term marketable securities, 
while Company B has 46.5% of its assets in cash and short-term marketable 
securities. Therefore Company B is more liquid than Company A. 
Company i'<s current liabilities exceed its cash on hand by $400,000. This 
means that Company A might need to raise cash through some other means (e.g., 
by selling inventory or collecting accounts receivable) to meet its short-term 
liabilities. On the other hand, Company B has sufficient cash on hand ($3 million) 
to meet its short-term liabilities ($600,000). 
The presence of goodwill on Company B's balance sheet shows that the company 
has grown via acquisitions. In contrast, Company A seems to have pursued a 
strategy of internal growth as evidenced by the lack of goodwill on its balance sheet. 
Company B has financed 98.4% of its total assets with liabilities. In contrast, 
Company A finances only 21.6% of its assets with liabilities. Therefore, Company 
A is more solvent than Company B. If Company B sees significant volatility in 
cash flows, it may struggle to meet its debt-servicing obligations. 
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UNDERSTANDING BALANCE SHEETS 

Balance Sheet Ratios 

These are ratios that have balance sheet items in the numerator and the denominator. 
The two main categories of balance sheet ratios are liquidity ratios, which measure a 
company's ability to settle short-term obligations, and solvency ratios, which evaluate a 
company's ability to settle long-term obligations. 

The higher a company's liquidity ratios, the greater the likelihood that the company will 
be able to meet its short-term obligations. 

Table 4-1: Liquidity Ratios 

Current ratio 
Quick ratio (acid test ratio) 

Cash ratio 

Numerator 

Current assets 
Cash + marketable securities 

+ receivables 
Cash + marketable securities 

Denominator 

Current liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Higher solvency ratios, on the other hand, are undesirable and indicate that the company is 
highly leveraged and risky. 

Table 4-2: Solvency Ratios 

Long-term debt-to-equity ratio 

Debt-to-equity ratio 

Total debt ratio 

Financial leverage ratio 

Numerator 

Total long-term debt 

Total debt 

Total debt 

Total assets 

Denominator 

Total equity 

Total equity 

Total assets 

Total equity 

Ratio analysis is covered in detail in Reading 27. We also discuss the uses and limitations 
ofratio analysis in that reading. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

READING 26: UNDERSTANDING CASH FL.ow STATEMENTS 

LESSON 1: THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT: COMPONENTS AND FORMAT 

LOS 26a: Compare cash flows from operating, investing, and financing 
activities and classify cash flow items as relating to one of those three 
categories given a description of the items. Vol 3, pp 267-268 

Under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP, cash flows are classified into the following categories 
(see Table 1-1): 

Cash flow from operating activities (CFO): These are inflows and outflows of cash 
related to a firm's day-to-day business activities. 

Cash flow from investing activities (CFI): These are inflows and outflows of cash 
generated from the purchase and disposal of long-term investments. Long-term 
investments include plant, machinery, equipment, intangible assets, and nontrading debt 
and equity securities. 

Note: Investments in securities that are considered highly liquid (cash equivalents) are 
not included in investing activities. Neither are securities held for trading. Cash flows 

associated with the purchase and sale of highly liquid cash equivalents and of securities 
for trading purposes are classified under cash flow from operating activities. 

Cash flow from financing activities (CFF): These are cash inflows and outflows 
generated from issuance and repayment of capital (interest-bearing debt and equity). 

Note: Indirect short·term borrowings from suppliers that are classified as accounts 
payable, and changes in receivables from customers are not considered financing 
activities; they are classified as operating activities. 

Table 1-1: Cash Flow Classification Under U.S. GAAP 

CFO 

Inflows 
Cash collected from customers. 
Interest and dividends received. 
Proceeds from sale of securities held for trading. 

CFI 
Inflows 
Sale proceeds from fixed assets. 
Sale proceeds from long-term investments. 

CFF 
Inflows 
Proceeds from debt issuance. 
Proceeds from issuance of equity instruments. 

Outflows 
Cash paid to employees. 
Cash paid to suppliers. 
Cash paid for other expenses. 
Cash used to purchase trading securities. 
Interest paid. 
Taxes paid. 

Outflows 
Purchase of fixed assets. 
Cash used to acquire LT investment 
securities. 

Outflows 
Repayment of LT debt. 
Payments made to repurchase stock. 
Dividends payments. 

Note: There is a difference in how some cash flows are classified under IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP. These differences are discussed in LOS 26c and are very important from the 
examination perspective. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

LOS 26b: Describe how non-cash investing and financing activities are 
reported. Vol 3, pp 267-269 

Noncash investing and financing activities are not reported on the cash flow statement 
because these transactions do not involve any receipt or payment of cash. Examples of 
noncash investing and financing activities include: 

Barter transactions where one nonmonetary asset is exchanged for another. 
Issuance of common stock for dividends or when holders of convertible bonds 
or convertible preferred stock convert their holdings into ordinary shares of the 
company. 
Acquisition of real estate with financing provided by the seller. 

Remember that companies are required to disclose any significant noncash investing 
and financing activities in a separate note or a supplementary schedule to the cash flow 
statement. 

LOS 26c: Contrast cash flow statements prepared under International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and US generally accepted 
accounting principles (US GAAP). Vol 3, pp 269-270 

Cash flow statements prepared under IFRS and U.S. GAAP differ along the following 
lines: 

Classification of cash flows: Certain cash flows are classified differently under 
IFRS and U.S. GAAP. IFRS offers more flexibility regarding the classification of 
certain cash flows. 
Presentation format: There is a difference in the presentation requirements for cash 
flow from operating activities. 

Table 1-2 highlights important differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP with respect to 
cash flow statements. 
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Table 1-2: Cash Flow Statements: Differences Between IFRS and U.S. GAAP1 

Topic 

Classification of cash flows: 

Interest received 

Interest paid 

Dividends received 

Dividends paid 

Bank overdrafts 

Taxes paid 

Format of statement 

IFRS 

Operating or investing 

Operating or financing 

Operating or investing 

Operating or financing 

Considered part of cash 
equivalents 

Generally operating, but a 
portion can be allocated to 
investing or financing if it 
can be specifically identified 
with these categories 

Direct or indirect; direct is 
encouraged 

U.S.GAAP 

Operating 

Operating 

Operating 

Financing 

Not considered part of 
cash and cash equivalents 
and classified as financing 

Operating 

Direct or indirect; 
direct is encouraged. 
A reconciliation of net 
income to cash flow from 
operating activities must 
be provided regardless of 
method used 

LOS 26d: Distinguish between the direct and indirect methods of 
presenting cash from operating activities and describe arguments in favor 
of each method. Vol 3, pp 270-280 

Under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP, there are two acceptable formats for presenting the 
cash flow statement- the direct method and the indirect method. These methods differ 
only in the presentation of the CFO section of the cash flow statement; calculated values 
for CFO are the same under both. Further, the presentation of CFF and CFI are exactly the 
same under both formats. 

Direct method: Under the direct method, income statement items that are reported on an 
accrual basis are all converted to cash basis. All cash receipts are reported as inflows, while 
cash payments are reported as outflows. Exhibit 1-1 illustrates the presentation of CFO 
under the direct method. 

I - Sources: lAS 7; FASS ASC Topic 230; and "IFRS and U.S. GAAP: Similarities and Differences," PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(September 2009), available at www.pwc.com. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLDW STATEMENTS 

Exhibit 1-1 

CompanyXYZ 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
Cash collected from customers 
Cash paid to suppliers 
Cash paid to employees 
Cash paid for interest 
Cash paid for taxes 
Operating cash flow 

$100,000 
(30,000) 
(12,000) 
(5,000) 
(3,000) 

$50,000 

Presentation of CFO under the direct method has similarities with the presentation of the 
income statement. The income statement starts with total sales and deducts direct and 
indirect costs to arrive at net income. The direct method of calculating CFO starts with 
cash sales and deducts all cash payments for direct and indirect costs to arrive at cash flow 
from operations. 

Indirect method: Under the indirect method, cash flow from operations is calculated by 
applying a series of adjustments to net income. These adjustments are made for noncash 
items (e.g., depreciation), nonoperating items (e.g., gains on sale of noncurrent assets), 
and changes in working capital accounts resulting from accrual accounting. Exhibit 1-2 
illustrates the presentation of CFO under the indirect method. 

Exhibit 1-2 

Company ABC 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
Net income 
Adjustments: 
Depreciation 
Gain on sale of machinery 
Increase in inventory 
Decrease in accounts receivable 
Decrease in accounts payable 
Operating cash flow 

The Direct Method Versus Indirect Method 

$120,000 

10,000 
(1 ,000) 
(2,000) 
3,000 

(1 ,000) 
$129,000 

The direct method explicitly lists the actual sources of operating cash inflows and 
outflows, whereas the indirect method only provides net results for these inflows 
and outflows. The argument is similar to the one for having an income statement 
that lists all revenue and expense items, as opposed to one that only provides the 
end result (i.e. , net income). The information provided in the direct format is very 
useful in evaluating past performance and making projections of future cash flows. 
The indirect method provides a list of items that are responsible for the difference 
between net income and operating cash flow. These differences can then be used 
when estimating future operating cash flows. The indirect method facilitates 
forecasting of future cash flows since forecasts of future net income simply have 
to be adjusted for changes in balance sheet accounts that are caused by differences 
between accrual and cash accounting. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

LESSON 2: THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT: LINKAGES AND PREPARATION 

LOS 26e: Describe how the cash flow statement is linked to the income 
statement and the balance sheet. Vol 3, pp 280-294 

Links Between the Cash Flow Statement and the Income Statement and Balance Sheet 

The sum of cash flow from operating, investing, and financing activities equals the change 
in cash over the year. 

CFO + CFI + CFF = Change in cash 
Year-end cash balance - Beginning-of-year cash balance= Change in cash 

Operating income and expense items are recognized on the income statement on an accrual 
basis, which means that revenues and expenses are recognized when incurred, irrespective 
of when the associated cash flows occur. When the timing of an expense or revenue item 
differs from the associated cash flow, it is reflected in changes in balance sheet accounts. 
For example, if revenue is recognized prior to the receipt of cash, accounts receivable will 
increase. 

Beginning accounts receivable + Revehues - Cash received from customers L 
= Ending accounts receivable 

If an expense is incurred but not paid for, it is charged on the income statement and 
accounts payable increase. 

Beginning accounts payable+ Purchases - Cash paid to suppliers 

Previous year's 
balance sheet 

Current year's 
balance sheet 

Previous year's 
balance sheet 

Current year's 
income statement 

Current year's cash 
flow statement 

= Ending accounts payable Purchases "' COGS 
~----------------- 1 + Ending inventory ­

Beginning inventory 

These changes in current assets and current liabilities are then used to reconcile net income 
to operating cash flows under the indirect method. 

CFI is calculated from changes in asset balances under the noncurrent assets section of the 
balance sheet. 

CFF is calculated from changes in the equity and noncurrent debt sections of the balance 
sheet. 

A company's retained earnings (on the balance sheet) represent cumulative net income that 
has not been distributed to shareholders. Every year, if the company makes a profit, some 
of it may be distributed to shareholders as dividends, while the rest is added to retained 
earnings. 

I 
Beginning retained earnings+ Net income - Dividends declared 
= Ending retained earnings. I 

~----------• I 

Understanding these links between the balance sheet, income statement, and statement 
of cash flows facilitates the evaluation of a company's financials and the detection of 
accounting irregularities. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

LOS 26f: Describe the steps in the preparation of direct and indirect cash 
flow statements, including how cash flows can be computed using income 
statement and balance sheet data. Vol 3, pp 280--294 

Sources Versus Uses of Cash 

Let's consider an asset account, inventory. 

If inventory levels have increased from the previous year, more liquidity of the firm 
is tied up in inventories. This is a use of cash for the firm. 
If inventory levels have decreased over the year, less of the firm's cash is tied up in 
inventory. This is a source of cash for the firm. 

Increases in current assets are uses of cash and decreases in current assets are sources of 
cash. Changes in asset balances and cash are negatively related. 

Now let's move on to a liability account, accounts payable. 

If the total amount due to the firm's creditors has increased over the year, it implies 
that the firm has borrowed more money. This represents a source of cash to the firm. 
If the amount payable to creditors has fallen over the year, some creditors have 
been paid back, which is a use of cash for the firm. 

Increases in current liabilities are sources of cash, while decreases in current liabilities are 
uses of cash. Changes in liability balances and cash are positively related. 

The Direct Method 
Step I: Start with sales on the income statement. Go through each income statement 
account and adjust it for changes in related working capital accounts on the balance sheet. 
This serves to remove the effects of the timing difference between the recognition of 
revenues and expenses and the actual receipt or payment of cash. 

Step 2: Determine whether changes in these working capital accounts indicate a source or 
use of cash. Make sure you put the right sign in front of the income statement item. Sales 
are an inflow item so they have a positive effect on cash flow, while COGS, wages, taxes, 
and interest expense are all outflow items that have negative effects on cash flow. 

Step 3: Ignore all nonoperating items (e.g., gain/loss on sale of plant and equipment) and 
noncash charges (e.g., depreciation and amortization). 

The Indirect Method 
Step I: Start with net income. Go up the income statement and remove the effects of all 
noncash expenses and gains from net income. For example, the negative effect of depreciation 
is removed from net income by adding depreciation back to net income. Cash-based net 
income will be higher than accrual-based net income by the amount of noncash expenses. 

Step 2: Remove the effects of all nonoperating activities from net income. For example, 
the positive effect of a gain on sale of fixed assets on net income is removed by subtracting 
the gain from net income. 

Step 3: Make adjustments for changes in all working capital accounts. Add all sources of 
cash (increases in current liabilities and declines in current assets) and subtract all uses of 
cash (decreases in current liabilities and increases in current assets). 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

The income statement and balance sheet for ABC Company are presented below. We will 
use these statements to construct the cash flow statement for the company using the direct 
and indirect methods. 

INCOME STATEMENT LEGEND 
Year ended Dec 31 2008 Amounts used in calculating . are filled with color. 

Revenues 23,000 Amounts used in calculating CFI are written in color. 

Cost of goods sold 11,500 Amounts used in calculating ~ are boxed in color. 

Gross profit 11,500 
Salary and wages expense 4,000 

Depreciation expense 
Other operating expenses 3,500 
Total operating expenses 8,500 
Operating profit 3,000 
Other revenues (expenses) 

Gain on sale of equipment 
Interest expense (300) 
Income before tax 2,900 
Income tax expense J.!AQQl 
Net income 1,500 

BALANCE SHEET 
As at Dec 31 2008 

Net 
2008 2007 Change 

Cash 2,300 1,150 1,150 

Accounts receivable 1,000 950 -Inventory 3,900 3,250 -Prepaid expenses 100 250 -) 
Total current assets 7,300 5,600 1,700 
Land 500 500 
Buildings 3,600 3,600 
Equipment 7,700 8,500 (800) 
Less accumulated depreciation (3,400) (2,900) 500 

Total long-term assets 8,400 9,700 (1,300) Note: The book value 

Total assets 15,700 15~00 400 of the equipment sold 
was $300. 

Accounts payable 3,500 3,300 -Salary and wages payable 80 70 10 
Interest payable 60 85 (25) 

Income tax payable 60 45 15 

Other accrued liabilities 1,200 1,100 

Total current liabilities 4,900 4,600 300 
Long-term debt 3,000 3,600 1(600)1 
Common stock 4,550 4,850 IC300l l 
Retained earnings 3,250 2,250 [tQP_Q] 
Total liabilities and equity 15,700 15~00 400 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

Accounts receivable 
is an asset.An 
increase in an asset 
isa use of cash. 

The Direct Method to Compute CFO 

Total sales adjusted for changes in related working capital accounts are known as 1 cash collections from customers: 
'---~~~---' I 

Sales result in an 
inflow of cash so 
we put a positive 
sign before the sales 
figure 

Accounts payable 
is a liability.An 
increase in liability 
isasourceofcash 

COGS, salaries, 
wages, taxes, 
interest expense, and 
other expenses are 
outflows of cash, so 
we put a negative 
sign before them. 

Cash collections = Sales - Increase in accounts receivable= t 23,000 - = $22,950 

Cost of goods sold adjusted for changes in related working capital items is known as cash 
payments to suppliers: 

Cash paid to suppliers = -COGS - Increase in inventory + Increase in A/C payable 
= -11 ,500 - • + • = -$11,950 

Salaries and wages adjusted for related working capital accounts: 

Cash salaries and wages= -Wages and salaries+ Increase in wages and salaries payable 
= -4,000 + IO = -$3,990 

Depreciation is a noncash expense so it is ignored altogether. 

Other operating expenses adjusted for changes in related working capital accounts: 

Other operating expenses (cash)= -Other operating expenses (accrual basis)+ 
Decrease in prepaid expenses + Increase in other 
accrued liabilities 

= -3 ,500 +. +. = -$3,250 

Gain on sale of equipment relates to the sale of a long-lived asset. The proceeds from this 
transaction are classified under investing activities and ignored in the calculation of CFO. 

Interest expense adjusted for related working capital accounts: 

Cash interest paid= -Interest expense - Decrease in interest payable 
= -300 - 5 = -$325 

Income tax expense adjusted for related working capital accounts: 

Cash taxes paid= -Income tax expense +Increase in taxes payable 
= -1,400 + 15 = -$1,385 

Cash flow from operating activities under the direct method: 

Cash received from customers 
Cash paid to suppliers 
Cash paid to employees 
Cash paid for other operating expenses 
Cash paid for interest 
Cash paid for income taxes 

Net cash flow from operating activities 

22,950 
-11,950 

-3,990 
-3,250 

-325 
-1,385 
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Calculating - Using the Indirect Method: 

On the income statement, the only noncash expense is depreciation expense of $1,000, and 
the only nonoperating income/expense is the gain on sale of equipment of $200. We start 
by removing the effects of these two items from net income: 

Net income 1,500 
Add: Depreciation expense 

Less: Gain on sale of equipment -2,300 

Next, we adjust the figure calculated above for changes in all working capital accounts, 
adding sources of cash and subtracting uses of cash. 

Increase in accounts receivable (use) 

Increase in inventory (use) 

2,300 --Decrease in prepaid expenses (source) 

Increase in accounts payable (source) --Increase in salaries and wages payable (source) 

Decrease in interest payable (use) 

IO 

-2 
15 Increase in income tax payable (source) 

Increase in accrued liabilities (source) -Net cash flow from operating activities -Notice that we obtain the same answer for CFO under both methods. 

Exhibit 2-1: Adjustments to Net Income Using the Indirect Method 

Additions 
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Noncash items 
o Depreciation expense of tangible assets 

Amortisation expense of intangible assets 
Depletion expense of natural resources 
Amortisation of bond discount 

Nonoperating losses 
o Loss on sale or write-down of assets 
o Loss on retirement of debt 
o Loss on investments accounted for under the equity 

method 
Increase in deferred income tax liability 
Changes in working capital resulting from accruing higher 
amounts for expenses than the amounts of cash payments 
or lower amounts for revenues than the amounts of cash 
receipts 

o Decrease in current operating assets (e.g., accounts 
receivable, inventory, and prepaid expenses) 

o Increase in current operating liabilities (e.g. , 
accounts payable and accrued expense liabilities) 

(Exhibit continued on next page ... ) 



UNDERSTANDING CASH FLDW STATEMENTS 

The historical cost 
and accumulated 
depreciation of a 
long-lived asset is 
removed from the 
balance sheet once 
it is sold. 

Exhibit 2-1: (continued) 

Subtractions 

Calculating CFI and~: 

Noncash items (e.g., amortisation of bond premium) 
Nonoperating items 

o Gain on sale of assets 
o Gain on retirement of debt 
o Income on investments accounted for under the 

equity method 
Decrease in deferred income tax liability 
Changes in working capital resulting from accruing lower 
amounts for expenses than for cash payments or higher 
amounts for revenues than for cash receipts 

o Increase in current operating assets (e.g., accounts 
receivable, inventory, and prepaid expenses) 

o Decrease in current operating liabilities (e.g., 
accounts payable and accrued expense liabilities) 

Calculating cash flow from investing activities requires us to consider the effects of 
transactions relating to long-lived assets and long-term investments on cash. 

Before we get into calculating cash flow from investing activities, let's go through some 
fundamental accounting: 

The value of gross fixed assets indicates the historical cost of the fixed assets owned by 
the company at the balance sheet date. If the figure for gross fixed assets changes from one 
year to the next, there has been an investing activity. If gross fixed assets increase, there 
has been a fixed asset purchase, and if gross fixed assets decrease, there has been a fixed 
asset disposal. 

Beginning gross fixed assets + Purchase price of new fixed assets - Historical cost 
of disposed fixed assets = Ending gross fixed assets. 

Net fixed assets equal gross fixed assets minus accumulated depreciation. 

Going back to our example, the gross amounts recorded for land and for buildings are the 
same across both years ($500 and $3,600, respectively). Therefore, we conclude that there 
have been no purchases or sales of land and buildings during the year. 

However, the gross amount recorded for equipment has decreased by $800. This suggests 
that there has been a sale of equipment over the year. Our belief is confirmed by the fact 
that the company also recognized a gain of sale of equipment on its income statement. 

Calculation of historical cost of sold equipment: 

Beginning gross fixed assets + Purchase price of new fixed assets - Historical cost 
of disposed fixed asset = Ending gross fixed assets. 

$8,500 + 0 - Historical cost of sold equipment = $7, 700 

Historical cost of sold equipment = $800 
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Calculation of accumulated depreciation on sold equipment: 

Beginning accumulated depreciation+ Current year's depreciation on all assets -
Accumulated depreciation on sold asset = Ending accumulated depreciation. 

$2,900 + $1 ,000 -Accumulated depreciation on sold equipment= $3,400 

Accumulated depreciation on sold equipment = $500 

Calculation of book value of sold equipment: 

Book value of sold equipment= Historical cost - Accumulated depreciation 

Book value of sold equipment= $800 - $500 = $300 

Calculation of proceeds from sale of equipment: 

Selling price - Book value = Gain/loss on sale of equipment 

Selling price - $300 = -

Cash proceeds from the sale of equipment equal $500. These proceeds are classified as 
inflows from investing activities. 

Cash How from investing activities: 

Cash received from sale of equipment 
Net cash How from investing activities 

Calculating [g<]j 

500 
500 

Cash How from financing activities is generated from the issuance and repayment of capital 
(long-term debt and equity) and distributions in the form of dividends to shareholders. 

Long-term debt: An increase in long-term debt from one year to the next implies cash 
inflows from new borrowings. A decrease implies debt repayment and an outflow of cash. 

Over the course of the year, ABC's long-term debt fell by~- This implies that 
$600 was used by the company to retire debt. 

Equity: An increase in common stock from one year to the next implies cash inflows from 
issuance of new shares. A decrease implies a share repurchase that results in a cash outflow. 

ABC has repurchased 1$3001 of common stock over the year, which reduces cash 
flow from financing activities. 

Dividends: Cash dividends paid out can be computed from the following relationship: 

Cash dividends paid out = Beginning dividends payable + Dividends declared -
Ending dividends payable. 

Dividends declared = Beginning retained earnings + Net income - Ending retained 
earnings. 
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Notice that ABC's retained earnings increased by only $1,000 even though income 
was $1,500. This implies that $500 of net income was appropriated to the company's 
shareholders as dividends. Even though our example never explicitly mentions dividends, 
we must ensure that net income reconciles with the change in retained earnings. ABC 
declared $500 of dividends and paid them out as well. If the company had not paid them, 
we would have seen an increase in dividends payable of $500 over the year. 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Cash paid to retire long-term debt 

Repurchase of common stock 

Cash paid as dividends 

Net cash flow from financing activities 

I -6001 
I -3ool 

-500 

E!>@ 

Combining the effects of CFO, CFI, and CFF gives us change in cash and cash equivalents 
over the year: 

Net cash provided by operating activities 
Net cash provided by investing activities 
Net cash used for financing activities 
Net change in cash over the year 

500 
I -1,400 I 

1,150 

The net increase in cash on the cash flow statement must equal the difference between the 
cash balances for 2007 and 2008. The company's cash balance in 2007 was $1 ,150, and in 
2008 was $2,300. Notice that the difference between the two amounts ($1,150) is also the 
net increase in cash calculated on the cash flow statement. 

LOS 26g: Convert cash flows from the indirect to the direct method. 
Vol 3, pp 293-294 

There is a three-step process for converting an indirect cash flow statement into a direct 
statement. 

Step I: Aggregate all revenues and all expenses 

Aggregate all operating and nonoperating revenues and gains such as sales and 
gains from sale of assets. 
Aggregate all operating and nonoperating expenses such as wages, depreciation, 
interest, and taxes. 

Step 2: Remove the effect of noncash items from aggregated revenues and expenses and 
separate the adjusted revenues and expenses into their respective cash flow items. 

Deduct noncash revenue items such as gain on sales of assets from total revenue. 
Deduct noncash expense items such as depreciation from total expenses. 
Break down the adjusted expenses into cash outflow items, such as cost of goods 
sold, wages, interest expense, and tax expense. 
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Step 3: Convert the accrual-based items into cash-based amounts by adjusting for changes 
in corresponding working accounts. 

An increase (decrease) in an asset account is a cash outflow (inflow). An increase 
(decrease) in a liability account is a cash inflow (outflow). 

Convert revenue into cash receipts from customers by adjusting for accounts 
receivable and unearned revenue. 
Convert COGS into cash payments to suppliers by adjusting for inventory and 
accounts payable. 
Convert wages, interest, and tax expenses into cash amounts by adjusting for 
wages payable, interest payable, taxes payable, and deferred taxes. 

Conversion from Indirect to the Direct Method 

Step 1 

Aggregate all revenue and all expenses: 

Total revenues (23,000 + 200) 
Total expenses (11,500 + 8,500 + 300 + 1,400) 
Net income 

Step2 

$23,200 
$21,700 

$1,500 

Remove all noncash items from aggregated revenues and expenses and break out 
remaining items into relevant cash flow items: 

Total revenue less noncash item revenues: 
(23,200 - 200) 

Total expenses less noncash item expenses: 
(21,700 - 1,000) 

Cost of goods sold 
Salary and wage expenses 
Other operating expenses 
Interest expense 
Income tax expense 
Total 

Step3 

$23,000 

$20,700 

$11,500 
$4,000 
$3,500 

$300 
$1,400 

$20,700 

Convert accrual amounts to cash flow amounts by adjusting for working capital changes: 

Cash received from customers 
Cash paid to suppliers 
Cash paid to employees 
Cash paid for other operating expenses 
Cash paid for interest 
Cash paid for income tax 

CFO 
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$22,950 
($11,950) 

($3,990) 
($3,250) 

($325) 
($1,385) 
$ 



UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

LESSON 3: CASH FLOW STATEMENT ANALYSIS 

LOS 26h: Analyze and interpret both reported and common-size cash flow 
statements. Vol 3, pp 296-302 

Cash flow analysis helps us evaluate how well a business is being run and to estimate its 
future cash flows. The analysis begins with understanding the sources and uses of cash and 
determining which components of the cash flow statement these sources and uses can be 
attributed to. The analysis also includes an evaluation of the determinants of each of the 
components. 

Major Sources and Uses of Cash 

Sources and uses of cash depend upon the company's stage of growth. 

Companies in the early stages of growth may have negative operating cash flows 
as cash is used by the company to finance inventory rollout and receivables. These 
negative operating cash flows are supported by financing inflows from issuance of 
debt or equity. 
Inflows of cash from financing activities are not sustainable. Over the long term, 
a company must generate positive cash flows from operating activities that exceed 
capital expenditures and payments to providers of debt and equity capital. 
Companies in the mature stage of growth usual! y have positive cash flows 
from operating activities. These inflows can be used for debt repayment and 
stock repurchases. They can also be used by the company to expand its scale of 
operations (investing activities). 

Operating Cash Flow 
Changes in relevant asset and liability accounts should be used to determine 
whether business operations are a source or use of cash. 
Operating cash flow should be compared to net income. If high net income is not 
being translated into high operating cash flow, the company might be employing 
aggressive revenue recognition policies. 
Companies should ideally have operating cash flows that exceed net income. 
The variability of operating cash flow and net income is an important determinant 
of the overall risk inherent in the company. 

Investing Cash Flow 
Changes in long-term asset and investment accounts are used to determine sources 
and uses of investing cash flows. 
Increasing outflows may imply capital expenditures. Analysts should then evaluate 
how the company plans to finance these investments (i.e., with excess operating 
cash flow or by undertaking financing activities). 

Financing Cash Flow 
Changes in interest-bearing debt and equity are used to determine sources and uses 
of financing cash flow. 
If debt issuance contributes significantly to financing cash flow, the repayment 
schedule must be considered. 
Increasing use of cash to repay debt, repurchase stock, or make dividend payments 
might indicate a lack of lucrative investment opportunities for the company. 
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Common-size analysis: There are two ways to construct common-size cash flow 
statements: 

UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

1. Express each item as a percentage of net revenues. This is the most commonly 
used format. 

2. Express each cash inflow item as a percentage of total cash inflows, and each cash 
outflow item as a percentage of total cash outflows. 

Common-size cash flow statements make it easier to identify trends in cash flows, and help in 
forecasting future cash flows as individual items are expressed as a percentage of revenues. 

Exhibit 3-1 contains Rhodson Company's common-size cash flow statement: 

Exhibit 3-1: Common-Size Cash Flow Statement 

Rhodson Company 

Cash Flow Statement 

Percent of Revenues 

Net income 

Depreciation 

Increase in accounts receivable 

Increase in inventory 

Decrease in prepaid expenses 

Increase in accrued expenses 

Operating cash flow 

Cash from sale of fixed assets 

Purchase of plant and equipment 

Investing cash flow 

Sale of bonds 

Cash dividends 

Financing cash flow 

Total cash flows 

Net revenue in 2008; $300,000 
Net revenue in 2007; $250,000 

Brief Analysis 

2008 

$ 
55,000 

10,000 

- 5,000 

- 3,000 

1,500 

2,000 

60,500 

12,000 

- 10,000 

2,000 

7,500 

- 2,000 

5,500 

68,000 

2008 

% 

18.33 

3.33 

- 1.67 

- 1.00 

0.50 

0.67 

20.17 

4.00 

- 3.33 

0.67 

2.50 

--0.67 

1.83 

22.67 

CFO has fallen as a percentage of revenues in 2008. 

2007 

$ 
45,000 

10,000 

-4,000 

- 2,000 

3,000 

2,500 

54,500 

5,000 

0 

5,000 

5,000 

- 2,000 

3,000 

62,500 

CFI is lower in 2008 due to the purchase of plant and equipment. 

2007 

% 

18.00 

4.00 

- 1.60 

--0.80 

1.20 

1.00 

21.80 

2.00 

0.00 

2.00 

2.00 

- 0.80 

1.20 

25.00 

CFF has contributed more significantly to total cash flow in 2008. The company 
has issued more debt. 
Total cash flow has decreased as a percentage of sales. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLDW STATEMENTS 

LOS 26i: Calculate and interpret free cash flow to the firm, free cash flow to 
equity, and performance and coverage cash flow ratios. Vol 3, pp 302-305 

Free cash flow is the excess of a company's operating cash flows over capital expenditure 
undertaken during the year. Free cash flow to the firm and free cash flow to equity are 
more precise measures of free cash flow as they identify specifically whom the cash is 
available to. 

Free cash flow to the firm (FCFF) is cash that is available to equity and debt holders after 
the company has met all its operating expenses and satisfied its capital expenditure and 
working capital requirements. 

FCFF =NI+ NCC+ [Intx (I-tax rate)]- FCinv-WCinv 

where: 
NI = net income 
NCC = noncash charges 
FCinv =fixed capital investment (net capital expenditure) 
WCinv = working capital investment 
Int= Interest expense 

Notice that net income that has been adjusted for noncash charges and changes in working 
capital accounts equals the company's operating cash flows. Therefore: 

[ FCFF =CFO+ [Int x (I - tax rate)]- FCinv [ 

Example 3-1: Calculating FCFF 

Continuing from our previous example of ABC Company and assuming a tax rate of 
40%, calculate FCFF. 

Solution 

Recall the following information regarding ABC Company: 
CFO= $2,050 
Interest expense = $300 
Fixed capital investment = -$500 (the company sold noncurrent assets for $500) 

Therefore: 

FCFF =CFO+ Interest expense (I -Tax rate) - FCinv 

FCFF = 2,050 + 300 (I - 0.4) - (-500) = $2,730 

Note: Under IFRS, if the company has classified interest and dividends received as 
investing activities, they should be added to CFO to determine FCFF. If dividends 
paid were deducted from CFO, they should be added back to CFO to calculate FCFF. 
Dividends must not be adjusted for taxes as dividends paid are not tax-deductible. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

Free cash flow to equity (FCFE) refers to cash that is available only to common shareholders. 

I FCFE = CFO - FC!nv +Net borrowing I 

Example 3-2: Calculating FCFE 

Continuing from our previous example of ABC Company and assuming a tax rate of 
40%, calculate FCFE. 

Solution 

Recall the following information regarding ABC Company: 
CFO= $2,050 
Fixed capital investment= - $500 (the company sold noncurrent assets for $500) 
Net borrowing= - $600 (the company repaid $600 worth of debt) 

Therefore: 

FCFE =CFO - FCinv +Net borrowing 

FCFE = 2,050 - (- 500) + (-600) = $1,950 

A positive FCFE suggests that the company has operating cash flows available after 
payments have been made for capital expenditure and debt repayment. This excess belongs 
to common shareholders. 

Note: Under IFRS, if the company has deducted dividends paid in calculating CFO, 
dividends must be added back to calculated FCFE. 

Cash Flow Ratios 

The information available on cash flow statements can be used to compute cash flow ratios. 
These ratios, like income statement and balance sheet ratios, can be used for comparing 
the company's performance over time (time-series analysis) or against other companies 
within the same industry (cross-sectional analysis). Cash flow ratios can be categorized as 
performance (profitability) ratios and coverage (solvency) ratios. See Table 3-1. 
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UNDERSTANDING CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

Table 3-1: Cash Flow Ratios2 

Performance Ratio 

Cash flow to revenue 

Cash return on assets 

Cash return on equity 

Cash to income 

Cash flow per share 

Coverage Ratios 

Debt coverage 

Interest coverage 

Reinvestment 

Debt payment 

Dividend payment 

Formula 

CFO I Net revenue 

CFO I Average total assets 

CFO I Average shareholders' 
equity 

What it Measures 

Cash generated per unit of revenue. 

Cash generated from all resources, 
equity, and debt. 

Cash generated from owner resources. 

CFO I Operating income The ability of business operations to 
generate cash. 

(CFO - Preferred dividends) I Operating cash flow available for each 
Number of common shares shareholder. 
outstanding 

Formula What it Measures 

CFO I Total debt Leverage and financial risk. 

(CFO + Interest paid +Taxes Ability to satisfy interest obligations. 
paid) I Interest paid 

CFO I Cash paid for long-term Ability to buy long-term assets with 
assets operating cash flows. 

CFO I Cash paid for long-term Ability to meet debt obligations with 
debt repayment operating cash flows. 

CFO I Dividends paid Ability to make dividend payments 
with operating cash flows. 

Investing and financing CFO I Cash outflows for 
investing and financing 
activities 

Ability to buy long-term assets, settle 
debt obligations and make dividend 
payments from operating cash flows. 

2 - Exhibit 15, Volume 3, CPA Program Curriculum 2017 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

READING 27: FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

LESSON 1: ANALYTICAL TOOLS AND TECHNIQUES 

Financial statement analysis applies analytical tools to financial statements and related data 
to make investment decisions. It involves transforming accounting data into information 
useful for analysis, forecasting, and decision-making. 

Financial statement analysis reduces reliance on hunches and guesses in decision-making. 
It does not lower the need for expert judgment, but provides an effective and systematic 
basis for making investment decisions. 

It is important for an analyst to understand the financial analysis process. A general 
framework for financial statement analysis is presented in Exhibit 1-1. 

Exhibit 1-1: Framework for Financial Statement Analysis 

I. Articulate 
the purpose 

and the 
context of 

the analysis. 

Output: 
Adjusted financial statements 
Common-size statements 
Ratios and graphs 
Forecasts 

4. Analyze/ 
interpret the 
processed 

data. 

Output: 
Analytical results 

5~0~;:~i~a':d - I 6. Follow up. 1 
conclusions. 

The primary focus of this reading is on Steps 3 and 4, processing and analyzing data. 

LOS 27a: Describe the tools and techniques used in financial analysis, 
including their uses and limitations. Vol 3, pp 322-338 

A ratio expresses a mathematical relationship between two quantities in terms of a 
percentage or a proportion. Ratios may be computed using data directly from companies' 
financial statements or from other available databases. Computation of a ratio is a simple 
arithmetic operation but its interpretation may not be that simple. To be meaningful, a ratio 
must refer to an economically important relation. 

The value of ratio analysis lies in its ability to assist an equity or credit analyst in the 
evaluation of a company' s past performance, assessment of its current financial position, 
and forecasting its future cash flows and profitability trends. 

Uses of Ratio Analysis 

Financial ratios provide insights into: 

Microeconomic relationships within the company that are used by analysts to 
project the company's earnings and cash flows. 
A company 's financial flexibility. 
Management' s ability. 
Changes in the company and industry over time. 
How the company compares to peer companies and the industry overall. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

@) 

Common-Size Analysis 

Common-size statements allow analysts to compare a company's performance with that 
of other firms and to evaluate its performance over time. 

Common-Size Income Statements 

A common-size income statement expresses all income statement items as a percentage 
of revenues. Common-size income statements are extremely useful in identifying trends 
in costs and profit margins. Further, certain financial ratios are explicitly stated on these 
statements (e.g., the gross profit margin and the net profit margin). 

Income statement account 
Vertical common-size income statement percentage= Revenue X 100 

Common-Size Balance Sheets 

Common-size balance sheets express each item as a percentage of total assets. Common­
size balance sheets are prepared to highlight changes in the mix of assets, liabilities, and 
equity. 

Balance sheet account 
Vertical common-size balance sheet percentage= Total assets X 100 

Exhibit 1-2 contains the income statement and balance sheet of XYZ Company in terms of 
dollar amounts and common-size percentages. 

Exhibit 1-2: Vertical Common-Size Income Statement and Balance Sheet for XYZ 

Income Statement 

2006 2006 2007 2007 
$ % $ % 

Sales 400,000 100.0 475 ,000 100.0 

Cost of goods sold (COGS) 320,000 80.0 377,625 79.5 

Gross profit 80,000 20.0 97,375 20.5 

Selling, general, & administrative 28,000 7.0 30,875 6.5 ~ 
expenses (SG&A) 

Depreciation 20,000 5.0 7,125 1.5 m 
Interest expense 20,000 5.0 33 ,250 7.0 @] 

68,000 71 ,250 

Profit before taxes 12,000 3.0 26,125 5.5 

Income taxes (30% of pretax profits) 3,600 0.9 7,838 1.7 

Net income 8,400 2.1 18,288 3.9 IIl 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Exhibit 1-2: (continued) 

Balance Sheet 

2006 2006 2007 2007 

$ % $ % 

Assets 

Current Assets 

Cash 21,000 10,000 lfil 
Short-term investments 15,000 5 12,000 4 

Accounts receivable 27,000 10 34,000 11 

Inventories 44,000 16 33,000 11 

Prepaid expenses 2,500 3,500 

Other current assets 19,000 7 24,000 

Total Current Assets 128,500 46 116,500 39 [§] 

Fixed Assets 

Net property and equipment 110,000 40 110,000 37 

Long-term investments 10,000 4 4,000 1 

Intangible assets 16,000 6 56,000 19 l2l 
Other long-term assets 12,000 4 12,000 4 

Total Fixed Assets 148,000 54 182,000 61 

Total Assets 276,500 100 298,500 100 

Liabilities 

Current Liabilities 

Accounts payable 27,000 10 20,000 7 

Accrued expenses 12,700 5 17,000 6 

Total Current Liabilities 39,700 14 37,000 12 

Long Term Debt 21,800 21,800 7 w 
Shareholders Equity 

Common stock 120,000 43 135,000 45 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 500 0 -300 0 

Retained earnings 
. 

95,000 34 100,000 34 

Other equity -500 0 5,000 2 

Total Shareholders' Equity 215,000 78 239,700 80 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 276,500 100 298,500 100 

*The company paid out $13,288 in dividends for the year 2007. 
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FINANCIAL AN ALYS IS TECHNIQUES 

Analysis of the common-size income statement for ABC Company indicates that: 

1. The profitability of the company has improved. 
2. Decrease in COGS and SG&A as a percentage of sales only explain a small 

proportion of the improvement in profit margins. 
3. Reduction in depreciation has contributed significantly to the improvement in 

profitability. 
4. The drastic reduction in depreciation has masked the effect of a significant increase 

in interest expense over the period. 
5. Interest expense has risen despite the fact that the long-term liabilities of the 

firm have remained constant. This tells us that the company has probably issued 
floating-rate bonds and is now paying a higher effective interest rate on its loans. 

6. Although the income statement shows improved profitability, the firm might run 
into some cash flow issues going forward. Higher interest expense has drained 
cash from the firm. On the income statement, the effect of higher interest expense 
is offset by significantly lower depreciation. While it helps reported profits, lower 
depreciation does not bring in any cash. 

7. The company' s intangible assets now form a more significant proportion of its total 
assets. These must be scrutinized in detail. 

8. More of the company's assets are now concentrated in long-term assets. Current 
assets ' share of total assets has declined significantly. 

While common-size analysis does not tell us the entire story behind the company's 
financials, it does lead us in the right direction and prompt us to ask relevant questions 
in assessing the company's operating performance over the period, and evaluating its 
prospects going forward. 

Cross-Sectional Analysis 

Cross-sectional analysis, also known as relative analysis, compares a specific metric 
for one company with the same metric for another company or group of companies 
over a period of time. This allows comparisons even though the companies might be of 
significantly different sizes and/or operate in different countries. Consider two companies 
from the same industry. If one of them has accounts receivable representing 20% of its 
total assets, while the other has 40% of its assets in the form of accounts receivable, 
we might conclude that the latter has a greater proportion of credit sales or that it uses 
aggressive accounting policies for revenue recognition. 

Trend Analysis 

Trend analysis provides important information about a company's historical performance. 
It can also offer assistance in forecasting the financial performance of a company. When 
looking for trends over time, horizontal common-size financial statements are often 
prepared. Dollar values of accounts are divided by their base-year values to determine their 
common-size values. Horizontal common-size statements can also help identify structural 
changes in the business. 
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Example 1-1: Relationships Among Financial Statements 

Consider the following information: 

2011 ($) 2010 ($) 2009 ($) 

Revenue 7,604,186 6,336,822 5,510,280 

Net income 1,260,477 1,008,381 826,542 

Operating cash How 942,258 1,046,953 1,102,056 

Total assets 10,637,596 7,879,700 6,061,308 

Based on the given information, comment on the financial performance of the company. 

Solution 

We can use horizontal common-size analysis to evaluate the financial performance of 
the company. The year-on-year percentage changes for various financial variables are 
calculated below: 

2011 2010 

Revenue 20.00% 15.00% 

Net income 25.00% 22.00% 

Operating cash How -10.00% -5.00% 

Total assets 35.00% 30.00% 

The percentage growth figures allow us to draw the following conclusions: 

Net income is growing/aster than revenue. This indicates increasing 
profitability. However, the analyst should dig deeper and identify the source of 
this higher net income (i.e., whether it results from continuing operations, or 
from nonoperating, nonrecurring items). 
The company's operating cash flow is decreasing. This is a cause for concern 
and requires further investigation. The fact that operating cash flow is declining 
in spite of the positive growth in revenues may indicate a problem with the 
company's earnings quality (e.g., aggressive recognition of revenue). 
Total assets are growing faster than revenue. This suggests that the company's 
efficiency levels are declining. The analyst should look to identify the reason for the 
high growth rate in assets and also examine the composition of the increase in assets. 

Uses of Charts in Financial Analysis 

Graphs facilitate comparisons of firm performance and financial structure over time, 
highlighting changes in significant aspects of business operations. They may also be used 
to communicate important conclusions of financial analysis. 

Pie charts are most useful in illustrating the composition of a total value. For example, a 
pie chart should be used when presenting the components of total expenses for the year 
(COGS, SG&A, depreciation). 

©2017Wiley 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Line graphs help identify trends and detect changes in direction or magnitude. For 
example, a line graph that illustrates a marked increase in accounts receivable while cash 
balances are falling indicates that the firm might have problems managing its working 
capital going forward. 

A stacked common graph illustrates the changes in various items over the period in 
graphical form. Figure 1-1 illustrates the asset mix of Bilan Company. It is quite clear 
from this graph that while total assets are generally increasing over the 5-year period, an 
increasing proportion of the company's assets are composed of receivables. 

Figure 1-1: Stacked Column Graph 
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Regression analysis can help identify relationships between variables (e.g., between sales 
and inventory) over time and assist analysts in making forecasts (e.g., the relationship 
between GDP and sales can be used to make revenue forecasts). 

Limitations of Ratio Analysis 
Companies may have divisions that operate in different industries. This can make it 
difficult to find relevant industry ratios to use for comparisons. 
One set of ratios may suggest that there is a problem, but another set may indicate 
that the potential problem is only short term. 
There are no set ranges within which particular ratios for a company must lie. An 
analyst must use her own judgment to evaluate the implications of a given value 
for a ratio. This usually involves examining the operations of a company, the 
external, industry and economic scenario before interpreting results and drawing 
conclusions. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Firms ertjoy significant latitude in the choice of accounting methods that are 
acceptable given the jurisdiction in which they operate. For example, under U.S. 
GAAP, companies can: 

o Use the FIFO, AVCO, or LIFO inventory cost flow assumption. 
o Choose from a variety of depreciation methods. 

Comparing ratios of firms across international borders is even more difficult in 
that most countries use IFRS. Despite the growing convergence between IFRS 
and U.S. GAAP, significant differences remain, which make it very difficult for 
analysts to compare ratios of firms that use different accounting standards. 

It is also important to understand that the exact definitions of certain ratios vary across the 
analyst community. For example, in measuring leverage, some analysts use total liabilities, 
while others using only interest-bearing debt. 

LESSON 2: COMMON RATIOS USED IN FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

LOS 27b: Classify, calculate, and interpret activity, liquidity, solvency, 
profitability, and valuation ratios. Vol 3, pp 33S-359 

Ratios are typically classified into the following categories: 

Activity ratios measure how productive a company is in using its assets and how efficiently 
it performs its everyday operations. 

Liquidity ratios measure the company's ability to meet its short-term cash requirements. 

Solvency ratios measure a company's ability to meet long-term debt obligations. 

Profitability ratios measure a company's ability to generate an adequate return on invested 
capital. 

Valuation ratios measure the quantity of an asset or flow (e.g., earnings) associated with 
ownership of a specific claim (e.g., common stock). 

These categories are not mutually exclusive. Some ratios are useful in evaluating multiple 
aspects of the business. Certain profitability ratios, for example, also reflect the operating 
efficiency of the business. 

Interpretation and Context 

The financial ratios of a company are compared to those of its major competitors in cross­
sectional analysis. A company's ratios for a given year can also be compared to its own 
prior period ratios to identify trends. The goal of ratio analysis is to understand the causes 
of material differences in ratios of a company compared to its peers. An analyst should 
evaluate financial ratios based on the following: 

Actual ratios should be compared to the company's stated objectives. This helps in 
determining whether the company's operations are moving in line with its strategy. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

A company's ratios should be compared with those of others in the industry. When 
comparing ratios between firms from the same industry, analysts must be careful 
because: 

o Not all ratios are important to every industry. 
o Companies may have several lines of business, which can cause aggregate 

financial ratios to be distorted. In such a situation, analysts should evaluate 
ratios for each segment of the business in relation to relevant industry aver­
ages. 

o Companies might be using different accounting standards. 
o Companies could be at different stages of growth or may have different strat­

egies. This can result in different values for various ratios for firms in the 
same industry. 

Ratios should be studied in light of the current phase of the business cycle. 

Exhibit 2-1 contains the financial statements of ABC Company, which we will use to 
calculate and interpret various financial ratios. 

Exhibit 2-1: Financial Statements for ABC Company 

Income Statement 

2006 2007 

$ $ 
Total revenue 400,000 500,000 

Cost of goods sold (COGS) (320,000) (380,000) 

Gross profit 80,000 120,000 

General expenses (28,000) (29,000) 

Depreciation (8,000) (12,000) 

Operating income 44,000 79,000 

Interest income 3,000 2,000 

Interest expense (400) (1,800) 

Other losses (1800) (4,200) 

Income before income 44,800 75,000 
taxes 
Provision for income taxes (16,000) (21,000) 

Net income 28,800 54,000 
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Exhibit 2-1: (continued) 

Balance Sheet 

2006 2007 
$ $ 

Assets 
Current Assets 
Cash 21 ,000 32,000 
Short-term investments 15,000 22,000 
Accounts receivable 27,000 34,000 
Inventories 16,000 34,000 
Prepaid expenses 21 ,500 27,500 
Total Current Assets 100,500 149,500 

Fixed Assets 
Property and equipment 110,000 180,000 
Long-term investments 13,000 4,000 
Intangible assets 16,000 56,000 
Other long-term assets 12,000 14,000 
Total Fixed Assets 151,000 254,000 

Total Assets 251,500 403,500 

Liabilities 
Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable 27,000 20,000 
Accrued expenses 12,700 17,000 
Total Current Liabilities 39,700 37,000 
Long-Term Debt 21,800 83,000 

Shareholders' Equity 
Common stock 120,000 180,000 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 0 -1,500 
Retained earnings 70,000 100,000 
General reserves 0 5,000 
Total Shareholders' Equity 190,000 283,500 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 251,500 403,500 

Activity Ratios 

Activity ratios are also known as asset utilization ratios or operating efficiency ratios. 
They measure how well a company manages its operations and particularly how efficiently 
it manages its assets-working capital and long-lived assets. See Table 2-1. 

©2017Wiley 



Fl NANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

The ratios calculated 
herearefor2007. 

Inventory turnover = Cost of goods sold 
Average inventory 

Table 2-1: Definitions of Commonly Used Activity Ratios' 

Activity Ratios Numerator 

Inventory turnover Cost of goods sold 

Days of inventory on Number of days in 
hand(DOH) period 

Receivables turnover Revenue 

Days of sales outstanding Number of days in 
(DSO) period 

Payables turnover Purchases 

Number of days of Number of days in 
payables period 

Working capital turnover Revenue 

Fixed asset turnover Revenue 

Total asset turnover Revenue 

Denominator 

Average inventory 

Inventory turnover 

Average receivables 

Receivables turnover 

Average trade 
payables 

Payables turnover 

Average working 
capital 

Average net fixed 
assets 

Average total assets 

This ratio is used to evaluate the effectiveness of a company's inventory management. 
Generally, this ratio is benchmarked against the industry average. 

A high inventory turnover ratio relative to industry norms might indicate highly 
effective management. Alternatively, it could also indicate that the company does 
not hold adequate inventory levels, which can hurt sales incase shortages arise. A 
simple comparison of the company's sales growth to the industry's growth in sales 
can indicate whether sales are suffering because too little stock is available for sale 
at any given point in time. 
A low inventory turnover relative to the rest of the industry can be an indicator 
of slow moving or obsolete inventory. It suggests that the company has too many 
resources tied up in inventory. 

Inventory turnover of ABC Company= 
3SO,OOO 15.2 

(16,000+ 34,000) /2 

Days of inventory on hand (DOH) = 
365 

Inventory turnover 

I - Exhibit I 0, Volume 3, CPA Program Curriculum 2017 
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This ratio is inversely related to inventory turnover. 

The higher the inventory turnover ratio, the shorter the length of the period that 
inventory is held on average. 

Days of Inventory on hand of ABC Company = 
365 

= 24.0 days 
15.2 

Revenue 
Receivables turnover= ------­

Average receivables 

A high receivables turnover ratio might indicate that the company's credit 
collection procedures are highly efficient. However, a high ratio can also result 
from overly stringent credit or collection policies, which can hurt sales if 
competitors offer more lenient credit terms to customers. 
A low ratio relative to industry averages will raise questions regarding the 
efficiency of a company's credit or collection procedures. 
As with the inventory turnover ratio, a simple comparison of the company's sales 
growth with industry sales growth can help determine whether the reason behind 
a high receivables turnover ratio is strict credit terms or efficient receivables 
management. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Analysts can also compare current estimates of the company 's bad debts and credit 
losses with its own past estimates and peer companies' estimates to assess whether 
low receivables turnover is the result of credit management issues. 

Receivables turnover of ABC Company = 
5

00,000 16.4 
(27,000 +34,000)/ 2 

Days of sales outstanding (DSO) = . 
365 

Receivables turnover 

The receivables turnover ratio and days of sales outstanding are inversely related. 
The higher the receivables turnover ratio, the lower the DSO. 

DSO of ABC Company = 
365 

= 22.3days 
16.4 

Payables turnover = Purchases 
Average trade payables 

The amount for purchases over the year is usually not explicitly stated on the income 
statement; it is typically only disclosed in the footnotes to the financial statements. You 
might be expected to calculate purchases using the following formula: 

Purchases = Ending inventory+ COGS - Opening inventory 
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Payables turnover measures how many times a year the company theoretically pays off all 
its creditors. 

A high ratio can indicate that the company is not making full use of available credit 
facilities and repaying creditors too soon. However, a high ratio could also result 
from a company making payments early to avail early payment discounts. 
A low ratio could indicate that a company ntight be having trouble making 
payments on time. However, a low ratio can also result from a company 
successfully exploiting lenient supplier terms. If the company has sufficient cash 
and short-term investments, the low payables turnover ratio is probably not an 
indication of a liquidity crisis. It is probably a result of lenient supplier credit and 
collection policies. 

Payables turnover of ABC Company= 34,000 + 380,000- l 6,000 16.9 
(27,000+20,000)/ 2 

Number of days of payables = 
365 

Payables turnover 

The number of days of payables is inversely related to the payables turnover ratio. 
The higher the payables turnover, the lower the number of days of payables. 

Number of days of payables of ABC Company = 
365 

= 21.6 days 
16.9 

Working capital turnover= Revenue 
Average working capital 

Working capital turnover indicates how efficiently the company generates revenue from its 
working capital. Working capital equals current assets ntinus current liabilities 

A higher working capital turnover ratio indicates higher operating efficiency. 

For 2007, ABC's opening working capital equals $60,800 ($100,500 - $39,700), and 
ending working capital equals $112,500 ($149,500 - $37,000). Therefore, average 
working capital for 2007 equals $86,650. 

Working capital turnover of ABC Company= $
5

00,000 = 5.77 
$86,650 

Revenue 
Fixed asset turnover= ------­

Average fixed assets 
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This ratio measures how efficiently a company generates revenues from its investments in 
long-lived assets. 

A higher ratio indicates more efficient use of fixed assets in generating revenue. 
A low ratio could be an indicator of operating inefficiency. However, a low fixed 
asset turnover can also be the result of a capital intensive business environment. 
Companies that have recently entered a new business that is not fully operational 
also report low fixed asset turnover ratios. 
The fixed asset turnover ratio will be lower for a firm whose assets are newer 
than for a firm whose assets are relatively older. The older-asset firm will have 
depreciated its assets for a longer period so the book value of its fixed assets will 
be lower. 

Fixed asset turnover of ABC Company= 
5

00,000 2.47 
(151,000+254,000) /2 

Revenue 
Total asset turnover = ------­

Average total assets 

Total asset turnover measures the company's overall ability to generate revenues with a 
given level of assets. 

A high ratio indicates efficiency, while a low ratio can be an indicator of 
inefficiency or the level of capital intensity of the business. 
This ratio also identifies strategic decisions by management. For example, a 
business that uses highly capital-intensive techniques of production will have 
a lower total asset turnover compared to a business that uses labor-intensive 
production methods. 

500,000 
Total asset turnover of ABC Company= (2Sl,

5
00+

4
0J,

5
00)/

2 
1.53 

Liquidity Ratios 

Analysis of a company's liquidity ratios aims to evaluate a company's ability to meet its 
short-term obligations. Liquidity measures how quickly a company can convert its assets 
into cash at prices that are close to their fair values. See Table 2-2. 

Current ratio = Current assets 
Current liabilities 

A higher ratio is desirable because it indicates a higher level of liquidity. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

A current ratio of 1.0 indicates that the book value of the company' s current assets 
equals the book value of its current liabilities. 
A low ratio indicates less liquidity and implies a greater reliance on operating cash 
flow and outside financing to meet short-term obligations. 
The current ratio assumes that inventory and accounts receivable can readily be 
converted into cash at close to their fair values. 
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Current ratio of ABC Company= t 49
,
5oo = 4.04 

37,000 

Quick ratio= Cash+ Short-term marketable investments+ Receivables 
Cunent liabilities 

Table 2-2: Definitions of Commonly Used Liquidity Ratios' 

Liquidity Ratios Numerator Denominator 

Current ratio Current assets Current liabilities 

Quick ratio Cash+ Short-term marketable Current liabilities 
investments + Receivables 

Cash ratio Cash+ Short-term marketable Current liabilities 
investments 

Defensive interval ratio Cash+ Short-term marketable Daily cash 
investments + Receivables expenditures 

Additional Liquidity Measure 

Cash conversion cycle 
(net operating cycle) 

DOH+ DSO - Nwnber of days of payables 

The quick ratio recognizes that certain current assets (such as prepaid expenses) represent 
costs that have been paid in advance in the current year and cannot usually be converted 
into cash. This ratio also considers the fact that inventory cannot be immediately liquidated 
at its fair value. Therefore, these cunent assets are excluded from the nwnerator in the 
calculation of the quick ratio. When inventory is illiquid, this ratio is a better indicator of 
liquidity than current ratio. 

A high quick ratio indicates greater liquidity. 

Quick ratio of ABC Company= 32,000+ 22,000+ 34,000 2.38 
37,000 

Cash ratio= Cash+ Short-term marketable investments 
Current liabilities 

The cash ratio is a very reliable measure of an entity 's liquidity position in the event of 
an unforeseen crisis. This is because it only includes cash and highly liquid short-term 
investments in the numerator. 

Cash ratio of ABC Company= 
54

,000 = 1.46 
37,000 

Defensive interval ratio= Cash+ Short-term marketable investments+ Receivables 
Daily cash expenditures 

2-fuhibit 12, Volume 3, CFA Program Curriculum2017 
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This ratio measures how long the company can continue to meet its daily expense 
requirements from its existing liquid assets without obtaining any additional financing. A 
defensive interval of 40 indicates that the company can pay its operating expenses for 40 
days by liquidating its quick assets. 

A high defensive interval ratio is desirable as it indicates greater liquidity. 
If a company's defensive interval ratio is very low compared to the industry 
average, the analyst might want to determine whether significant cash inflows are 
expected in the near future to meet expense requirements. 

Cash conversion cycle = DSO +DOH - Number of days of payables 

The cash conversion cycle (also known as net operating cycle) measures the length of the 
period between the point that a company invests in working capital and the point that the 
company collects cash proceeds from sales. Specifically, it is the time between the outlay 
of cash (to pay off accounts payable for credit purchases) and the collection of cash (from 
accounts receivable for goods sold on credit). 

A shorter cycle is desirable, as it indicates greater liquidity. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

A longer cash conversion cycle indicates lower liquidity. It implies that the company 
has to finance its inventory and accounts receivable for a longer period of time. 

Cash conversion cycle of ABC Company= 24+ 22.3 - 21.6 = 24.7 days 

Solvency Ratios 

Solvency refers to a company's ability to meet its long-term debt obligations. Solvency 
ratios measure the relative amount of debt in a company's capital structure and the ability 
of earnings and cash flows to meet debt-servicing requirements. The amount of debt in 
the capital structure is important to assess a company 's degree of financial leverage (its 
financial risk). If the company can earn a return on borrowed funds that is greater than 
interest costs, the inclusion of debt in the capital structure will increase shareholder wealth. 
See Table 2-3. 

Total debt 
Debt-to-assets ratio= ---­

Total assets 
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When evaluating a 
company's solvency 
ratios,itisimJX>rtant 
to consider the 
volatility of the 
company's cash 
flows. Companies 
with stable cash flow 
streams are typically 
able to take on more 
debt. 

ABC has no short­
term debt. 

Table 2-3: Definitions of Commonly Used Solvency Ratios3 

Solvency Ratios Numerator 

Debt Ratios 

Debt-to-assets ratio Total debt 

Debt-to-capital ratio Total debt 

Debt-to-equity ratio Total debt 

Financial leverage ratio Average total assets 

Coverage Ratios 

Interest coverage EBIT 

Fixed charge coverage EBIT + Lease payments 

Denominator 

Total assets 

Total debt + Total 
shareholders ' equity 

Total shareholders' equity 

Average total equity 

Interest payments 

Interest payments + Lease 
payments 

"Total debt ratio" is another name sometimes used for the debt-to-assets ratio. 
In this reading, we take total debt in this context to be the sum of interest-bearing short.term and 
long-term debt. 

Important: In this reading, we take total debt in this context to be the sum of interest­
bearing short-term and long-term debt. The debt-to-asset ratio measures the proportion of 
the firm's total assets that have been financed by debt. 

A higher DI A ratio is undesirable because it implies higher financial risk and a 
weaker solvency position. 

Debt to assets ratio of ABC Company= 
83

•
000 

= 0.21 
403,500 

Total debt 
Debt-to-capital ratio = -----------­

Total debt+Shareholders' equity 

This ratio measures the proportion of a company's total capital (debt plus equity) that is 
composed of debt. 

A higher ratio indicates higher financial risk and is undesirable. 

Debt to capital ratio of ABC Company= 
33.ooo 0.23 

83,000 + 283,500 

Debt-to-equity ratio 
Total debt 

Shareholders' equity 

3 - Exhibit 14, Volume 3, CFA Program Curriculum 201 7 
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This ratio measures the amount of debt capital relative to a firm's equity capital. 

A higher ratio is undesirable and indicates higher financial risk. 
A ratio of 1.0 indicates equal amounts of debt and equity in the company's capital 
structure. 

Debt to equity ratio of ABC Company= 
83

·000 = 0.29 
283,500 

Financial leverage ratio = Average total assets 
Average total equity 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

This ratio measures the amount of total assets supported by each money unit of equity. For 
example, a leverage ratio of 2 means that each dollar of equity supports $2 worth of assets. 
This ratio uses average values for total assets and total equity and plays an important role 
in Dupont decomposition, which we study later in this reading. 

The higher the leverage ratio, the more leveraged (dependent on debt for finance) 
the company. 

Financial leverage ratio of ABC Company= (403•500+ 251•500)/ 2=1.38 
(483,500+ 190,000)/ 2 

Interest coverage ratio= EBIT 
Interest payments 

This ratio measures the number of times a company's operating earnings (earnings 
before interest and tax, or EBIT) cover its annual interest payment obligations. This very 
important ratio is widely used to gauge how comfortably a company can meet its debt­
servicing requirements from operating profits. 

A higher ratio provides assurance that the company can service its debt from 
operating earnings. 

Interest coverage ratio of ABC Company= 
79

.000 = 44 times. 
1,800 

Fixed charge coverage ratio = EBIT +Lease payments 
Interest payments+ Lease payments 

This ratio relates the fixed charges or obligations of the company to its earnings. It 
measures the number of times a company's operating earnings can cover its interest and 
lease payments. 

A higher ratio suggests that the company is comfortably placed to service its debt 
and make lease payments from the earnings it generates from operations. 

Fixed charge coverage ratio for ABC Company= 
79

.000 = 44 times. 
1,800 

ABC has no lease payments. 
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Profitability Ratios 
The ability of a company to generate profits is a key driver of the company's overall value 
and the value of the securities it issues. Therefore, many analysts consider profitability to 
be the focus of their analysis. 

Before moving on to any profitability ratios, you should be fantiliar with a few terms, 
such as gross profit, operating profit, net profit, and so on. These are linked in the income 
statement as follows: 

Net sales 

Cost of goods sold 

Gross profit 

Operating expenses 

Operating profit (EBIT) 

Interest 

Earnings before tax (EBT) 

Taxes 

Earnings after tax (EAT) 

+/- Below the line items adjusted for tax 

Net income 

Preferred dividends 

Income available to common shareholders 

Gross profit margin = Gross profit 
Revenue 

The gross profit margin tells us the percentage of a company's revenues that are available to 
meet operating and nonoperating expenses. A high gross profit margin can be a combination of 
high product prices (reflected in high revenues) and low product costs (reflected in low COGS). 

Gross profit margin of ABC Company = 
12

0,000 = 24% 
500,000 

Operating profit margin = Operating profit 
Revenue 

Operating profits are calculated as gross profit minus operating costs. 

An operating profit margin that is increasing at a higher rate than the gross profit 
margin indicates that the company has successfully controlled operating costs. 
A decreasing operating profit margin when gross profit margins are rising indicates 
that the company is not efficiently controlling operating expenses. 

Operating profit margin of ABC Company = 
79

.000 = 15.8% 
500,000 

p . EBT( earnings before tax, but after interest) 
retax margtn = -~~-~--R-e-ve_n_u_e-----~ 
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Pretax income is also called earnings before tax (EBT). It is calculated as operating 
income minus nonoperating expenses plus nonoperating income. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

If a company's pretax margin is rising primarily due to higher nonoperating 
income, the analyst should evaluate whether this source of income will continue to 
bring in significant earnings going forward. 

Pretax margin of ABC Company= 
75

,000 = 15% 
500,000 

Net profit margin = Net profit 
Revenue 

Net profit margin shows how much profit a company makes for every dollar it generates in 
revenue. 

A low net profit margin indicates a low margin of safety. It alerts analysts to the 
risk that a decline in the company's sales revenue will lower profits or even result 
in a net loss (reduction in shareholder wealth). 

Net profit margin of ABC Company = 
54

,000 = 10.8% 
500,000 

ROA = __ N_e_t _in_c_o_m_e __ 
Average total assets 

Return on assets measures the return earned by the company on its assets. 

The higher the ROA, the greater the income generated by the company given its 
total assets. 

ROA of ABC Com an = 
54

,000 16.5% 
p y (251,500+403,500)/2 

The problem with this calculation of ROA (net income/average total assets) is that it uses 
only the return to equity holders (net income) in the numerator. Assets are financed by both 
equity holders and bond holders. Therefore, some analysts prefer to add interest expense 
back to net income in the numerator. However, interest expense must be adjusted for the 
tax shield that it provides. The adjusted ROA is computed as: 

Adjusted ROA= Net income+ Interest expense(l -Tax rate) 
Average total assets 
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ABC pays no 
preferred dividends. 

Some analysts choose to calculate ROA on a pre-interest and pre-tax basis as: 

Operating ROA = Operating income or EBIT 
Average total assets 

This ratio reflects the return on all assets used by the company, whether financed 
with debt or equity. 

. 79,000 
Operating ROA of ABC Company= (

251
,
500

+
403

,
500

)/
2 

24.1% 

Note: Whichever formula is used to calculate ROA, the analyst must use it consistently in 
cross-sectional analysis and trend analysis. 

Return on total capital = EBIT 
Short-term debt+ Long-term debt+ Equity 

This ratio measures the profits that a company earns on all sources of capital that it 
employs- short-term debt, long-term debt, and equity. Once again, returns are measured 
prior to deducting interest expense. 

Return on total capital of ABC Company= 
79

,000 21.6% 
(83,000+ 283,500) 

Return on equity = __ N_e_t _in_c_o_m_e __ 
Average total equity 

ABC pays no preferred dividends. 

This ratio measures the rate of return earned by a company on its equity capital. Equity capital 
includes minority equity, preferred equity, and common equity. It measures a firm's efficiency 
in generating profits from every dollar of net assets (assets minus liabilities), and shows how 
well a company uses its investment dollars to generate earnings. ROE is commonly used to 
compare the profitability of a company to that of other firms in its industry. 

ROE of ABC Company= 
54

,000 = 22.8% 
(190,000+283,500)12 

R 
. Net income - Preferred dividends 

eturn on common eqwty = . 
Average common eqwty 

This ratio measures the return earned by a company only on its common equity. 

Return on common equity of ABC Company= 
54

,000 36% 
(120,000+ 180,000)/ 2 

See Table 2-4. 
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Table 2-4 Definitions of Commonly Used Profitability Ratios4 

Profitability Ratios 

Return on Sales 

Gross profit margin 

Operating profit margin 

Pre-tax margin 

Net profit margin 

Return on Investment 

Operating ROA 

ROA 

Return on total capital 

ROE 

Return on common equity 

Numerator 

Gross profit 

Operating income 

EBT (earnings before tax 
but after interest) 

Net income 

Operating income 

Net income 

EBIT 

Net income 

Net income - Preferred 
dividends 

4 -Exhibit IS, Volume 3, CPA Program Curriculum 2017 
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Denominator 

Revenue 

Revenue 

Revenue 

Revenue 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Average total assets 

Average total assets 

Short- and long-term 
debt and equity 

Average total equity 

Average common 
equity 
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LOS 27c: Describe the relationships among ratios and evaluate a company 
using ratio analysis. Vol 3, pp 359-361 

Example 2-1: Evaluating a Company Using a Combination of Ratios 

An analyst obtains the following liquidity ratios of a Taiwanese manufacturing company: 

2008 2007 2006 

Current ratio 

Quick ratio 

2.2 

0.7 

2.0 

0.8 

1.7 

0.9 

The increase in the current ratio over the years, from 1.7 to 2.2, suggests that the 
company's liquidity position has strengthened. 
However, the decline in the quick ratio over the years, from 0.9 to 0.7, suggests 
that the liquidity position of the company has deteriorated. 
Both ratios have current liabilities as the denominator. Therefore, the difference 
must be due to the changes in certain current assets that are not included in the 
quick ratio (e.g., inventories). 

To evaluate the disconnect between the suggestions offered by the trend in current and 
quick ratios regarding the company 's liquidity position, the analyst obtains the following 
DOH and DSO figures for the company: 

DOH 

DSO 

2008 

56 

25 

2007 

46 

29 

2006 

31 

51 

The company's DOH has increased from 31 days to 56, which implies that the 
company is holding higher levels of inventory. 
The decrease in DSO indicates that the company is collecting on its receivables 
more quickly than before. 
Taking all these ratios together, we can reach the conclusion that although the 
company is collecting on its receivables more quickly than before, the proceeds 
from sales are being used to purchase inventory which is not being sold as 
quickly. Therefore, the company's quick ratio is suffering, but not its current ratio. 
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Example 2-2: Comparing Two Companies Using Ratios 

An analyst is given the following information about two companies that operate in the 
same industry: 

Company A 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Inventory turnover 75.59 87.08 149.29 188.74 
DOH 5.67 5.01 3.74 2.59 
Receivables turnover 11.57 9.66 12.41 8.45 
DSO 34.67 40.31 33.23 49.89 
Accounts payable turnover 5.52 5.26 5.74 5.12 
Days payable 79.87 84.88 76.29 87.78 
Cash from operationsfrotal liabilities 41.31 % 21.34% 9.89% 18.67% 

ROE 7.56% 2.91% 2.82% -0.54% 
ROA 4.70% 2.05% 2.05% -0.34% 
Net profit margin 3.95% 2.47% 2.49% -0.56% 
Total asset turnover 1.19 0.83 0.82 0.60 
Leverage (Average assets/Average equity) 1.61 1.42 1.38 1.61 

CompanyB 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Inventory turnover 11.29 11.07 9.23 16.18 
DOH 40.12 41.23 49.11 26.45 
Receivables turnover 7.98 6.76 5.34 4.21 
DSO 44.32 53.26 60.98 70.59 
Accounts payable turnover 6.78 6.98 7.45 6.81 
Days payable 55.76 54.23 48.13 54.98 
Cash from operationsfTotal liabilities 14.31% 17.34% 16.89% 12.67% 

ROE 9.53% 6.85% -4.07% -6.60% 
ROA 4.72% 3.55% -1.95% 3.13% 
Net profit margin 4.63% 3.45% -1.43% -2.63% 
Total asset turnover 1.02 1.03 1.36 1.19 
Leverage (Average assets/Average equity) 2.02 1.93 2.09 2.11 

Which of the following choices best describes a reasonable conclusion that an analyst 
might make about the companies' efficiency levels? 

A. Over the 4-year period, Company A has shown greater improvement in 
efficiency than Company B, as indicated by its total asset turnover ratio 
increasing from 0.60 to 1.19. 

B. In 2007, Company A's DOH of only 5.01 indicates that it was less efficient at 
inventory management than Company B, which had a DOH of 41.23. 
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C. In 2008, Company B's receivables turnover of 7.98 indicates that it was more 
efficient at receivables management than Company A, which had a receivables 
turnover of 11.57. 

D. Over the 4 years, Company B has shown greater improvement in efficiency than 
Company A, as indicated by its net profit margin of 4.62%. 

Comments 

Choice A is correct because over the given period, Company A has shown 
greater improvement in efficiency than Company B. Company A's total asset 
turnover (a measure of operating efficiency) has almost doubled from 0.60 to 
1.19. Over the same period, Company B total asset turnover has declined from 
1.19 to 1.05. 
Choice B is incorrect because it misinterprets DOH. All other factors constant, a 
lower DOH indicates better inventory management. 
Choice C is incorrect because it misinterprets receivables turnover. All other 
factors constant, a higher receivables turnover indicates greater efficiency in 
receivables management. 
Choice D is incorrect because net profit margin is not an indicator of efficiency. 
It is an indicator of profitability. 

LESSON 3: DUPONT ANALYSIS, EQUITY ANALYSIS, CREDIT ANALYSIS, AND 
BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS 

LOS 27d: Demonstrate the application of DuPont analysis of return on 
equity and calculate and interpret effects of changes in its components. 
Vol 3, pp 362-366 

ROE measures the return a company generates on its equity capital. Decomposing ROE 
into its components through DuPont analysis has the following uses: 

It facilitates a meaningful evaluation of the different aspects of the company's 
performance that affect reported ROE. 
It helps in determining the reasons for changes in ROE over time for a given 
company. 
It also helps us understand the reasons for differences in ROE for different 
companies over a given time period. 
It can direct management to areas that it should focus on to improve ROE. 
It shows the relationship between the various categories of ratios and how they all 
influence the return that owners realize on their investment. 

Decomposition of ROE 

ROE = __ N_e_t _in_c_o_m_e __ 
Average total equity 
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Tuo-Way DuPont Decomposition 

This decomposition breaks ROE down into two components. 

ROE_ Net income x Average total assets 

Average total assets Average shareholder's equity 

ROA Leverage 

The two-way breakdown of ROE illustrates that ROE is a function of company's return on 
assets (ROA) and financial leverage ratio. A company can improve its ROE by improving 
ROA or by using leverage (debt) more extensively to finance its operations. As long as a 
company is able to borrow at a rate lower than the marginal rate it can earn by investing 
the borrowed money in its business, taking on more debt will result in an increase in ROE. 
However, if a company's borrowing costs exceed its marginal return, taking on more debt 
would depress ROA and ROE as well. Table 3-1 decomposes the ROE for Company A in 
Example 2 into two components: 

Table 3-1: Company A 2-Way DuPont Decomposition 

ROE ROA x Leverage 

2008 7.56% 4.70% 1.61 

2007 2.91% 2.05% 1.42 

2006 2.82% 2.05% 1.38 

2005 -0.54% -0.34% 1.61 

Analysis: Over the period, the company's financial leverage ratio was relatively stable. The 
increase in the company's ROE was primarily due to an increase in profitability (ROA). 

Three-Way DuPont Decomposition 

This decomposition expresses ROE as a product of three components. 

ROE Net income x Revenue x Average total assets 

Revenue Average total assets Average shareholders' equity 

Net profit margin Asset turnover Leverage 

This decomposition illustrates that a company's ROE is a function of its net profit margin, 
asset turnover ratio, and financial leverage ratio. 

Net profit margin is an indicator of profitability. It shows how much profit a 
company generates from each money unit of sales. 
Asset turnover is an indicator of efficiency. It tells us how much revenue a 
company generates from each money unit of assets. 
ROA is a function of its profitability (net profit [NP] margin) and efficiency (asset 
turnover [TO]). 
Financial leverage is an indicator of solvency. It reflects the total amount of a 
company's assets relative to its equity capital. 
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Some candidates 
get confused as to 
how a higher tax or 
interest "burden" 
ratio can improve 
the ROE. The key 
is not to focus on 
the English. The 
ratios are just called 
burden ratios, but 
a higher ratio does 
not mean that there 
is literally more 
ofataxorintcrest 
"burden" on the 
company. In fact, 
itistheopIXJsite. 
A higher tax and 
interest burden ratio 
is actually better for 
the company. Focus 
on the math behind 
the ratio, not the 
English behind its 

Table 3-2 breaks down the ROE for Company A from Example 2-1 into three components: 

Table 3-2: Company A Three-Way DuPont Decomposition 

ROE NP margin x Asset TO x Leverage 

2008 7.56% 3.95% 1.19 1.61 

2007 2.91% 2.47% 0.83 1.42 

2006 2.82% 2.49% 0.82 1.38 

2005 -0.54% -0.56% 0.60 1.61 

The increase in Company i'<s ROE is a result of better NP margins (improved profitability) 
and higher asset turnover (improved efficiency), which improved its ROA and its ROE. 

Five-Way DuPont Decomposition 

To separate the effects of taxes and interest, we can further decompose ROE into five 
components. 

Interest burden Asset turnover 

i 
ROE= Net income x EBT x EBIT x Revenue x Average total assets 

EBT EBIT Revenue Average total assets Avg. shareholders' equity 

Tax burden EB!Tmargin Leverage 

This decomposition shows that ROE is a function of the company's tax burden, interest 
burden, operating profitability, efficiency, and leverage. See Exhibit 3-1. 

The tax burden ratio equals one minus the average tax rate. It basically measures 
the proportion of its pretax profits that a company gets to keep. A higher tax 
burden ratio implies that the company can keep a higher percentage of its pretax 
profits. A decrease in the tax burden ratio implies the opposite. 
The interest burden ratio captures the effect of interest expense on ROE. High 
borrowing costs reduce ROE. As interest expense rises, EBT will fall as a 
percentage of EBIT, the interest burden ratio will fall , and ROE will also fall. 
The EBIT margin captures the effect of operating profitability on ROE. 
We already know that the asset turnover ratio is an indicator of the overall 
efficiency of the company, while the leverage ratio measures the total value of a 
company's assets relative to its equity capital. 
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Exhibit 3-1: Company A Five-Way DuPont Decomposition for 2008 

Return on Average Shareholders' Equity 
or ROE 

Return on 
Assets Leverage 

7.56% 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

The calculated value for ROE will be the same under every kind of decomposition. DuPont 
analysis is a way of decomposing ROE to see more clearly the underlying changes in the 
company's operations that drive changes in its ROE. 

In general, higher profit margins, asset turnover, and leverage will lead to higher ROE. 
However, the five-way decomposition shows that an increase in leverage will not always 
increase ROE. This is because as the company takes on more debt, its interest costs rise and 
the interest burden ratio falls. The reduction in interest burden ratio (as the difference between 
EBT and EBIT increases) offsets the effect of the increase in the financial leverage ratio. 

Example 3-1: Five-Way Decomposition of ROE 

Consider the following information: 

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 

ROE 9.47% 15.00% 24.31% 25.82% 24.07% 

Tax burden 64.85% 59.37% 63.24% 58.20% 62.58% 

Interest burden 92.58% 92.45% 92.74% 92.85% 92.61% 

EBITmargin 8.63% 10.41% 13.24% 15.69% 14.35% 

Asset turnover 0.85 1.21 1.47 1.44 1.58 

Leverage 2.15 2.17 2.13 2.19 2.18 
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Based on this information, comment on the negative trend in the company's ROE. 

Solution: 

The following conclusions may be drawn from the given information: 

The tax burden ratio has varied with no obvious trend over the years. The recent 
increase in tax burden ratio (from 59.37% in 2010 to 64.85% in 2011) indicates 
that taxes declined as a percentage of pre-tax profits. Average tax rates may have 
declined as a result of (1) new legislation or (2) greater revenue generated in 
lower tax jurisdictions. 
The interest burden ratio remained fairly constant over the period, which 
suggests that the company's capital structure has remained fairly constant. 
The EBIT margin declined over the period, indicating that the company's 
operations were less profitable. 
The company's asset turnover declined over the period, which suggests that the 
company is becoming increasingly inefficient. 
The financial leverage ratio remained fairly constant over the period, which is 
consistent with the stable interest burden ratio. 

Overall, the decline in the company's ROE is mainly caused by a decline in the EBIT 
margin (profitability) and asset turnover (efficiency). 

LOS 27e: Calculate and interpret ratios used in equity analysis and credit 
analysis. Vol 3, pp 366-378 

Equity Analysis 

Analysts use a variety of methods to value a company's equity. One of the most common 
method involves the use of valuation ratios. 

Valuation Ratios 

Price-to-Earnings Ratio 

PIE= Price per share 
Earnings per share 

The PIE ratio expresses the relationship between the price per share of common stock and 
the amount of earnings attributable to a single share. It basically tells us how much a share 
of common stock is currently worth per dollar of earnings of the company. 

Other commonly used valuation ratios include: 

Price to Cash Flow 

P/CF = Price per share 
Cash flow per share 
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Price to Sales 

PIS = Price per share 
Sales per share 

Price to Book Value 

P/BV = Price per share 
Book value per share 

Per Share Quantities that are Important in Equity Analysis 

Net income- Preferred dividends 
BasicEPS = -------------------­

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Basic EPS are the earnings of a company attributable to each share of common stock. The 
weighted average number of shares consists of the number of ordinary shares outstanding 
at the beginning of the period, adjusted for those bought back or issued during the period, 
weighted by the length of time that they were outstanding during the relevant period. 

Adjusted income available for ordinary shares 

Diluted EPS = __ re_ fl_ec_un_· ~g_c_o_n_v_ers_io_n_o_f_d_i_lu_ti_v_e_s_ec_un_·u_·e_s __ 

Weighted average number of ordinary and potential 
ordinary shares outstanding 

Diluted EPS includes the effects of all outstanding securities whose conversion or exercise 
will result in a reduction in EPS. Dilutive securities include convertible debt, convertible 
preference shares, warrants, and options. 

Cash flow per share = Cash flow from operations 
Average number of shares outstanding 

EBITDA per share = EBITDA 
Average number of shares outstanding 

Dividends per share = Common dividends declared 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Dividend Related Quantities 

Dividend payout ratio = Common share dividends 
Net income attributable to common shares 

The dividend payout ratio measures the percentage of earnings that a company pays out as 
dividends to shareholders. The per-share dividend paid by companies is typically fixed, so 
this ratio fluctuates as a percentage of earnings. Therefore, conclusions about a company's 
dividend payout policy should be based on examination of the payout ratio over a number 
of periods. 

Retention rate = _N_e_t _in_c_o_m_e_a_ttn_ ._b_u_ta_b_le_t_o_c_o_mm __ on_ sh_are_ s_-_ C_o_mm_ o_n_ sh_are __ d_iv_id_e_n_d_s 

Net income attributable to common shares 

This ratio measures the percentage of earnings that a company retains and reinvests in the 
business. 

Retention rate = (I - Dividend payout ratio) 

I Sustainable growth rate =Retention rate x ROE I 

A company's sustainable growth rate is a function of its profitability (ROE) and its ability 
to finance its operations from internally generated funds (measured by the retention rate). 
Higher ROE and higher retention rates result in a higher sustainable growth rates. 

Example 3-2: Calculating the Sustainable Growth Rate 

The following data is available for Sedag Inc. Calculate its sustainable growth rate 

EPS 

Dividends per share 

Return on equity 

Solution 

$3 

$1 

10% 

Dividend payout ratio= $11$3 = 0.33 
Retention Ratio = I - 0.33 = 0.67 
Sustainable growth rate (g) = 0.67 x 10% = 6. 7% 

See Table 3-3 for definitions of selected valuation ratios and related quantities. 
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Table 3-3: Definitions of Selected Valuation Ratios and Related Quantities5 

Numerator Denominator 

Valuation ratios 

PIE Price per share Earnings per share 
P/CF Price per share Cash flow per share 
P/S Price per share Sales per share 
P/BV Price per share Book value per share 

Pre-share quantities 

Basic EPS Net income minus Weighted average number 
preferred dividends of ordinary shares 

outstanding 

Diluted EPS Adjusted income available Weighted average number 
for ordinary shares, of ordinary and potential 
reflecting conversion of ordinary shares outstanding 
dilutive securities 

Cash flow per share Cash flow form operations Average number of shares 
outstanding 

EBITDA per share EBITDA Average number of shares 
outstanding 

Dividends per share Common dividends Weighted average number 
declared of ordinary shares 

outstanding 

Dividend-related quantities 

Dividend payout ratio Common share dividends Net income attributable to 
common shares 

Retention rate (b) Net income attributable to Net income attributable to 
common shares - common common shares 
share dividends 

Sustainable growth rate bx ROE 

Industry-Specific Ratios 

Aspects of performance that are deemed relevant in one industry may be irrelevant in 
another. Industry-specific ratios reflect these differences. 

For companies in the retail industry, changes in same store sales should be tracked. 
This is because it is important to distinguish between sales growth generated from 
opening new stores and sales growth resulting from higher sales at existing stores. 
Regulated industries are required to adhere to specific regulatory ratios. The 
banking sector has liquidity and cash reserve ratio requirements. Banking capital 
adequacy requirements relate banks ' solvency to their specific levels of risk 
exposure. 

Table 3-4 lists some industry-specific ratios. 

5 - Exhibit 18, Volume 3, CPA Program Curriculum 2017 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

Table 3-4: Definitions of Some Common Industry and Task-Specific Ratios6 

Ratios 

Business Risk 

Coefficient of variation of 
operating income 

Coefficient of variation of 
net income 

Coefficient of variation of 
revenues 

Financial Sector Ratios 

Capital adequacy- Banks 

Monetary reserve 
requirement 

Liquid asset requirement 

Net interest margin 

Retail Ratios 

Sarne store sales 

Sales per square foot 
(meter) 

Service Companies 

Revenue per employee 

Net income per employee 

Hotels 

Average daily rate 

Occupancy rate 

Numerator 

Standard deviation of 
operating income 

Standard deviation of 
net income 

Standard deviation of 
revenues 

Various components of 
capital 

Reserves held at central 
bank 

Approved "readily 
marketable securities" 

Net interest income 

Average revenue growth 
year on year for stores 
open in both periods 

Revenue 

Revenue 

Net income 

Room revenue 

Number of rooms sold 

6 - fuhibit 19, Volume 3, CFA Program Curriculum201 7 

Denominator 

Average operating income 

Average net income 

Average revenue 

Risk weighted assets, 
market risk exposure, and 
level of operational risk 
assumed 

Specified deposit liabilities 

Specified deposit liabilities 

Total interest-earning assets 

Not applicable 

Total retail space in feet or 
meters 

Total number of employees 

Total number of employees 

Number of rooms sold 

Number of rooms available 
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Credit Analysis 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that is caused by a debtor's failure to make a promised 
payment. Credit analysis is the evaluation of credit risk. 

The Credit-Rating Process 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS TECHNIQUES 

The credit-rating process involves the analysis of a company's financial reports and a broad 
assessment of a company's operations. It includes the following procedures:7 

Meetings with management. 
Tours of major facilities, if time permits. 
Meetings of ratings committees where the analyst 's recommendations are voted on, 
after considering factors that include: 

o Business Risk, including the evaluation of: 
Operating environment. 
Industry characteristics. 
Success areas and areas of vulnerability. 
Company's competitive position, including size and diversification. 

o Financial risk, including: 
The evaluation of capital structure, interest coverage, and profitabil­
ity using ratio analysis. 
The examination of debt covenants. 

o Evaluation of management 
Monitoring of publicly distributed ratings, including reconsideration of ratings due 
to changing conditions. 

In assigning credit ratings, rating agencies emphasize the importance of the relationship 
between a company's business risk profile and its financial risk. 

7 -Based on Standard & Poor's Corporate Ratings Criteria (2006). 
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Studies have shown 
that ratios like the 
ROA, long-tenn 
DIA, interest 
coverage, and cash 
now to debt are very 
useful in evaluating 
credit risk, bond 
yields, and bond 
ratings. 

LOS 27f: 
Explain the 
requirements 
for segment 
reporting 
and calculate 
and interpret 
segment 
ratios. Vol 3, 
pp 376-379 

Table 3-5: Selected Credit Ratios Used by Standard & Poor's8 

Credit Ratio 

EBIT interest coverage 

EBITDA interest coverage 

Funds from operations to 
total debt 

Free operating cash flow to 
total debt 

Return on capital 

Total debt to total debt plus 
equity 

Numerator" 

EBIT 

EBITDA 

Denominatorh 

Gross Interest (prior to deductions 
for capitalized interest or interest 
income) 

Gross Interest (prior to deductions 
for capitalized interest or interest 
income) 

FFO (net income Total debt 
adjusted for noncash 
items)' 

CFO (adjusted) less Total debt 
capital expendituresd 

EBIT Capital =Average equity 
(common and preferred equity) 
and short-term portions of 
debt, noncurrent deferred taxes, 
minority interest 

Total debt Total debt plus equity 

aNumerator: Emphasis is on earnings from continuing operations. 
bDenominator: Both numerator and denominator definitions are adjusted from ratio to ratio and may not 
correspond to the definitions used in this reading. 
cFFO: Funds from operations. 
dCFO: Cash flow from operations. 

Source: Based on data from Standard and Poor's Corporate Ratings Criteria 2006. 

Segment Analysis 

Analysts often need to analyze the performance of underlying business segments to 
understand the company as a whole. These segments may include subsidiary companies, 
operating units, or simply operations in different geographical areas. 

A business segment is a separately identifiable component of a company that is engaged in 
providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or services. It is 
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments of the 
company. 

A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of a company that is engaged in 
providing an individual product or service within a particular region. 

8 - Exhibit 20, Volume 3, CPA Program Curriculum 2017 
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Table 3-6: Segment Ratios• 

Segment Ratios Numerator Denominator Measures 

Segment margin Segment profit (loss) Segment revenue Operating profitability 
relative to sales. 

Segment turnover Segment revenue Segment assets Overall efficiency- how 
much revenue is 
generated per dollar of 
assets. 

Segment ROA Segment profit (loss) Segment assets 

Segment debt ratio Segment liabilities Segment assets 

Example 3-3: Evaluation of Segment Ratios 

Operating profitability 
relative to assets. 

Solvency of the segment. 

Tiara Corp. divides its operations in three geographical segments. Selected financial information is provided 
in the following table: 

2011 2010 
(in$'000) Operating Operating 

Revenue Income Assets Revenue Income Assets 

Australia 272,310 39,485 231,464 210,258 29,436 189,232 

Asia Pacific 668,484 60,164 534,787 581,290 61,035 494,097 

Europe 144,085 25,215 100,860 115,268 18,443 86,451 

Total 1,084,879 124,863 867,110 906,816 108,914 769,780 

Comment on the relative performance of the three segments. 

Solution: 

To compare the relative significance and performance of the three segments, we compute segment margin, 
segment ROA, and segment turnover in the table below: 

2011 2010 

(in$'000) 
Segment Segment 
Revenue Revenue 

as Percent Segment Segment Segment as Percent Segment Segment Segment 
of Total Margin ROA Turnover of Total Margin ROA Turnover 

Australia 25.10% 14.50% 17.06% 1.2 23.19% 14.00% 15.56% I.I 

Asia-Pacific 61.62% 9.00% 11.25% 1.3 64.10% 10.50% 12.35% 1.2 

Europe 13.28% 17.50% 25.00% 1.4 12.71% 16.00% 21.33% 1.3 

9 - Exhibit 21, Volume 3, CPA Program Curriculum 201 7 
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The following conclusions can be drawn from the table: 

Asia-Pacific is the company's largest segment, as highlighted by its share of total 
revenue (61.62%). However, the segment has the lowest profit margin (9%). 
Further, the relative size of the segment has decreased over the year (share of 
revenues down from 64.10% to 61.62%). 
Europe has the highest profit margin (17.5%) and is the most efficient segment 
as well (it has the highest ROA and asset turnover). 
Australia's profit margin is also relatively high. 
Europe and Australia have improved in terms of both profitability and efficiency. 
It bodes well for the company that the relative size of these two segments is 
increasing (in terms of the share of total revenue). 

LOS 27g: Describe how ratio analysis and other techniques can be used to 
model and forecast earnings. Vol 3, pp 379-380 

In forecasting future earnings of companies, analysts use data about the economy, industry, 
and company itself. The results of financial analysis, which includes common-size and 
ratio analysis, are integral to this process. 

Analysts also develop models and pro forma financial statements to forecast future 
performance. They are constructed using past trends and relationships and also account for 
expected future events and changes. Pro forma income statements are usual! y prepared by 
using the historical relationship between a company's income statement items and sales to 
project the nature of the relationship going forward. Items that are not sales-driven can be 
assumed fixed, or assumed to vary with a balance sheet item (e.g., interest expense varies 
with the amount of long-term liabilities). Some balance sheet items also vary with sales, 
especially working capital accounts. As the company's scale of operations increases, the 
firm has to increase its investment in working capital to ensure the smooth running of day­
to-day operations. Further, investments in long-lived assets will also be required to expand 
the scale of the business. 

Some other techniques that are used in making forecasts are: 

Sensitivity Analysis, which shows the range of possible outcomes as underlying 
assumptions are altered. 

Scenario Analysis, which shows the changes in key financial quantities that result from 
given events such as a loss of supply of raw materials or a reduction in demand for the 
firm 's products. 

Simulations are computer-generated sensitivity or scenario analyses based on probability 
models for the factors that drive outcomes. 
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READING 28: INvENTORIES 

LESSON 1: COST OF INVENTORIES AND INVENTORY VALUATION METHODS 

LOS 28a: Distinguish between costs included in inventories and costs recognized 
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Vol 3, pp 397-398 

Cost of Inventories 

IFRS and U.S. GAAP suggest a similar treatment of various expenses in the determination 
of inventory cost. The following items are capitalized inventory costs, which are included 
in the cost or carrying value of inventories on the balance sheet. 

Costs of purchase, which include the purchase price, import duties, taxes, 
insurance, and other costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of finished 
goods, trade discounts, and other rebates that reduce costs of purchase. 
Costs of conversion, which include direct labor and other (fixed and variable) 
direct overheads. 

Capitalization of these costs results in a buildup of asset balances and delays recognition of 
these costs (in COGS) until inventory is sold. 

The following items are not capitalized as inventory costs; they are expensed on the 
income statement as incurred under IFRS and U.S. GAAP. 

Abnormal costs from material wastage. 
Abnormal costs of labor or wastage of other production inputs. 
Storage costs that are not a part of the normal production process. 
Administrative expenses. 
Selling and marketing costs. 

Capitalization of costs that should be expensed results in overstatement of net income for 
the year (due to the deferral of recognition of costs) and an overstatement of inventory 
value on the balance sheet. See Example 1-1. 

Example 1-1: Determination oflnventory Costs 

ABC Company manufactures a single product. Various costs incurred during the year 
2009 are listed here: 

Cost of raw materials 
Direct labor conversion costs 
Production overheads 
Freight charges for raw materials 
Storage costs for finished goods 
Abnormal wastage 
Freight charges for finished goods 

$12,000,000 
$25,000,000 

$5,000,000 
$2,000,000 

$800,000 
$80,000 

$100,000 

Given that there is no work· in-progress inventory at the end of the year: 

1. What costs should be included in inventory for 2009? 
2. What costs should be expensed during 2009? 
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INVENTORIES 

Please note that 
LOS 28d is also 
covered in the 
last lesson of this 
reading. 

"CostofsaJes" 
(IFRS) is also 
referredtoas"cost 
of goods sold" (U.S. 
GAAP). 

"Cost formulas" 
(IFRS)arealso 
referredtoas"cost 
now assumptions" 
(U.S.GAAP). 

Solution 

1. Capitalized inventory costs include raw material costs, labor conversion costs, 
production overheads, and freight charges on raw materials. 

Cost of raw materials 
Direct labor conversion costs 
Production overheads 
Freight-in charges 
Total capitalized costs 

$12,000,000 
$25,000,000 

$5,000,000 
$2,000,000 

$44,000,000 

2. Costs that should be expensed on the income statement (and not included in the 
value of inventory on the balance sheet) include storage costs of finished goods, 
abnormal wastage, and freight on finished goods. 

Storage costs of finished goods 
Abnormal wastage 
Freight on finished goods 
Total expensed costs 

$800,000 
$80,000 

$100,000 
$980,000 

LOS 28b: Describe different inventory valuation methods (cost formulas). 
Vol 3, pp 398--400 

LOS 28c: Calculate cost of sales and ending inventory using different 
inventory valuation methods and explain the effect of the inventory 
valuation method choice on gross profit. Vol 3, pp 400-402 

LOS 28d: Calculate and explain how inflation and deflation of inventory 
costs affect the financial statements and ratios of companies that use 
different inventory valuation methods. Vol 3, pp 404-406 

Inventory Valuation Methods 

Let's work with an example of a trading company that purchases and retails coffee tables. 
At any point in time, the number of tables that the company has available for sale equals 
the total number of tables that it had in its inventory at the beginning of the period plus the 
number of tables it has purchased since then. In order to prepare its financial statements 
for the period, the company must allocate the cost of all units available for sale between 
ending inventory (El) and cost of goods sold (COGS). 

Opening inventory+ Purchases = Cost of goods sold+ Ending inventory ... (Equation I) 

Inventory Valuation Methods (Cost Formulas) 

Separate Identification 
COGS reflects actual costs incurred to purchase or manufacture the specific units 
that have been sold over the period. 
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